

NEWSLETTER

No. 88, June 2015

General information about the European

Photochemistry Association

is available at:

www.photochemistry.eu

Newsletter Editor: Prof. Maurizio D'Auria

Dipartimento di Scienze Università della Basilicata 85100 Potenza, ITALY © 2015 Dipartimento di Scienze, Università della Basilcata

ISSN 1011-4246

Printed in the United Kingdom by Media Services, Loughborough University, Leicestershire LE11 3TU

CONTENTS

EPA	EXECUTIVE	COMMITTEE 7	7
-----	-----------	-------------	---

EDITORIAL
PUBLICATIONS
Broadband Visible Light-Harvesting Triplet Photosensitizers 13
Azobenzene: Teaching an old dog some new tricks
Solar light: the bridge between photocatalysis and biomass valorization
The presence of photochemistry in the literature. A personal selection between the articles published in 2015 56
The Eradicate Insect-borne Diseases with Sunlight Initiative at James Cook University in Australia
Light as a Reagent for Asymmetric Synthesis, Catalysis and Degradation of Polymers
PORTER MEDAL
EPA PRIZE 121

EPA Newsletter	
----------------	--

EPA Prize for Best PhD Thesis in Photochemistry - Call for
Nominations121

5

SPECIAL REPORTS ON PROMOTING PHOTOCHEMISTRY.....

HOTOCHEMISTRY	122
Introduction	122
Tracing phtochemistru with simple experiments and not-so-sir	nple
spectroscopy	
Catching the light	128
Here comes the sun	131
Light up their lives	136
Exploring liquid crystals with kids	140
Chemistry and light - An imperative for teaching at all levels	146

PILLS OF HISTORY	150
At the origin of photochemistry. The dimerization of cinnamic	acid
derivatives	.150

EPA IS ON FACEBOOK1	5	5	7	/
---------------------	---	---	---	---

BOOKS	. 159
Photochemistry and Photophysics - Concepts, Research,	
Applications	159

ANNO	DUNCEMEI	NTS			. 161
21 st	International	Symposiumon	the	Photochemistry	and
Phote	ophysics of Coor	rdination Compou	d		161
Gord	lon Research Ser	ninar			163
Cour	ntdown to the X	VI Congress of th	e Euro	opean Society	
of Pl	notobiology	~			164

TECHNICAL NOTES	
The future of photochemistry	

6

EPA Newsletter

June 2015

PHOTOCHEMICAL AND PHOTOBIOLOGICAL

SCIENCES	169
CONFERENCE REPORTS	
Italian Photochemistry Meeting 2014	

MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION FORM175

June 2015

EPA EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

7



President

Dr. David Worral Photochemistry Research Group Department of Chemistry Loughborough University Leicestershire LE11 3TU, UK Tel: +44(0)1509 222567 d.r.worrall@lboro.ac.uk



Newsletter Editor

Prof. Maurizio D'Auria Dipartimento di Scienze Università della Basilicata Viale dell'Ateneo Lucano 10 85100 Potenza Italy maurizio.dauria@unibas.it



Treasurer

Dr. Alexandre Fürstenberg Department of Human Protein Sciences University of Geneva 1211 Genève 4, Switzerland Tel: +41 22 379 54 73 Fax: +41 22 379 55 02 Alexandre.Fuerstenberg@unige.ch



Public Relations

Prof. Dr. Olga Fedorova A.N.Nesmeyanov Institute of Organoelement Compounds Russian Academy of Sciences 28 Vavilova St., Moscow RUSSIA 119991 Tel: +7 499 135 8098 fedorova@ineos.ac.ru



Past President and PPS matters

Prof. Dr. Werner Nau School of Engineering and Science of Chemistry, Jacobs University Campus Ring 1 D-28759 Bremen Germany w.nau@jacobs-university.de



Newsletter Associate Editor

Prof. Julia Pérez-Prieto Molecular Science Institute (ICMOL) Valencia University C/ Catedrático José Beltrán, 2 46980-Paterna, Valencia, Spain Tel: +34-96-3543050 julia.perez@uv.es

June 2015



Website manager

9

Dr. John Gilchrist Gilden Photonics Ltd. Unit 13 Telford Court, 9 South Avenue Clydebank Business Park Glasgow, G81 2NR, UK Tel: +44(0)141.952.9475 john.gilchrist@gildenphotonics. com



New Information Technologies

Prof. Dr. Roberto Improta Institute for Biostructures and Bioimaging Naples robimp@unina.it

10

June 2015



INTERNATIONAL YEAR OF LIGHT 2015

June 2015

<u>EDITOR</u>IAL

President's Letter

Dear Colleagues,

Last time I wrote my President's letter, I commented on the weather; we tend to talk a lot about the weather in the UK as we have so much of it! As I write summer is arriving, bringing with it the annual exodus of undergraduates so our campus will be going quiet fairly soon.

11

I went out for lunch with the family recently to a restaurant owned by a good friend of ours (stick with me, this is going somewhere!), and we were discussing his recent refurbishment. He had installed LED lighting to reduce energy consumption, but found the light too "cold"; he therefore had bought some translucent paint and had painstakingly painted each bulb to give a warmer hue. Light and the perception of food seemed an appropriate theme given this is the UNESCO Year of Light. I then got to thinking about the photostability of his paint, and started wondering when he would need to again get out his stepladder and paintbrush – photochemistry all around us.

At the recent Photochemical and Photobiological Sciences ownership board meeting we met the new Executive Editor, Andrew Shore. The journal seems to be doing well, with an impact factor which stands up well relative to other journals in the sector. Many thanks to all colleagues who are supporting the journal though their submission of high quality manuscripts.

The EPA website will be undergoing a redesign in the coming months, which should enhance the user experience. As always, feedback and input from the membership is encouraged and welcomed. The Year of Light webpage should also be posted shortly; if members have any news to be added please contact the Webmaster.

This coming year, the EPA will be administering or assisting in the selection of three awards in the area of photochemistry. These are the *EPA-PPS Prize* for the most highly cited paper published in PPS during the previous two calendar years, the *EPA Prize for Best PhD Thesis in*

12

June 2015

Photochemistry published during the previous two calendar years, and the *Porter Medal*, in cooperation with our Inter-American and Asian/Oceanian photochemistry association counterparts, I-APS and APA. Calls for the nominations for the latter two prizes appear later in the newsletter; please think about this and give your nominations to the Committee. Finally, a reminder about our Facebook page; please "like" us to keep up-to-date with conferences, job opportunities and general news.

Dr. David Worrall Loughborough University

June 2015

PUBLICATIONS

Broadband Visible Light-Harvesting Triplet Photosensitizers

Jianzhang Zhao

State Key Laboratory of Fine Chemicals, School of Chemical Engineering, Dalian University of Technology, Office E-208 West Campus, 2 Ling Gong Rd., Dalian 116024, China. E-mail: zhaojzh@dlut.edu.cn

Triplet photosensitizers are versatile compounds and have been widely used in photocatalysis,¹ photovoltaics, photodynamic therapy,² and more recently the triplet-triplet-annihilation upconversion.³ However, the conventional triplet photosensitizers are based on the single chromophore profile, i.e. there is only one light-harvesting chromophore in the photosensitizer molecule.⁴ As a result, usually there is only one major absorption band in the visible light spectral range. This feature is a clear disadvantage if a broadband light source was used, such as solar light. Therefore, it is highly desired to develop new triplet photosensitizers which show broadband visible light-harvesting ability.

In order to address the above challenge, we devised multichromophore triplet photosensitizers based on the Förest-resonanceenergy-transfer (FRET) and spin converter.⁴ FRET was widely used in singlet excited related research, such as light-harvesting molecular arrays and fluorescent molecular probes.⁵ With FRET, broadband visible light and funnelling of the singlet excited state energy to the energy acceptor can be achieved. However, FRET was rarely used for preparation of broadband visible light-harvesting triplet photosensitizers.⁴

The designing rationales of FRET-based broadband visible lightabsorbing triplet photosensitizers are like this.⁴ Two different visible light-absorbing chromophores, which give different absorption wavelength, are connected together by covalent bond (or supramolecular

13

14

June 2015

interaction, such as hydrogen bonding), the chromophores should selected in such a way that FRET is ensured. Moreover, the singlet energy acceptor should be a spin converter, i.e., a chromophore with intersystem crossing (ISC) ability for triplet state formation. Thus, such as molecular assembly (or dyad) will show broadband visible light-absorption and the photoexcitation energy will be converted to the triplet excited state energy. It should be pointed out that with these multi-chromophore molecular assemblies, a few photophysical processes probably exist at the same time, such as FRET, photo-induced electron transfer (PET, or charge separation, CS), or charge recombination (CR), etc. Moreover, photophysical process which is not found in the singlet excite staterelated FRET molecular assemblies may be encountered, such as the ping-pong energy transfer and triplet state equilibrium (see later section), etc.⁴



Figure 1. Bodipy-diiodoBodipy dyads showing broadband visible lightabsorption. The iodine atoms are highlighted.⁶

Firstly we designed Bodipy-iodoBodipy dyads 1-3 (Figure 1).⁶ Bodipy was selected as the visible light-harvesting chromophore due to its strong

15

June 2015

absorption of visible light and inhibited non-radiative decay channel. IodoBodipy gives slightly red-shifted absorption and fluorescence as compared with that of Bodipy, thus FRET process is envisioned for the dyads. Moreover, the iodoBodipy unit in the dyad **1-3** can be considered as the singlet energy acceptor, as well as the spin converter. Thus the singlet excitation energy was funnelled to the iodoBodipy unit and triplet excited state was formed due to the heavy atom effect of the iodine atoms in the spin converter unit.

The FRET was confirmed by the quenching of the fluorescence of the energy donor part. We also confirmed that the PET is not significant, by calculation of the Gibbs free energy changes of the electron transfer process. Using nanosecond transient absorption spectroscopy, we found that the triplet excited state of the dyads is not confined on one of the components, rather it is delocalized on the two units of the dyads.⁶



Figure 2. Broadband visible light-absorbing RhodaminediiodoStyrylBodipy triplet photosensitizers **4** and **5**. The iodine atoms are highlighted.⁷

In order to further expand the absorption bands of the dyad triplet photosensitizers, we also used rhodamine and diiodoStyrylBodipy to construct triplet photosensitizers **4** and **5**, in which the rhodamine antenna absorbs at ca. 560 nm, whereas the diiodoStyrylBodipy part

16

June 2015

absorbs at 640 nm.⁷ Thus broadband visible light-absorption was attained. We used the triplet photosensitizers **4** and **5** for photoredox catalytic organic reactions (oxidation/[3+2] cycloaddition/aromatization tandem reaction with tetrahydroisoquinoline derivatives to construct pyrrol[2,1-*d*]isoquinolines) and we found that these broadband visible light-absorbing triplet photosensitizers are more efficient that the monochromophore based triplet photosensitizers.

The rhodamine moieties in compounds 4 and 5 are slightly special as compared with the normal rhodamine in that no spirolactam opened amide from exist, which may complicate the photophysical studies of the dyads 4 and 5. The reason is due to the judiciously selected building blocks so that no carboxyl moiety is introduced to the rhodamine part. The photophysical properties of the dyads were studied with steady state and time-resolved spectroscopy. FRET was confirmed with femtosecond transient absorption spectroscopy. Nanosecond transient absorption spectroscopy indicated that the triplet state is exclusively confined on the styrylBodipy part, there is no triplet state equilibrium, which is different from that of dyads 1-3.7



Figure 3. Broadband visible light-absorbing RhodaminediiodoStyrylBodipy triplet photosensitizers **6** and **7**. The iodine atoms are highlighted.⁸

17

June 2015

Following similar strategy, we prepared Bodipy-diiodoazaBodipy triads **6** and **7**, which show broadband visible light absorption in the range of 500 - 700 nm.⁸ The triplet state of the triads is localized on the diiodoazaBodipy part.

For the dyads 1 - 7, the spin converter is based on heavy atom-attached chromophore (singlet energy acceptor). We also show that C_{60} can be used in heavy atom-free broadband visible light-absorbing triplet photosensitizers. Thus we prepared Bodipy- C_{60} conjugations 8 - 11 (Figure 4).⁹



Figure 4. Broadband visible light-absorbing C_{60} -Bodipy conjugates as triplet photosensitizers **8** – **11**. The C_{60} moiety is the singlet energy acceptor and the spin converter.⁹

18

June 2015

In conjugations 8 - 11, there are two or three different Bodipy chromophore in each compound, thus broadband visible light-absorption was resulted. C_{60} is the singlet energy acceptor part, the photoexcitation energy was funneled to the C_{60} part. The efficient ISC of C_{60} part produce the triplet excited state of the conjugates. Interestingly, we found that the T_1 excited state of the conjugations is either localized on the C_{60} part, or the Bodipy antenna. It is dependent on the triplet state energy levels of the antenna. For conjugate 9, the T_1 state is localized on the C_{60} part. For conjugates 8-11, however, the triplet excited state is localized on the styrylBodipy part. This conclusion is dependent on the nanosecond transient absorption spectroscopy. We used these broadband visible lightabsorbing C_{60} -Bodipy conjugates as triplet photosensitizer for photoredox catalytic organic reaction of aerobic oxidative hydroxylation of aryl boronic acid, and the photocatalytic efficiency is much higher than the conventional photocatalysts such as Ru(bpy)₃Cl₂ or the Ir(ppy)₃.

In summary, broadband visible light-absorbing triplet photosensitizers are promising to be used in various areas such as photodynamic therapy (PDT), photocatalysis (such as H_2 production or photoredox catalytic organic reactions), and triplet-triplet annihilation upconversion.

References.

- (a) Shi, L.; Xia, W. Chem. Soc. Rev. 41, 7687–7697 (2012). (b) Hari, P. D.; Kçnig, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 52, 4734 – 4743 (2013).
- (a) Kamkaew, A.; Lim, S. H.; Lee, H. B.; Kiew, L. V.; Chung, L. Y.; Burgess, K. Chem. Soc. Rev. 42, 77–78 (2013). (b) Stacey, O. J.; Pope, S. J. A. RSC Adv. 3, 25550–25564 (2013). (c) Majumdar, P.; Nomula, R. Zhao, J. J. Mater. Chem. C 2, 5982–5997 (2014).
- (a) Singh-Rachford, T. N.; Castellano, F. N.; Coord. Chem. Rev. 254;
 2560–2573 (2010); (b) Zhao, J.; Ji, S.; Guo, H.; RSC Adv. 1; 937–950 (2011). (c) Zhou, J.; Liu, Q.; Feng, W.; Sun, Y.; Li, F. Chem. Rev. 115; 395–465 (2015);
- Zhao, J.; Wu, W.; Sun, J.; Guo, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 42; 5323–5351 (2013).

June 2015

 (a) Bozdemir, O. A.; Erbas-Cakmak, S.; Ekiz, O. O.; Dana, A.; Akkaya. E. U. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **50**, 10907–10912 (2011); (b) Fan, J.; Hu, M.; Zhan, P.; Peng, X. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **42**, 29–43 (2013).

19

- Zhang, C.; Zhao, J.; Wu, S.; Wang, Z.; Wu, W.; Ma, J.; Guo, S.; Huang, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135, 10566–10578 (2013).
- Ma, J.; Yuan, X.; Kucukoz, B.; Li, S.; Zhang, C.; Majumdar, P.; Karatay, A.; Li, X.; Yaglioglu, H. G.; Elmali, A.; Zhao, J.; Hayvali, M. *J. Mater. Chem. C* 2, 3900–3913 (2014).
- 8. Guo, S.; Ma, L.; Zhao, J.; Kucukoz, B.; Karatay, A.; Hayvali, M.; Yaglioglu, H. G.; Elmali, A. *Chem. Sci.* **5**, 489–500 (2014).
- 9. Huang, L.; Cui, X.; Therrien, B.; Zhao, J. Chem. Eur. J. 19, 17472– 17482 (2013).

20

June 2015

Azobenzene: Teaching an old dog some new tricks

David Bléger and Stefan Hecht

Department of Chemistry, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Brook-Taylor-Str. 2, 12489 Berlin, Germany Email: david.bleger@chemie.hu-berlin.de, sh@chemie.huberlin.de

Introduction

The past decades have witnessed an increasing research effort in the development of light-responsive molecular systems and materials based on photochromic compounds such as spiropyrans, diarylethenes, and azobenzenes (ABs). Although the later have been known to undergo *E-Z* isomerization upon UV and visible light irradiation for almost 80 years,¹ and several thousands of scientific papers have already been published on this topic, the azobenzene molecule is still good for a few surprises and can be taught some new "tricks", given proper molecular design and creative integration into larger functional systems. In this letter, we will present some of our latest efforts in both of these directions, in particular with the inherent optimization of the photoswitch by *ortho*-fluorination (first section), the synthesis of covalent multiazobenzene architectures undergoing drastic geometrical modification (second section), and the creation of switching self-assembled lattices at surfaces (third section).

Optimization of azobenzenes by *ortho*-fluorination: All-visible light switches with very long-lived Z isomers and high photoconversions

In order to extend the scope of possible applications, it is critical that chemists optimize the intrinsic properties of their favorite photoactive compounds. The typical performance criteria of photochromic

21

June 2015

compounds are photoconversions, quantum yields of isomerization, thermal half-life of the thermodynamically less stable isomer, fatigue resistance, and last but not least, the possibility to isomerize in both directions without UV light,² which is often damaging and penetrates only partially through most media.



Figure 1. Comparison of electronic transitions in unsubstituted azobenzene (left) and *ortho*-tetrafluoroazobenzene (right). A) UV-vis absorption spectra in acetonitrile at 25 °C and B) energetic diagram of the π , n, and π^* orbitals, and representation of the n orbitals (HOMOs) calculated at the B3LYP/6-31G level of theory (arrows highlight $n \rightarrow \pi^*$ transitions).

22

June 2015

Azobenzene is clearly a superior photoswitch in term of fatigue resistance, however, all the other criteria are typically not optimal. For example, although the $E \rightarrow Z$ photoconversion is typically high to very high (90-95%), the reverse $Z \rightarrow E$ photoconversion is often limited to 80-85%; the quantum yields are commonly not higher than 50%; the Z isomer persists only for a few hours to days in solution; and finally, UV light is typically essential to trigger the $E \rightarrow Z$ isomerization.

In order to tackle the visible light activation issue, and following pioneering work by Herges³ and Woolley,⁴ we decided to explore the possibility to separate the *E* and *Z* isomers' $n \rightarrow \pi^*$ absorption bands, which typically overlap in ABs (see Figure 1A). We anticipated that introducing electron withdrawing groups (EWG) *ortho* to the N=N would decrease the electronic repulsion occurring between the N lone pairs in the *Z* form, therefore stabilizing its n-orbital and eventually increasing the n- π^* gap of the *Z* isomer (compared to the n- π^* gap of the *E* isomer). Encouraged by DFT calculations (see Figure 1B), we opted for F atoms, which, in addition to being σ -withdrawing and π -donating at the same time, are rather small and therefore do not significantly twist the typically planar *E* isomer.^{5,6}

As expected, the *E* and *Z* isomers' $n \rightarrow \pi^*$ absorption bands of *ortho*tetrafluoroazobenzene significantly split with a 40 nm separation of the absorption maxima (see Figure 1A). This feature allows for triggering *E*-*Z* isomerizations with visible light only (green for $E \rightarrow Z$ and blue for $Z \rightarrow E$). Further EWGs (such as ester groups) introduced *para* to the N=N work in concert with the *ortho*-F and lead to a superior photoswitchable compound, which exhibits a 50 nm separation of the $n \rightarrow \pi^*$ bands. Such a high separation makes possible to address both isomers selectively and as a consequence very high photoconversions (up to 97%) can be reached in both directions. On the contrary, electron donating groups (EDGs) such as N-acyls introduced in *para*-positions counterbalance the effects of the *ortho*-fluorine atoms by pushing electron density into the N=N bond. The separation of the $n \rightarrow \pi^*$ bands is

23

June 2015

reduced to 22 nm and eventually the two isomers cannot be selectively excited in the visible range, leading to only 69% $Z \rightarrow E$ photoconversion (when irradiated at 440 nm).

A very attractive, though totally unexpected additional feature of F-ABs is the very high thermal stability of the Z isomers: a half-life $(\tau_{1/2})$ of 2 years (!) measured at room temperature in DMSO *vs.* a few days for unsubstituted ABs. This effect can be partly attributed to the pronounced stabilization of the n-orbital of the Z isomer (while the n-orbital of the transition state is less stabilized), which eventually leads to a larger barrier for the thermal $Z \rightarrow E$ reaction and place ortho F-ABs among the most stable azobenzenes ever reported.

Noteworthy, in addition to offering visible-light addressability, isomerizing ABs *via* $n \rightarrow \pi^*$ transitions is also quite efficient (quantum yields of typically $\Phi = 0.3$ -0.5 *via* $n \rightarrow \pi^*$ *vs.* $\Phi = 0.1$ -0.2 *via* $\pi \rightarrow \pi^*$ transitions).

In summary, *ortho*-fluoroazobenzenes constitute a new class of photoswitches with outstanding properties. The high level of bistability combined with the possibility to isomerize without UV-light opens many possibilities in life-sciences, for example in the growing field of photo-pharmacology,⁷ whose aim is to activate/deactivate drugs with (ideally NIR) light, but also in materials science, where many photo-responsive systems would benefit from sun-light harvesting or activation.

Covalent multiazobenzene architectures: Maximizing the photodeformation of individual molecules

Integrating azobenzene photoswicthes into the backbone of oligomers and polymers with well-defined shapes offers some interesting possibilities, in particular for amplifying mechanical motion of single macromolecules and creating cooperative systems, where only a few switching event triggers dramatic changes in a particular self-assembly.

EPA Newsletter

24

June 2015

Our efforts in that direction focused on the integration of ABs into rigidrod polymers and monodipserse foldamers (see Figure 2).



Figure 2. Large photodeformation of anisotropic macromolecules. A) Poly(*para*-phenylene)s rigid rods' light-induced shrinking, accompanied with a decrease in their hydrodynamic volume of $\Delta V_h = 72\%$. B) Oligo(*meta*-phenylene ethynylene) chiral foldamers' light-induced extension, accompanied with the vanishing of circular dichroism signals.

Rigid rods such as poly(paraphenylene) derivative *E*-**P1** are anisotropic objects displaying high aspect ratio. Therefore, upon *E/Z* isomerization the rods significantly shrink and stretch in response to UV and visible light, respectively.⁸ The structural modification is accompanied with a marked decrease in their hydrodynamic volume ($\Delta V_h = 72\%$), as measured by light scattering, which list among the highest level of contraction reported for AB-based polymeric architecture. Large twist angles (Φ) were introduced into the rigid scaffold in order to electronically decouple the chromophores, an approach allowing for quantitative photoswitching in linear multi-azobenzene architectures.⁹



Figure 3. Photoinduced motion of single macromolecules at surfaces. A) Molecular structure of polymer P2 and B) Surface force microscopy snapshots showing UV-induced contractions, blue light-induced expansions, and UV-induced contraction accompanied by crawling of single polymer chains (scale bars 20 nm).

Such articulated macromolecules could be isolated on templated surfaces and their photomovement observed at the single molecule level^{10,11} (see Figure 3). The dramatic contraction/expansion indirectly measured in solution by light scattering could be directly visualized by scanning force microscopy. In addition, more complex motion such as crawling events accompanying light-induced isomerization at the surface could also be identified. Taking these structures to the next hierarchical level, *i.e.* supramolecular assemblies, is currently underway.

On the other hand, synthetic molecular helices or *foldamers* such as oligo(*meta*-phenylene ethynylene) **F1** experience an efficient helix to coil transition as a result of the $E \rightarrow Z$ isomerization of the embedded azobenzenes.¹²⁻¹⁵ After optimizing the number¹² and location¹⁴ of

26

June 2015

azobenzene photochromes per turn as well as the length of the oligomers,^{12,14} quantitative unfolding could be achieved, as observed by vanishing circular dichroism signals. Remarkably, the light-induced denaturation of the helices overcomes both intramolecular stacking interactions and solvophobic effects. In analogy to the macroscopic world, these multiazobenzene foldamers can be viewed as compressed molecular springs releasing potential energy upon unloading.

Insight into the mechanism of the foldamers' denaturation was gained by incorporating only two azobenzene switching units within the foldamer backbone. By comparing the quantum yields of successive switching events a *cooperative* process could be uncovered in case when the azobenzene units are located near the core of the foldamer since the first switching event facilitates the subsequent one by intermediate unfolding resulting in a lowering of the isomerization barier.¹³ In another foldamer series energy transfer from donor to acceptor azobenzene units was used to localize the excitation energy either at the core or at the periphery of the foldamer thereby initiating unfolding either from the inside-out or vice versa.¹⁵ Such optimized photoswitchable foldamers could be used to design efficient photoswitchable dual catalysts,¹⁶ where two units should be in close contact to be active, while light-induced denaturation would deactivate the catalyst.

Switching self-assembled lattices at surfaces

Interfacing molecular switches with conducting and semiconducting surfaces while preserving their photoactivity is an important challenge for the construction of light-responsive hybrid systems. Our approach relies on *physisorbed* self-assembled monolayers, with azobenzenes either oriented up-right (see Figure 4) or in a flat fashion (see Figure 5). Due to the large geometrical difference between the structures of the E and Z isomers, a necessary prerequisite for photoisomerization to occur in azobenzene-containing molecular layers is to provide sufficient free volume to the system. Decoupling the photochromic unit electronically from the conducting surface by avoiding a direct contact is also crucial to preserve the photoisomerization ability.

June 2015

In our up-right oriented approach¹⁷ (see compound **3**) we used a terfluorene platform, equipped with COOH groups to direct the self-assembly via H-bonds and dodecyl chains to favor physisorption on highly oriented pyrolitic graphite (HOPG). This design provides free-space to the photoswitch and by scanning tunneling microscopy (STM) measurements at the solid-liquid interface we could confirm the self-assembly of **3** into linear polymers zipped together *via* alkyl chains' interdigitation. Upon UV-light irradiation, we observed a progressive change in the packing of the monolayer, indicating the transformation of the 2D crystal from E- to Z-azobenzenes.

27



Figure 4. Photoswitching self-assembled physisorbed monolayers. A) Molecular structure of the terfluorene platform supported azobenzene derivative E-**3** and B) STM height image of **3** at the HOPG-phenyloctane interface in its E- (left) and Z-isomer (right), obtained upon UV irradiation for *ca.* 1 h.

28

June 2015

The monolayer could be switched back *via* $Z \rightarrow E$ isomerization induced by blue light. However, in view of the dynamic nature of the system involving continuous desorption/adsorption and considering the large differences in the dimensions of the crystal lattices (unit cells) it is rather likely that the switching process occurs in solution and not when bound on the surface.



Figure 5. Electric field-induced isomerization of azobenzenes at surfaces. A) Electric pulses applied from the tip of a STM (localized at the cross) induce azobenzenes $E \rightarrow Z$ isomerization creating a random pattern of Z-isomers. B) When a dipole (μ) is introduced in the azobenzene derivative, a commensurability is established between the monolayer and the substrate, leading to the creation of a periodic array of

29

June 2015

switched molecules upon scanning at elevated biased voltage (conditions: 10⁻¹⁰ mbar, 7 K, Au(111)).

In order to switch molecules in physisorbed monolayers directly at the surface without interfering desorption processes, interfaces in ultra-high vacuum environment are inevitably more suitable. Azobenzene was equipped with four tert-butyl "legs" in order to decouple the photochrome from the surface (compound 4), and the resulting islands of densely packed building blocks on Au(111) analyzed by STM.¹⁸ In that case the switching was electronically induced by the STM tip, and the Zisomers appear as bright protrusions randomly located within the islands. In order to create arrays of ordered Z-isomers, an additional feature needed to be integrated into the switch: a permanent intrinsic dipole. This was achieved by attaching one methoxy group para to the N=N (see compound 5).¹⁹ Thanks to this new molecular property, a commensurability between the monolayer and the underlying substrate could be established, which defines the local switching ability of the molecules on the surface. Consequently, the same periodic lattices of Z isomers are created in repeated erasing and reswitching cycles. These results demonstrate a conceptually original approach to use selfassembled photoswitch arrays to simultaneously address single molecular entities on the length scale of few nanometers (nanopatterning).

Before concluding this letter, it should be emphasized that in order to create photoresponsive organic electronics, diarylethene photoswitches are arguably more promising candidates than ABs, as they require fewer free volume and therefore can be switched faster, in addition to offering a greater change in HOMO-LUMO gaps and relative levels, as recently demonstrated with the construction of light-addressable OFETs.^{20,21}

Conclusion

As illustrated in the previous sections, the azobenzene chromophore - despite being the oldest investigated photochromic family - remains

30

June 2015

attractive for creating advanced light-responsive functional systems. Thanks to molecular design and extensive structure-switch relationship studies, we were able to dramatically improve the intrinsic photoswitching properties of azobenzenes, in particular addressability with visible light, high photoconversion in both switching directions, as well as thermal half life. Furthermore, we could successfully amplify the significant geometrical changes occuring during the course of photochemical *E-Z* isomerization in an individual azobenzene unit by exploiting macromolecular architectures, such as rigid rod as well as helically folding azobenzene main chain polymers. Beyond the (macro)molecular level, we could create assemblies of azobenzene switches organized on surfaces and use them to generate periodic nanoscale patterns. Based on these examples and our experience over the past decade it is fair to conclude by comparing azobenzenes some good red wine – it get's better with age!

References.

- 1. G. S. Hartley, Nature 1937, 140, 281.
- 2. D. Bléger, S. Hecht, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, in press.
- R. Siewertsen, H. Neumann, B. Buchheim-Stehn, R. Herges, C. Näther, F. Renth, F. Temps, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 15594–15595.
- 4. A. A. Beharry, O. Sadovski, G. A. Woolley, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 19684–19687.
- 5. D. Bléger, J. Schwarz, A. M. Brouwer, S. Hecht, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 20597–20600.
- C. Knie, M. Utecht, F. Zhao, H. Kulla, S. Kovalenko, A. M. Brouwer, P. Saalfrank, S. Hecht, D. Bléger, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2014, 20, 16492–16501.
- W. A. Velema, W. Szymanski, B. L. Feringa, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 2178–2191.
- D. Bléger, T. Liebig, R. Thiermann, M. Maskos, J. P. Rabe, S. Hecht, Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 12767-12771; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 12559-12563.
- D. Bléger, J. Dokic, M. Peters, L. Grubert, P. Saalfrank, S. Hecht, J. Phys. Chem. B 2011, 115, 9930-9940.

June 2015

10. C. L. Lee, T. Liebig, S. Hecht, D. Bléger, J. P. Rabe, ACS Nano 2014, 12, 11987-11993.

31

- 11. P. Kundu, R. Klajn, ACS Nano 2014, 8, 11913-11916.
- 12. Z. Yu, S. Hecht, Angen. Chem. 2011, 123, 1678-1681; Angen. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 1640-1643.
- 13. Z. Yu, S. Hecht, Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18, 10519-10524.
- 14. Z. Yu, S. Weidner, T. Risse, S. Hecht, Chem. Sci. 2013, 4, 4156-4167.
- Z. Yu, S. Hecht, Angen. Chem. 2013, 125, 13985-13989; Angen. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 13740-13744.
- 16. R. Göstl, A. Senf, S. Hecht, Chem. Soc. Rev. 2014, 43, 1982-1996.
- 17. D. Bléger, A. Ciesielski, P. Samorì, S. Hecht, Chem. Eur. J. 2010, 16, 14256-14260.
- 18. M. Alemani, M. V. Peters, S. Hecht, K.-H. Rieder, F. Moresco, L. Grill, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 14446-14447.
- 19. C. Dri, M. V. Peters, J. Schwarz, S. Hecht, L. Grill Nature Nanotechnology 2008, 3, 649-653.
- 20. E. Orgiu, N. Crivillers, M. Herder, L. Grubert, M, Pätzel, J. Frisch, E. Pavlica, D. T. Duong, G. Bratina, A. Salleo, N. Koch, S. Hecht, P. Samori, *Nature Chemistry* 2012, 4, 675-679.
- M. El Gemayel, K. Börjesson, M. Herder, D. T. Duong, J. A. Hutchison, C. Ruzié, G. Schweicher, A. Salleo, Y. Geerts, S. Hecht, E. Orgiu, P. Samorì, *Nature Communications* 2015, *6*, 6330.

32

June 2015

Solar light: the bridge between photocatalysis and biomass valorization

Juan Carlos Colmenares

Institute of Physical Chemistry of the Polish Academy of Sciences. Kasprzaka 44/52, 01-224 Warsaw (Poland) E-mail: jcarloscolmenares@ichf.edu.pl (http://photo-catalysis.org)

1. Introduction

The use of solar energy to drive organic syntheses is not a novel concept. The idea was originally proposed by Ciamician as early as 1912.¹ However, the common use of the generally accepted term *photocatalysis* and significant developments in this field properly started early in the 1970s after the discovery of water photo-induced electrochemical photolysis on a TiO₂ electrode by Fujishima and Honda.²

The utilization of heterogeneous photocatalysis to environment protection (both in the liquid and gas phase) has been extensively investigated as photoactivated semiconductors have proven activities to unselectively mineralize various types of toxic, refractory and non-biodegradable organic pollutants under mild conditions.^{3,4} Closely related to selective synthesis, nanostructured photocatalytic systems have also been employed for the oxofunctionalization of hydrocarbons via selective oxidations.⁵

Photocatalysis, in which photons of the solar light are used to drive redox reactions to produce chemicals (e.g. fuels) is the central process to achieve the principles of green and sustainable chemistry.⁶ Despite significant efforts to date, a practically viable photocatalyst with sufficient efficiency, stability and low cost is yet to be demonstrated. It is often difficult to simultaneously achieve these different performance metrics with a single material component. The ideal solid photocatalysts with multiple integrated functional components could combine individual advantages to overcome the drawbacks of single component photocatalysts. Research in this field has significantly evolved during the last four decades (especially titanium oxide, 2/3 publications up to 2015)

June 2015

with enhanced knowledge on mechanisms, development of new technologies for storage and conversion of solar energy, detoxification of liquid and gaseous environments, and the photocatalytic production of new materials. More recently, a new research avenue related to selective transformations of biomass and residues (which cover important issues such as renewable energies, sustainable materials and water decontamination) to high added value products has emerged as a potentially useful alternative to conventional heterogeneously catalyzed processes (Scheme 1).⁷



Scheme 1. Proof of concept of solar photocatalysis for chemicals production and water purification.

The effective utilization of clean, safe, renewable and abundant solar energy is envisaged to provide energy, chemicals as well as solving environmental issues in the future and an appropriate nanostructured semiconductor-photoinduced mediated biomass/waste conversion can be the key for such transformations.

This article is intended to provide an overview of recent work conducted along the lines of selective photochemical transformations,

33

34

June 2015

particularly focused on heterogeneous oxidative photocatalysis for lignocellulose-based biomass valorization (Scheme 2). Future prospects and work to progress in this field will be also emphasized.



Scheme 2. A plethora of chemicals can be produced through lignocellulosic biomass photocatalytic upgrading

2. Fundamentals of heterogeneous oxidative photocatalysis

The basic principles of heterogeneous photocatalysis have been extensively reported in previous reports.⁸ Briefly, a photocatalytic transformation is initiated when a photoexcited electron is promoted from the filled valence band (VB) of a semiconductor photocatalyst (e.g., TiO₂, ZnO, CdS) to the empty conduction band (CB) as the absorbed photon energy, h_0 , equals or exceeds the band gap of the semiconductor photocatalyst. As a consequence, an electron and hole pair (e⁻–h⁺) are formed (Eqs 1-4, Scheme 3). HOO• radicals (Eq. 4, Scheme 3) have also scavenging properties similar to oxygen, thus prolonging the photohole

35

June 2015

lifetime (Eqs 5-6, Scheme 3). Redox processes can take place at the surface of the photoexcited photocatalyst. Very fast recombination between electron and hole occurs unless oxygen (or any other electron acceptor) is available to trapp the electrons to form superoxides ($O_2^{\bullet-}$), hydroperoxyl radicals (HO₂ \bullet) and subsequently H₂O₂ (Scheme 3).



Organic waste \Rightarrow photocatalyst/O₂/ $hv \ge E_g \Rightarrow$ Intermediate(s) \Rightarrow CO₂ + H₂O + Mineral Acid (10)

Scheme 3. TiO_2 photoactivation and formation of different reactive oxygen species (ROSs).

36

June 2015

The input energy by a photo-induced step can help overcome the activation barrier in spontaneous reactions ($\Delta G < 0$) so as to facilitate photocatalysis at an increased rate or under milder conditions. Comparatively, part of the input energy is converted into chemical energy that is accumulated in the reaction products of non-spontaneous processes ($\Delta G > 0$).

Generated holes have high potential to directly oxidize organic species or indirectly via the combination with •OH abundant in water solution (Eqs 7-9, Scheme 3).^{8ab}

The corresponding mineral acid of the non-metal substituent is formed as by-product (Eq. 10, Scheme 3).

2.1. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) in photocatalysis

A good number of reactive ROS species can oxidize a large variety of organic compounds in heterogeneous oxidative photocatalysis. These include:

•OH (redox potential +2.81 V vs standard hydrogen electrode, SHE): •OH radicals act as a main component during photo-mineralization reactions, particularly for substances that have weak affinity to TiO₂ surface.^{8ab} •OH can be produced by oxidation of surface hydroxyls or adsorbed water. For many organic compounds, the primary one-electron oxidation should be initiated by free or trapped holes.

 $O_2^{\bullet-}$ (redox potential +0.89 V vs SHE)/HO₂: Superoxide anions (O₂^{•-}), easily protonated to yield HO₂• in acidic solution (pKa = 4.8), are readily generated from molecular oxygen by capturing photoinduced electrons from semiconductor conduction band. O₂^{•-} species are generally less important in initiating oxidation reactions but mainly participate in total mineralization of organic compounds via reaction with organoperoxy radicals and production of H₂O₂ (redox potential +1.78 V vs SHE) through a O₂^{•-} disproportionation.

 $O_{3^{-}}$ species are obtained in reactions between the photoformed hole center on the lattice oxygen ($O_{L^{-}}$) and molecular oxygen.

 ${}^{1}O_{2}$ singlet molecular oxygen: ${}^{1}O_{2}$ is usually formed via the energy transfer from the triplet state of a dye to molecular oxygen. It has been suggested that oxidation of O_{2}^{--} by holes (redox potential +2.53 V vs SHE) at the TiO₂ surface should be a plausible mechanism to produce ${}^{1}O_{2}$.
37

June 2015

Apart from the important role of ROS in photocatalytic total mineralization processes, the control and generation of ROS species is essential in heterogeneous photocatalysis to be potentially able to design and predict pathways in selective organic photocatalytic oxidations.

3. Chemicals from lignocellulose

Lignocellulosic feedstocks (i.e., forestry waste, agricultural residues, municipal paper waste and certain food waste residues) can be converted into a variety of useful products in multi-step processes.9,10 However, due to the large complexity of such feedstocks, lignocellulosics have to be broken down by several processes and technologies into simpler fractions which can be converted into desired products. These include major such as gasification, pyrolysis and pre-treatment routes hydrolysis/fragmentation steps. Upon deconstruction, the obtained solid, liquid or gaseous fractions need to be upgraded via various processes which yield a plethora of chemicals.9,10

From a sustainability viewpoint, the development of low-temperature, highly-selective (photo)catalytic routes for the direct transformation of lignocellulosics into valuable chemicals or platform molecules (e.g. carboxylic acids, alcohols, furans, aldehydes) is of great significance.⁹ These compounds can then be subsequently converted into useful products (Scheme 2). However, the selective conversion of lignocellulosics under mild conditions still remains a significant challenge owing to the high recalcitrant structure of cellulose and lignin fractions.

3.1. Lignocellulose valorization through photocatalysis

3.1.1. Photocatalytic production of hydrogen

Nanotechnology is offering a good number of possibilities for the synthesis of new and the modification of existing photocatalysts in the hydrogen economy. A large quantity of papers studied the effect of different nanostructured materials on the performance of photocatalysts, since their energy conversion efficiency is principally influenced by nanoscale properties.¹¹

38

June 2015

Water spliting by heterogenous photocatalysis

In 1972 Fujishima and Honda² reported the splitting of water by the use of a semiconductor electrode of TiO_2 (rutile phase) connected through an electrical load to a platinum black counter-electrode. TiO_2 electrode irradiation with UV-A light caused electrons to flow from it to the platinum counter-electrode via the external circuit.

Hydrogen production by splitting of water using solar light offers a promising method for solar energy storage and photochemical conversion. The photocatalytic hydrogen production can occur when the semiconductor conduction band (CB) bottom-edge must be more negative than the reduction potential of H⁺ to H₂ (EH⁺/H₂ = 0V vs SHE at pH = 0), while the semiconductor valence band (VB) top-edge should be more positive than the oxidation potential of H₂O to O₂ (EO₂/H₂O = 1.23 eV vs SHE at pH = 0) for O₂ production from water to occur. This theoretical minimum band gap for water splitting of 1.23 eV corresponds to light of about 1100 nm.

Combinatorial methods have been developed and proved as a suitable way for rapid selection of nanophotocatalysts.¹² However, no semiconducting material has been prepared to be able of catalyzing the overall water splitting under visible light with quantum efficiency larger than the commercial application limit of 30% at 600 nm.¹³

With the aim of directly utilize solar light in the open atmosphere, a compound parabolic concentrator (CPC)-based photocatalytic hydrogen production reactor was recently designed by Jing et al.¹⁴ Efficient photocatalytic hydrogen production under direct solar light was accomplished by coupling a tubular reactor with the CPC concentrator. This demonstration drew attention for further studies in this promising direction. Nevertheless, both for material and reactor design, reduction of cost will have to be given special priority, before the final utilization of semiconductor-based photocatalytic hydrogen generation.¹⁵

Photocatalytic reforming of lignocellulose-based organic wastes: bio-hydrogen production

39

June 2015

Biomass sources have been utilized for the sustainable production of hydrogen.^{16,17} Several processes have been developed for this purpose (e.g., steam gasification,¹⁸ fast pyrolysis,¹⁹ and supercritical conversion²⁰). However, these processes require drastic reaction conditions including high temperatures and/or pressures and consequently imply high costs. In comparison to these energy consuming thermochemical processes, photocatalytic reforming may be a good approach as this process can be performed at room temperature, atmospheric pressure and driven by sustainable sunlight. Producing hydrogen by photocatalytic reforming of renewable organic wastes (biomass) may also be more practical and viable than that of photocatalytic splitting of water due to its potentially higher efficiency.²¹ Water splitting processes are relatively low efficient as limited by the recombination reaction between photogenerated electrons and holes.²² The thermodynamics of photochemical water splitting were investigated in detail by Bolton et al.23 who concluded that it is possible to store a maximum of approx. 12% of the incident solar energy in the form of hydrogen, allowing for reasonable losses in the electron transfer steps and the catalytic reactions of water oxidation and reduction.

Lignocellulose-derived compounds can serve as sacrificial agents (electron donors) to reduce the photocatalyst recombination e^--b^+ rate. A large variety of organic compounds (most of them model compound of lignocellulose structure, e.g.: alcohols, polyols, sugars, aromatic compounds as well as organic acids) have been used as electron donors for photocatalytic hydrogen production.²⁴ As previously mentioned, one of the major drawbacks of semiconductor photocatalysts, especially those involving photoinduced hydrogen production from water, is their relatively low efficiency, which is mostly limited by the fast recombination reaction rate between photopromoted electrons and holes. One way to suppress or retard this recombination rate is with the use of electron donors as sacrificial agents, the role of which is to react irreversibly with the photogenerated holes and/or oxygen thereby increasing the rate of hydrogen production.

Pioneer studies in biomass photocatalytic reforming were conducted in 1980.²⁵ Kawai and Sakata reported that hydrogen could be generated from carbohydrates in presence of Pt/RuO₂/TiO₂ hybrid material and under 500W Xe lamp irradiation. They also subsequently reported that

40

June 2015

hydrogen could be generated under identical conditions from other biomass sources including cellulose, dead insects, and waste materials.²⁶ These studies demonstrate the feasibility of the photocatalytic production of hydrogen from biomass.

Glucose partial photocatalytic oxidation in liquid phase gave strong fundaments for a new proof of concept of a low environmental impact technology related to biomass valorization (organic wastes) by a photocatalytic selective oxidation process. As one selected good example of an interesting basic and promising application science is the case of photocatalytic wet reforming of glucose solution to produce hydrogen which was possible (mostly) due to the strong metal support interaction effect (first report in the open literature for this kind of process) what it's found in a series of photocatalysts prepared by one of the methodologies (the combination of ultrasound-assisted sol-gel with a high-temperature redox post-treatment) (Scheme 4).^{24b}



Scheme 4. Nano-engineering of new nobel metal-based photocatalysts for glucose wet reforming hydrogen production. Two-step photocatalysts preparation: a. ultrasound-assisted sol-gel method, and b. high-temperature post-redox treatment.

Taking into account the lowering cost for solar-to-H₂ energy conversion, polluting byproduct from industries, the low-cost renewable

41

June 2015

biomass from animals or plants are preferential sacrificial electron donors in water-splitting systems. At little or no cost, they could be exploited to accomplish both the tasks of hydrogen production and waste treatment and biomass reforming simultaneously.

Photocatalytic wet reforming of biomass is relatively in the infancy level, and at present most investigations on it are still largely on the laboratory scale. There is not yet a single report about any pilot studies on photocatalytic reforming for commercial hydrogen production. Nevertheless, since the process is frequently carried out at room temperature and both the energy and feedstock are from renewable sources, photocatalytic reforming can be considered to be especially promising for sustainable large scale production of green bio-hydrogen.

3.1.2. Photocatalytic upgrading of cellulose-based molecules: production of high value chemicals

Catalytic oxidations have traditionally been carried out in environmentally harmful chlorinated organic solvents at high temperatures and pressures by employing stoichiometric amounts of various inorganic oxidants as oxygen donors (e.g. chromate and permanganate species). Such oxidants are expensive and toxic but they also produce large amounts of hazardous waste, therefore needing to be replaced by safer systems.

Comparably, a photocatalytic process can bring about significant benefits in terms of milder and more environmentally sound reaction conditions and better selectivities to the desired product. Unstable substances at high temperatures may be synthesized via selective light-assisted processes.

Alcohol oxidation to their corresponding ketones, aldehydes, and/or carboxylic acids is one of the most important transformations in organic synthesis.²⁷ Semiconductor photocatalysts have not been frequently employed in selective synthetic oxidation processes as the replacement of traditional oxidation methods has been mostly covered with heterogeneously catalyzed systems.

The working mechanism in metal oxidation catalysts involves an electron transfer-mediated step by the metal which thereby induces the

June 2015

formation of singlet oxygen species.²⁸ In this context, the search for an oxidation photocatalyst capable of directly activating dioxygen under solar light is an interesting as well as challenging task.

Catalytic selective photo-oxidation of cellulose-based molecules can provide a wide range of high added-value compounds as it was reviewed earlier.⁷ In this section I will present some key studies on photocatalytic selective oxidation of cellulose-based model compounds to valuable chemicals.

A range of different nano-titania-based systems synthesized through sol-gel processes varying the precursor and/or the ageing conditions (sonication, microwave, magnetic stirring, or reflux) was recently reported for the liquid-phase selective photo-oxidation of crotyl alcohol to crotonaldehyde. The gas-phase selective photooxidation of 2-propanol to acetone was also chosen as model reaction.²⁹ Iron, palladium or zinc presence in the photocatalysts was found to be detrimental for the activity. Zirconium and particularly gold improved the results as compared to pure titania (95% conversion of crotyl alcohol with >80% selectivity to crotonaldehyde and for Pt-based system approx. 30% conversion of 2-propanol with approx. 80% selectivity of acetone).

Aliphatic carboxylic acids can be transformed to shorter chain acids (e.g. malic to formic acid)³⁰ or decarboxylated to the corresponding reduced hydrocarbons or hydrocarbon dimers in the absence of oxygen and in pure aqueous or mixed aqueous/organic solutions by means of photo-Kolbe-type processes.³¹ As an example, the selective aqueous conversion of malic acid into formic acid has been conducted under visible light irradiation using a magnetically separable TiO₂-guanidine-(Ni,Co)-Fe₂O₄ nanocomposite (80% selectivity to formic acid after 2h). The photocatalyst featured a simple magnetic separation and offered the possibility to work under visible and sunlight irradiation due to titania modification with guanidine, which remarkably decreased the band gap of the metal oxide semiconductor.³⁰



Scheme 5. Sustainable photocatalytic production of carboxylic acids from glucose.

The efficiency of heterogeneous nano-TiO₂ catalysts in the selective photocatalytic oxidation of glucose into high-valued organic compounds has been also recently reported (Scheme 5).32 This reaction was found to be high selective (>70%) towards two important organic intermediates, namely: glucaric (GUA) and gluconic acids (GA). Among all photocatalytic systems tested, the best product selectivity was achieved with titania synthesized by an ultrasound-modified sol-gel methodology (TiO₂(US)).32 Solvent composition and short illumination times were proved to have a considerable effect on photocatalysts activity/selectivity. Total organic compounds selectivity was found to be 39% and 71% for liquid phase reactions using 1H₂O : 9CH₃CN and 1H₂O : 1CH₃CN, respectively. These values were obtained using the optimum nano-TiO2(US) photocatalyst. In posterior studies, those results were systematically improved by homogeneously supporting nano-TiO₂(US) on a zeolite type Y (total selectivity of GUA and GA was ca. 68% after 10 min illumination time using a $1:1 = H_2O:CH_3CN$ solvent composition).³³ Further photocatalyst optimization via development of transition-metal

44

June 2015

(Fe or Cr) containing supported (crystalline alumina-silicate as support) nanotitania materials (Scheme 6),³⁴ provided advanced systems able to achieve improved selectivities to carboxylic acids. No metal leaching (Fe, Cr, Ti) was detected after photoreaction, with Fe-TiO₂ systems being the most selective (94 % after 20 min of illumination under similar conditions previously reported.³⁴ Such results suggested that synthesized nano-TiO₂ material could be in principle used in the decomposition of waste from the agricultural industry with the simultaneous production of high-value chemicals when residues (here glucose) act as electron donors (Scheme 5).

The oxidation mechanism, efficiency and selectivity of the photocatalytic oxidation of alcohols using TiO₂ Evonik P25 was reported to strongly depend on the nature of the dispersing medium. Shiraishi *et al.*⁵ and Morishita *et al.*³⁵ demonstrated the positive influence of acetonitrile on epoxides formation in the selective photo-oxidation of alkenes. The addition of small amounts of water to CH₃CN strongly inhibited alcohol adsorption and its subsequent oxidation as evidenced by ESR-spin trapping investigations.³⁶ The reactivity of alcohols on the surface of photoexcited TiO₂ was also found to be affected by the nature of their hydrophobic aliphatic chain.³⁶ Molecules including geraniol and citronellol were observed to be more susceptible to water content as compared to shorter chain analogues such as trans-2-penten-1-ol and 1-pentanol.

Similarly, glycerol is a relevant polyol currently produced in large quantities as by-product of the biodiesel industry. The mechanism of the selective photocatalytic oxidation of glycerol was also recently reported in presence of TiO_2 Evonik P25 and Merck TiO_2 .³⁷ The product distribution observed at low glycerol concentration (glyceraldehyde and dihydroxyacetone) changes after a sharp maximum giving formaldehyde and glycolaldehyde as main products for P25 Evonik (mechanism derive from a direct electron transfer). Interestingly, mainly glyceraldehyde and dihydroxyacetone were observed on Merck TiO_2 (•OH-based mechanism), a material characterized by a lower density and more uniform population of hydroxyls groups at surface sites. These findings suggested that photocatalyst structures can significantly influence product

June 2015

distribution in photo-assisted processes. This example is particularly relevant to engineer valuable products from a biofuel-derived by-product.





The gas-phase selective photo-oxidation of methanol to methyl formate is another interesting process.^{38,39} The reaction can be carried out in a flow-type reactor to avoid deep oxidation of methanol in the presence of TiO₂ particles and under UV light irradiation. A high selectivity to methyl formate was observed (91 %) with no catalyst deactivation.³⁸ By the development of a new approach which combines synergistically the energy of sonication and photon energy (based mostly on the principles of photocatalysis) as a green pathway for the synthesis of metal nanoparticles (MNPs)-containing semiconductors (supported or unsupported), Colmenares et al.^{39,40} prepared a very active and selective bimetallic hybrid photocatalysts (Pd-Au/TiO₂) for the gas phase methanol oxidation to methyl formate (83% conversion and 70%

46

June 2015

selectivity). These results demonstrated a positive effect of photon energy on improving the work of ultrasounds to further ensure the reduction of the metal precursor on the substrate and obtain very active and selective photocatalysts for the valorization of cellulose-based alcohols (e.g. methanol, ethanol).^{39,40}

3.1.3. Photocatalytic selective oxidation of lignin-based aromatic alcohols

Photocatalytic pre-treatments of lignocellulosics have rarely been reported in the literature. Interestingly, Yasuda *et al.*⁴¹ have recently devised a 2 step process for biological bioethanol production from lignocellulose via feedstock pre-treatment with titania photocatalyst under UV-illumination. Selected lignocellulosic feedstocks were napiergrass (*Pennisetum purpureum Schumach*) and silver grass (*Miscanthus sinensis Anderss*). The photocatalytic pre-treatment did not significantly affect final product distribution, demostrating that TiO₂ was not interfering on biological reactions promoted by cellulases and yeast. Most importantly, the photocatalytic pre-treatment was remarkably effective to reduce the time in enzymatic saccharification and fermentation reactions with respect to untreated and NaOH pre-treated feedstocks. The photocatalytic pretreatment was also proved to be an environmentally sound replacement for acid and alkal- based processes.

Another example of the combination of photocatalytic process with biomass valorization through oxidation comprised an integration of photochemical and electrochemical oxidation processes for the modification and degradation of kraft lignin.⁴² Ta₂O₅–IrO₂ thin films were used as electrocatalysts with TiO₂ nanotube arrays as photocatalyst. Lignin deconstruction provided vanillin and vanillic acid, relevant compounds with important applications in the perfumes and food industries.

In spite of these recent reports that exemplify the potential of photocatalysis for lignocellulosics pre-treatment, selective photocatalytic transformations of lignocellulosic feedstocks are rather challenging due to the complex structure of lignocellulose, particularly related to the highly

47

June 2015

recalcitrant lignin fraction. Comparatively, relevant research has been conducted on model compounds which have been selected on the basis of representing structural motifs present in lignin.

Aromatic alcohols have been used as model lignin compounds to be converted into various compounds via photocatalytic processing. Among selective oxidation processes of alcohols, the conversion of benzyl alcohol to benzaldehyde is particularly attractive. Benzaldehyde is in fact the second most important aromatic molecule (after vanillin) used in many industries. Synthetic benzaldehyde is industrially produced via benzylchloride hydrolysis derived from toluene chlorination or through toluene oxidation. In this regard, alternative synthetic routes able to selectively produce benzaldehyde from benzyl alcohol are in demand. While most volume of research on selective production of benzaldehyde has been reported via heterogeneously catalyzed protocols, there are some relevant examples of such reaction under photo-assisted conditions.

The oxidation of benzyl alcohol was performed using differently prepared TiO₂ catalysts, reaching selectivities 3- to 7-fold superior to those of commercial TiO₂ catalysts.⁴³ In terms of benzyl alcohol derivatives, the aqueous phase photocatalytic oxidation of 4-methoxybenzyl alcohol was achieved by using uncalcined brookite TiO₂. A maximum selectivity of ca. 56% towards aldehydes (i.e. ca. 3 times higher than that obtained with commercial TiO₂) was reported.⁴³

A similar selective photocatalytic oxidation of aromatic alcohols to aldehydes was systematically studied under visible-light irradiation utilizing anatase TiO₂ nanoparticles.⁴⁴ The unique features of the protocol rely on the possibility to use visible irradiation apart from UV due to the formation of surface complex species by the adsorbed aromatic alcohol. Studies using fluorinated TiO₂ pointed to a dramatic decrease of photocatalytic activity under visible irradiation which suggested a significant role played by the adsorption of the aromatic alcohol species on the surface of the solid involving the surface OH species.⁴⁴

Metal oxides with large band gap energies (e.g. Nb_2O_5 with Eg > 3.2 eV) can be used in selective photo-oxidation of aromatic alcohols as was demonstrated recently.⁴⁵ A strong interaction between the aromatic alcohol and Nb_2O_5 surface generates a donor level within the forbidden

48

June 2015

band of Nb₂O₅, which provides a visible-light-harvesting ability and high activity/selectivity (>90% conversion and >95% selectivity after 16h of λ >420 nm).

In other studies, benzyl alcohol and some of its derivatives (parastructures) could be converted into their corresponding aldehydes at high conversions and selectivities (ca. 99%) both under UV and visible irradiation. The only exception to this behavior was 4-hydroxybenzyl alcohol which was oxidized to 4-hydroxy benzaldehyde (selectivity of ca. 23% at ca. 85% conversion) along with some unidentified products. Authors claimed that OH groups from TiO2 surface reacted with the aromatic compound to form Ti-O-Ph species, exhibiting strong absorption in the visible region by ligand to metal charge transfer. These findings confirmed the results reported by Kim et al.46 which proposed a direct electron transfer from the surface-complexes to the conduction band of the TiO₂ upon absorbing visible light. Importantly, results evidenced that visible light can induce reactions by substrate-surface complexation enabling the visible light absorption. Similar observations were recently reported by Li and co-workers47 with nanorods of rutile titania phase synthesized by a hydrothermal reaction using rutile TiO2 nanofibers obtained from calcination of composite electrospun nanofibers. The authors proposed a tentative mechanism where selective photocatalytic activities were proposed to be due to the visible-light absorption ability of benzyl alcohol-TiO2 nanorod complex and the unique properties of rutile TiO₂ nanorods. Excelling properties of these materials including high surface-to-volume ratio, unidirectional 1D channels and superior survivability of electrons may contribute to more efficient electron transport, further required for benzaldehyde formation (>99% selectivity to benzaldehyde). The importance of such hierarchical spatially organized 1D nanostructures in photocatalytic solar energy conversion has been reviewed recently.48

An innovative class of carbon nanomaterials denoted as Carbon Quantum Dots (CQDs) with sizes < 10 nm can also work as an effective near infrared light (NIR) driven photocatalyst for the selective oxidation of benzyl alcohol to benzaldehyde.⁴⁹ Based on the NIR light driven photo-induced electron transfer property and its photocatalytic activity for H₂O₂ decomposition, this metal-free catalyst could efficiently provide

49

June 2015

high yields of benzaldehyde under NIR light irradiation (>85% conversions and 95% selectivity, 12h NIR irradiation). Such metal-free photocatalytic system also selectively converts other alcohol substrates to their corresponding aldehydes with high conversion, demonstrating a potential application of accessing traditional alcohol oxidation chemistry.

Plasmonic photocatalysis have also been reported for selective formation of organic molecules.⁵⁰ Nanosized (<5 nm) gold nanoparticles supported on anatase-rutile interphase (TiO₂ Evonik P-25) by a deposition-precipitation technique could take advantage of plasmonic effects to achieve the photocatalytic selective production of several aromatic aldehydes from their corresponding aromatic alcohols (>80% conversions and >90% selectivity under 4h of visible light). This photocatalysis can be promoted via plasmon activation of the Au particles by visible light followed by consecutive electron transfer in the Au/rutile/anatase interphase contact. Activated Au particles transfer their conduction electrons to rutile and then to adjacent anatase which catalyzes the oxidation of substrates by the positively charged Au particles along with reduction of oxygen by the conduction band electrons on the surface of anatase titania.⁵⁰

Recent progress on metal core-semiconductor shell nanohybrid has also demonstrated that these systems can be potentially utilized as photocatalysts for selective organic oxidations.⁵¹ A (Pt)-CeO₂ nanocomposite has been prepared in an aqueous phase with tunable core-shell and yolk–shell structure via a facile and green template-free hydrothermal approach.⁵¹ Authors found that the core–shell nanocomposite could serve as an efficient visible-light-driven photocatalyst for the selective oxidation of benzyl alcohol to benzaldehyde using molecular oxygen as a green oxidant.

Prof. Y-J Xu group has reported a very simple room temperature method to prepare a cubic phase, sheet nanostructured semiconductor CdS.⁵² The as-prepared CdS is able to be used as a visible-light-driven photocatalyst for the selective oxidation of saturated primary C–H bonds in alkyl aromatics with high activity (>30% conversions) and selectivity (100%) under 10h of λ >420 nm and using molecular oxygen as a benign oxidant and benzotrifluoride as the solvent under ambient conditions. The ease of preparation of this CdS semiconductor and its highly active,

June 2015

selective visible light photoactivity for the selective oxidation of quite inert primary C–H bonds in alkyl aromatics points to its promising potential in photocatalytic selective activation of C–H bonds to high value chemicals.⁵²

These photocatalytic protocols account for lab scale systems with relatively restricted applications. However, the possibility of scaling up photocatalytic processes to selective large scale processes has also been attempted in recent years.⁵³ With regards to photocatalytic selective oxidation processes, various aromatic alcohols could be converted in a liquid-phase solar pilot plant reactor using TiO₂/Cu(II) photocatalyst.⁵⁴ A maximum yield of 53.3% for benzaldehyde could be obtained with respect to initial benzyl alcohol concentration (approx. 63% selectivity, after six hours), at an average temperature of 38 °C.

4. Future Perspectives and Challenges

The idea of taking use of the solar light at room temperature and atmospheric pressure via one-pot photocatalytic process to selectively convert lignocellulosic biomass to valuable chemicals is a highly innovative approach that can bring several benefits from the energetic and environmental viewpoints. Several important conclusions come out from this article. They are as follows:

- Photocatalytic reactions require milder conditions to those generally present in thermal processes which may allow the conception of short and efficient reaction sequences, minimizing side processes making use of sunlight as a completely renewable source of energy (waste-free energy).
- Hybrid systems of simultaneous photocatalyst-mediated chemicals evolution and water purification may be possible.
- Nanotechnology and nanomaterials design are currently bringing innovative concepts, ideas and protocols to the design and preparation of well-defined heterogeneous multifunctional photocatalysts with highly controllable and desirable properties.
- Low-temperature conversion of biomass to high-value chemicals: thanks to the novel synthesized materials with special photocatalytic

51

June 2015

properties, it is promising, challenging and feasible to transform huge amounts of organic wastes (e.g. lignocellulose-based biomass) produced in Europe into chemicals by the rational and effective use of solar energy. Chemicals produced from the selective transformation of biomass would be a good solar energy carrier. All this will be possible by preparing a novel family of solid hybrid nanophotocatalysts.

• The development of the concept of looking at organic wastes not as a problem but as a solution (at least for part of our problems: depleting sources of chemicals).

Acknowledgements

Dr Colmenares would like to thank the Institute of Physical Chemistry of the Polish Academy of Sciences for all support and to the COST Association (Action FP1306) for supporting the dissemination of this work.

References.

- 1. Ciamician, G. Science 36, 385 (1912).
- 2. Fujishima, A.; Honda, K.; Nature 238, 37 (1972).
- Di Paola, A.; García-López, E.; Marcì, G.; Palmisano, L.; J. Hazardous Mater. 211–212, 3 (2012).
- Pelaez, M.; Nolan, N.T.; Pillai, S.C.; Seery, M. K.; Falaras, P.; Kontos, A.G.; Dunlop, P.S.M.; Hamilton, J.W.J.; Byrne, J.A.; O'Shea, K.; Entezari, M.H.; Dionysiou, D.D.; *Appl. Catal. B*, **125**, 331 (2012).
- 5. Shiraishi, Y.; Morishita, M.; Hirai, T.; Chem. Commun., 5977 (2005).
- a) Anastas, P.T.; Warner, J.C.; Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice. Anastas, P.T.; Warner, J.C. (Eds). Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK (1998); b) Anastas, P.T.; Zimmerman, J.B. Sustainability Science and Engineering: Defining Principles. Abrahams, M.A. (Ed.). Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 11–32 (2006).
- 7. Colmenares, J.C.; Luque, R.; Chem. Soc. Rev., 43, 765 (2014).
- a) Fagnoni, M.; Dondi, D.; Ravelli, D.; Albini, A. Chem. Rev., 107, 2725 (2007); b) Qu, Y.; Duan, X. Chem. Soc. Rev., 42, 2568 (2013); c)

June 2015

Kisch, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 52, 812 (2013); d) Liu, K.; Cao, M.; Fujishima, A.; Jiang, L.; Chem. Rev. 114(19), 10044 (2014).

- Stoecker, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 47, 9200 (2008).
- a) Lin, C.S.K.; Pfaltzgraff, L.A.; Herrero-Davila, L.; Mubofu, E.B.; Abderrahim, S.; Clark, J.H.; Koutinas, A.; Kopsahelis, N.; Stamatelatou, K.; Dickson, F.; Thankappan, S.; Mohamed, Z.; Brocklesby, R.; Luque, R. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 6, 426 (2013). b) Delidovich, I.; Leonhard, K.; Palkovits, R. *Energy Environ. Sci.* 7, 2803 (2014); c) Gallezot, P. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 41, 1538 (2012); d) Sheldon, R.A. *Green Chem.* 16, 950 (2014).
- a) Kudo, A.; Miseki, Y. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 38, 253 (2009); b) Navarro, R.M.; Alvarez, M.C.; del Valle, F.; Villoria de la Mano, J.A.; Fierro, J.L.G. *ChemSusChem* 2, 471 (2009); c) Kitano, M.; Hara, M. *J. Mater. Chem.* 20, 627 (2010); d) Chen, X.; Shen, S.; Guo, L., Mao, S.S. *Chem. Rev.*, 110, 6503 (2010).
- 12. Seyler, M.; Stoewe, K.; Maier, W. Appl Catal B 76, 146 (2007).
- 13. Maeda, K.; Domen, K. J. Phys. Chem. C 111, 7851 (2007).
- 14. Jing, D.; Liu, H.; Zhang, X.; Zhao, L.; Guo, L. Energy ConVers.Manage. 50, 2919 (2009).
- Jing, D.; Guo, L.; Zhao, L.; Zhang, X.; Liu, H.; Li, M.; Shen, S.; Liu, G.; Hu, X.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, K.; Ma, L.; Guo, P. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 35, 7087 (2010).
- 16. Ni, M.; Leung, D.Y.C.; Leung, M.K.H.; Sumathy, K. Fuel Process Technol. 87, 461 (2006).
- 17. Iwasaki, W. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 28, 939 (2003).
- 18. Rapagna, S.; Jand, N.; Foscolo, P.U. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 23, 551 (1998).
- Li, S.G.; Xu, S.P.; Liu, S.Q.; Yang C.; Lu, Q.H. Fuel Process Technol. 85, 1201 (2004).
- 20. Hao, X.H.; Guo, L.J.; Mao, X.; Zhang, X.M.; Chen, X.J. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 28, 55 (2003).
- 21. Ma, Y.; Wang, X.; Jia, Y.; Chen, X.; Han, H.; Li, C. *Chem. Rev.* **114**, 9987 (2014).
- 22. Ni, M.; Leung, M.K.H.; Leung, D.Y.C.; Sumathy, K. Renewable Sust. Energy Rev. 11, 401 (2006).
- 23. Bolton, J.R.; Strickler, S.J.; Connolly, J.S. Nature 316, 495 (1985).

53

- a) Fu, X.; Wang, X.; Leung, D.Y.C.; Xue, W.; Ding, Z.; Huang, H.; Fu, X. Catal. Commun. 12, 184 (2010); b) Colmenares, J.C.; Magdziarz, A.; Aramendia, M.A.; Marinas, A.; Marinas, J.M.; Urbano, F.J.; Navio, J.A. Catal. Commun. 16, 1(2011); c) Li, Y.; Wang, J.; Peng, S.; Lu, G.; Li, S. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 35, 7116 (2010); d) Badawy, M.I.; Ghaly, M.I.; Ali, M.E.M. Destination 267, 250 (2011); e) Ilie, M.; Cojocaru, B.; Parvulescu, V.I.; Garcia, H. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 36, 15509 (2011); f) Fukumoto, S.; Kitano, M.; Takeuchi, M.; Matsuoka, M.; Anpo, M. Catal. Lett. 127, 39 (2009); g) Luo, N.; Jiang, Z.; Shi, H.; Cao, F.; Xiao, T.; Edwards, P.P. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 34, 125 (2009); h) Kondarides, D.I.; Daskalaki, V.M.; Patsoura, A.; Verykios, X.E. Catal. Lett. 122, 26 (2008); i) Valero, J.M.; Obregon, S.; Colon, G. ACS Catal. 4, 3320 (2014); j) Speltini, A.; Sturini, M.; Dondi, D.; Annovazzi, E.; Maraschi, F.; Caratto, V.; Profumo, A.; Buttafava, A. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 13, 1410 (2014).
- 25. Kawai, T.; Sakata, T. Nature 286, 474 (1980).
- 26. a) Kawai, M.; Kawai, T.; Tamaru, K. Chem. Lett. 8, 1185 (1981); b) Kawai, T.; Sakata, T. Chem. Lett. 1, 81 (1981); c) Sakata, T.; Kawai, T. Nouv. J. Chem. 5, 279 (1981).
- 27. Davis, S.E.; Ide, M.S.; Davis. R.J. Green Chem. 15, 17 (2013) and references therein.
- Ho, R.; Liebman, J.; Valentine, J. Active Oxygen in Chemistry, Eds. Foote, C.; Valentine, J.; Greenberg, A.; Liebman, J. Springer, Berlin 1995, pp. 1 – 23.
- 29. Lopez-Tenllado, F.J.; Marinas, A.; Urbano, F.J.; Colmenares, J.C.; Hidalgo, M.C.; Marinas, J.M.; Moreno, J.M. *Appl. Catal. B* **128**, 150 (2012).
- 30. Balu, A.M.; Baruwati, B.; Serrano, E.; Cot, J.; Garcia-Martinez, J.; Varma, R.S.; Luque, R. *Green Chem.* **13**, 2750 (2011).
- 31. Sakata, T.; Kawai, T.; Hashimoto, K. J. Phys. Chem. 88, 2344 (1984).
- Colmenares, J.C.; Magdziarz, A.; Bielejewska, A. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 11254 (2011).
- 33. Colmenares, J.C.; Magdziarz, A. J. Mol. Catal. A 366, 156 (2013).
- a) Colmenares, J.C.; Magdziarz, A.; Kurzydlowski, K.; Grzonka, J.; Chernyayeva, O.; Lisovytskiy, D. *Appl. Catal. B* 134–135, 136 (2013);

June 2015

b) Colmenares, J.C.; Magdziarz, A.; Chernyayeva, O.; Lisovytskiy, D.; Kurzydłowski, K.; Grzonka, J. *ChemCatChem* **5(8)**, 2270 (2013).

35. Morishita, M.; Shiraishi, Y.; Hirai, T. J. Phys. Chem. B 110, 17898 (2006).

- 36. Molinari, A.; Montoncello, M.; Houria, R.; Maldotti, A. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 8, 613 (2009).
- 37. Minero, C.; Bedini, A.; Maurino, V. Appl. Catal. B 128, 135 (2012).
- 38. Kominami, H.; Sugahara, H.; Hashimoto, K. *Catal. Commun.* **11**, 426 (2010).
- 39. Colmenares, J.C.; Lisowski, P.; Łomot, D.; Chernyayeva, O.; Lisovytskiy, D. *ChemSusChem* DOI: 10.1002/cssc.201403125 (2015).
- 40. Colmenares, J.C.; Magdziarz, A. Polish patent application Nr PL401693 (2012).
- 41. Yasuda, M.; Miura, A.; Yuki, R.; Nakamura, Y.; Shiragami, T.; Ishii, Y.; Yokoi, H. J. Photochem. Photobiol. A **220**, 195 (2011).
- 42. Tian, M.; Wen, J.; MacDonald, D.; Asmussen, R.M.; Chen, A. *Electrochem. Commun.* **12**, 527 (2010).
- 43. Palmisano, G.; Garcia-Lopez, E.; Marcì, G.; Loddo, V.; Yurdakal, S.; Augugliaro, V.; Palmisano, L. *Chem. Commun.* **46**, 7074 (2010).
- 44. a) Higashimoto, S.; Kitao, N.; Yoshida, N.; Sakura, T.; Azuma, M.; Ohue, H.; Sakata, Y. *J. Catal.* **266**, 279 (2009); b) Higashimoto, S.; Suetsugu, N.; Azuma, M.; Ohue, H.; Sakata, Y. *J. Catal.* **274**, 76 (2010).
- 45. Furukawa, S.; Shishido, T.; Teramura, K.; Tanaka, T. *ChemPhysChem* **15**, 2665 (2014).
- 46. Kim, S.; Choi, W. J. Phys. Chem. B 109, 5143 (2005).
- 47. Li, C.-J.; Xu, G.-R.; Zhang, B.; Gong, J.R. *Appl. Catal. B* **115–116**, 201 (2012).
- Liu, S.; Tang, Z-R.; Sun, Y.; Colmenares, J.C.; Xu, Y.-J. Chem. Soc. Rev. DOI: 10.1039/c4cs00408f (2015).
- 49. Li, H.; Liu, R.; Lian, S.; Liu, Y.; Huang, H.; Kang, Z. Nanoscale 5, 3289 (2013).
- 50. Tsukamoto, D.; Shiraishi, Y.; Sugano, Y.; Ichikawa, S.; Tanaka, S.; Hirai, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **134**, 6309 (2012).
- 51. Zhang, N.; Liu, S.; Xu, Y.-J. Nanoscale 4, 2227 (2012).
- 52. Zhang, Y.; Zhang, N.; Tang, Z-R.; Xu, Y.-J. Chem. Sci. 3, 2812 (2012).

55

- 53. Spasiano, D.; Marotta, R.; Malato, S.; Fernandez-Ibanez, P.; Somma,
- I.D. Appl. Catal. B 170, 90 (2015).
 54. Spasiano, D., Prieto Rodriguez, L.P.; Carbajo Olleros, J.; Malato, S.; Marotta, R.; Andreozzi, R. Appl. Catal. B 136-137, 56 (2013).

56

June 2015

The presence of photochemistry in the literature. A personal selection between the articles published in 2015

Maurizio D'Auria

Dipartimento di Scienze, Università della Basilicata, Potenza (Italy)

In the year of light I think it is important to verify the impact of this discipline in the scientific literature. The success of photochemistry can be visually observed examining the diffusion of articles related to photochemistry in the most diffused chemical journals.

In the following pages you can find a personal selection of the photochemistry articles appeared on the Journal of the American Chemical Society, on Chemical Communications, and on Chemistry European Journal in the period January-May 2015. You will be able to see the diffusion of the our discipline in several fields of the chemical research.

Journal of American Chemical Society

- J. Wen, Z. Havlas, J. Michl. Captodatively Stabilized Biradicaloids as Chromophores for Singlet Fission. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 165–172
- S. Ida, N. Kim, E. Ertekin, S. Takenaka, T. Ishihara. Photocatalytic Reaction Centers in Two-Dimensional Titanium Oxide Crystals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 239–244
- Y. Terazono, G. Kodis, M. Chachisvilis, B. R. Cherry, M. Fournier, A. Moore, T. A. Moore, D. Gust. Multiporphyrin Arrays with π–π Interchromophore Interactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 245–258.
- T. Hofbeck, U. Monkowius, H. Yersin. Highly Efficient Luminescence of Cu(I) Compounds: Thermally Activated Delayed Fluorescence Combined with Short-Lived Phosphorescence. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, 137, 399–404
- A. M. Schimpf, S. D. Lounis, E. L. Runnerstrom, D. J. Milliron, D. R. Gamelin. Redox Chemistries and Plasmon Energies of Photodoped In2O3 and Sn-Doped In2O3 (ITO) Nanocrystals. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, 137, 518–524
- K. Iwashina, A. Iwase, Y. H. Ng, R. Amal, A. Kudo. Z-Schematic Water Splitting into H2 and O2 Using Metal Sulfide as a Hydrogen-Evolving Photocatalyst and Reduced Graphene Oxide as a Solid-State Electron Mediator. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, 137, 604–607

June 2015

 A. Noble, S. J. McCarver, D. W. C. MacMillan. Merging Photoredox and Nickel Catalysis: Decarboxylative Cross-Coupling of Carboxylic Acids with Vinyl Halides. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, 137, 624–627

- E. T. Chernick, R. Casillas, J. Zirzlmeier, D. M. Gardner, M. Gruber, H. Kropp, K. Meyer, M. R. Wasielewski, D. M. Guldi, R. R. Tykwinski. Pentacene Appended to a TEMPO Stable Free Radical: The Effect of Magnetic Exchange Coupling on Photoexcited Pentacene. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, 137, 857–863
- S. Holliday, R. Shahid Ashraf, C. B. Nielsen, M. Kirkus, J. A. Röhr, C. –H. Tan, E. Collado-Fregoso, A. –C. Knall, J. R. Durrant, J. Nelson, I. McCulloch. A Rhodanine Flanked Nonfullerene Acceptor for Solution-Processed Organic Photovoltaics. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, 137, 898–904
- Y. -S. Chen, J. S. Manser, P. V. Kamat. All Solution-Processed Lead Halide Perovskite-BiVO4 Tandem Assembly for Photolytic Solar Fuels Production. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, 137, 974–981
- M. Shimada, Y. Yamanoi, T. Matsushita, T. Kondo, E. Nishibori, A.Hatakeyama, K. Sugimoto, H. Nishihara. Optical Properties of Disilane-Bridged Donor-Acceptor Architectures: Strong Effect of Substituents on Fluorescence and Nonlinear Optical Properties. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 1024–1027
- M. G. Hernández-Linares, G. Guerrero-Luna, S. Pérez-Estrada, M. Ellison, M. –M. Ortin, M. A. Garcia-Garibay. Large-Scale Green Chemical Synthesis of Adjacent Quaternary Chiral Centers by Continuous Flow Photodecarbonylation of Aqueous Suspensions of Nanocrystalline Ketones. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 1679–1684
- L. Liu, A. Mei, T. Liu, P. Jiang, Y. Sheng, L. Zhang, H. Han. Fully Printable Mesoscopic Perovskite Solar Cells with Organic Silane Self-Assembled Monolayer. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137,1790–1793
- C. Giansante, I. Infante, E. Fabiano, R. Grisorio, G. P. Suranna, G. Gigli. "Darker-than-Black" PbS Quantum Dots: Enhancing Optical Absorption of Colloidal Semiconductor Nanocrystals via Short Conjugated Ligands. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 1875–1886
- P. Duan, N. Yanai, H. Nagatomi, N. Kimizuka. Photon Upconversion in Supramolecular Gel Matrixes: Spontaneous Accumulation of Light-Harvesting Donor–Acceptor Arrays in Nanofibers and Acquired Air Stability. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 1887–1894
 Q. Xiao, Z. Liu, A. Bo, S. Zavahir, S. Sarina, S. Bottle, J. D. Riches, H. Zhu. Catalytic
- Q. Xiao, Z. Liu, A. Bo, S. Zavahir, S. Sarina, S. Bottle, J. D. Riches, H. Zhu. Catalytic Transformation of Aliphatic Alcohols to Corresponding Esters in O2 under Neutral Conditions Using Visible-Light Irradiation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 1956–1966
 T. X. Ding, J. H. Olshansky, S. R. Leone, A. P. Alivisatos. Efficiency of Hole Transfer from
- T. X. Ding, J. H. Olshansky, S. R. Leone, A. P. Alivisatos. Efficiency of Hole Transfer from Photoexcited Quantum Dots to Covalently Linked Molecular Species. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2021–2029
- A. Banerjee, B. D. Yuhas, E. A. Margulies, Y. Zhang, Y. Shim, M. R. Wasielewski, M. G. Kanatzidis. Photochemical Nitrogen Conversion to Ammonia in Ambient Conditions with FeMoS-Chalcogels. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2030–2034
- W. Ren, A. Ji, H. –w. Ai. Light Activation of Protein Splicing with a Photocaged Fast Intein. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2155–2158
- 20. D. E. Williams, E. A. Dolgopolova, P. J. Pellechia, A. Palukoshka, T. J. Wilson, R. Tan, J. M. Maier, A. B. Greytak, M. D. Smith, J. A. Krause, N. B. Shustova. Mimic of the Green Fluorescent Protein β-Barrel: Photophysics and Dynamics of Confined Chromophores Defined by a Rigid Porous Scaffold. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2223–2226

- June 2015
- K. Ueda, T. Minegishi, J. Clune, M. Nakabayashi, T. Hisatomi, H. Nishiyama, M. Katayama, N. Shibata, J. Kubota, T. Yamada, K. Domen. Photoelectrochemical Oxidation of Water Using BaTaO2N Photoanodes Prepared by Particle Transfer Method. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2227–2230

- W. Li, K. H. Hendriks, A. Furlan, M. M. Wienk, R. A. J. Janssen. High Quantum Efficiencies in Polymer Solar Cells at Energy Losses below 0.6 eV. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2231–2234
- Y. Zhen, H. Tanaka, K. Harano, S. Okada, Y. Matsuo, E. Nakamura. Organic Solid Solution Composed of Two Structurally Similar Porphyrins for Organic Solar Cells. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2247–2252
- Woo, B. J. Kim. Determining the Role of Polymer Molecular Weight for High-Performance All-Polymer Solar Cells: Its Effect on Polymer Aggregation and Phase Separation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2359–2365
- L. R. Espelt, I. S. McPherson, E. M. Wiensch, T. P. Yoon. Enantioselective Conjugate Additions of α-Amino Radicals via Cooperative Photoredox and Lewis Acid Catalysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2452–2455
- L. Zuo, Z. Gu, T. Ye, W. Fu, G. Wu, H. Li, H. Chen. Enhanced Photovoltaic Performance of CH3NH3PbI3 Perovskite Solar Cells through Interfacial Engineering Using Self-Assembling Monolayer. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2674–2679
- F. Aldeek, D. Hawkins, V. Palomo, M. Safi, G. Palui, P. E. Dawson, I. Alabugin, H. Mattoussi. UV and Sunlight Driven Photoligation of Quantum Dots: Understanding the Photochemical Transformation of the Ligands. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2704–2714
- K. Higashiguchi, G. Taira, J. -i. Kitai, T. Hirose, K. Matsuda. Photoinduced Macroscopic Morphological Transformation of an Amphiphilic Diarylethene Assembly: Reversible Dynamic Motion. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2722–2729
- 29. M. Herder, B. M. Schmidt, L. Grubert, M. Pätzel, J. Schwarz, S. Hecht. Improving the Fatigue Resistance of Diarylethene Switches. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2738–2747
- K. Maity, D. K. Panda, E. Lochner, S. Saha. Fluoride-Induced Reduction of Ag(I) Cation Leading to Formation of Silver Mirrors and Luminescent Ag-Nanoparticles. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2812–2815
- L. J. Daumann, D. S. Tatum, B. E. R. Snyder, C. Ni, G. -l. Law, E. I. Solomon, K. N. Raymond. New Insights into Structure and Luminescence of EuIII and SmIII Complexes of the 3,4,3-LI(1,2-HOPO) Ligand. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2816–2819
- A. M. Asadirad, N. R. Branda. Two Colors of Light Are Needed to Break Bonds and Release Small Molecules from the Surface of SiO2-Au Core-Shell Nanoparticles. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 2824–2827
- J. Seo, H. J. Kim, R. T. Pekarek, M. J. Rose. Hybrid Organic/Inorganic Band-Edge Modulation of p-Si(111) Photoelectrodes: Effects of R, Metal Oxide, and Pt on H2 Generation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3173–3176
- Z. –M. Zhang, T. Zhang, C. Wang, Z. Lin, L. –S. Long, W. Lin. Photosensitizing Metal– Organic Framework Enabling Visible-Light-Driven Proton Reduction by a Wells–Dawson-Type Polyoxometalate. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3197–3200
- R. S. Sprick, J. –X. Jiang, B. Bonillo, S. Ren, T. Ratvijitvech, P. Guiglion, M. A. Zwijnenburg, D. J. Adams, A. I. Cooper. Tunable Organic Photocatalysts for Visible-Light-Driven Hydrogen Evolution. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3265–3270

59

- Z. L. Rodgers, R. M. Hughes, L. M. Doherty, J. R. Shell, B. P. Molesky, A. M. Brugh, M. D. E. Forbes, A. M. Moran, D. S. Lawrence. B12-Mediated, Long Wavelength Photopolymerization of Hydrogels. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3372–3378
- R. J. Holbrook, D. J. Weinberg, M. D. Peterson, E. A. Weiss, T. J. Meade. Light-Activated Protein Inhibition through Photoinduced Electron Transfer of a Ruthenium(II)–Cobalt(III) Bimetallic Complex. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3379–3385
- S. Maeda, T. Taketsugu, K. Ohno, K. Morokuma. From Roaming Atoms to Hopping Surfaces: Mapping Out Global Reaction Routes in Photochemistry. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3433–3445
- L. –Y. Yao, V. W. –W. Yam. Photoinduced Isomerization-Driven Structural Transformation Between Decanuclear and Octadecanuclear Gold(I) Sulfido Clusters. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3506–3509
- C. Lambert, T. Scherpf, H. Ceymann, A. Schmiedel, M. Holzapfel. Coupled Oscillators for Tuning Fluorescence Properties of Squaraine Dyes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3547–3557
- C. Wang, E. Wu, X. Wu, X. Xu, G. Zhang, L. Pu. Enantioselective Fluorescent Recognition in the Fluorous Phase: Enhanced Reactivity and Expanded Chiral Recognition. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3747–3750
- J. L. Ellis, D. D. Hickstein, K. J. Schnitzenbaumer, M. B. Wilker, B. B. Palm, J. L. Jimenez, G. Dukovic, H. C. Kapteyn, M. M. Murnane, W. Xiong. Solvents Effects on Charge Transfer from Quantum Dots. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3759–3762
- P. P. Goswami, A. Syed, C. L. Beck, T. R. Albright, K. M. Mahoney, R. Unash, E. A. Smith, A. H. Winter. BODIPY-Derived Photoremovable Protecting Groups Unmasked with Green Light. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3783–3786
- Z. Yao, M. Zhang, H. Wu, L. Yang, R. Li, P. Wang. Donor/Acceptor Indenoperylene Dye for Highly Efficient Organic Dye-Sensitized Solar Cells. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3799– 3802
- 45. H. Shimizu, J. D. C. González, M. Hasegawa, T. Nishinaga, T. Haque, M. Takase, H. Otani, J. P. Rabe, M. Iyoda. Synthesis, Structures, and Photophysical Properties of π-Expanded Oligothiophene 8-mers and Their Saturn-Like C60 Complexes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3877–3885
- 46. B. Kan, M. Li, Q. Zhang, F. Liu, X. Wan, Y. Wang, W. Ni, G. Long, X. Yang, H. Feng, Y. Zuo, M. Zhang, F. Huang, Y. Cao, T. P. Russell, Y. Chen. A Series of Simple Oligomer-like Small Molecules Based on Oligothiophenes for Solution-Processed Solar Cells with High Efficiency. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3886–3893
- X. Jing, C. He, Y. Yang, C. Duan. A Metal–Organic Tetrahedron as a Redox Vehicle to Encapsulate Organic Dyes for Photocatalytic Proton Reduction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3967–3974
- Y. -L. Wu, K. E. Brown, D. M. Gardner, S. M. Dyar, M. R. Wasielewski. Photoinduced Hole Injection into a Self-Assembled π-Extended G-Quadruplex. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 3981–3990
- Y. Gao, X. Peng. Photogenerated Excitons in Plain Core CdSe Nanocrystals with Unity Radiative Decay in Single Channel: The Effects of Surface and Ligands. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4230–4235
- W. Wan, M. –Q. Zhu, Z. Tian, A. D. Q. Li. Antiphase Dual-Color Correlation in a Reactant–Product Pair Imparts Ultrasensitivity in Reaction-Linked Double-Photoswitching Fluorescence Imaging. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4312–4315

60

- H. Li, F. Li, B. Zhang, X. Zhou, F. Yu, L. Sun. Visible Light-Driven Water Oxidation Promoted by Host-Guest Interaction between Photosensitizer and Catalyst with A High Quantum Efficiency. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4332–4335
- Y. -X. Wang, Y. -M. Zhang, Y. Liu. Photolysis of an Amphiphilic Assembly by Calixarene-Induced Aggregation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4543–4549
- F. Ronconi, Z. Syrgiannis, A. Bonasera, M. Prato, R. Argazzi, S. Caramori, V. Cristino, C. A. Bignozzi. Modification of Nanocrystalline WO3 with a Dicationic Perylene Bisimide: Applications to Molecular Level Solar Water Splitting. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4630–4633
- Y. Cao, J. K. Nagle, M. O. Wolf, B. O. Patrick, Tunable Luminescence of Bithiophene-Based Flexible Lewis Pairs. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4888–4891
- O. Gutierrez, J. C. Tellis, D. N. Primer, G. A. Molander, M. C. Kozlowski. Nickel-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling of Photoredox-Generated Radicals: Uncovering a General Manifold for Stereoconvergence in Nickel-Catalyzed Cross-Couplings. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4896– 4899
- H. Yamashita, T. Ikezawa, Y. Kobayashi, J. Abe. Photochromic Phenoxyl-Imidazolyl Radical Complexes with Decoloration Rates from Tens of Nanoseconds to Seconds. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4952–4955
- A. N. W. Kuda-Wedagedara, C. Wang, P. D. Martin, M. J. Allen. Aqueous EuII-Containing Complex with Bright Yellow Luminescence. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 4960–4963
- B. C. O'Regan, P. R. F. Barnes, X. Li, C. Law, E. Palomares, J. M. Marin-Beloqui. Optoelectronic Studies of Methylammonium Lead Iodide Perovskite Solar Cells with Mesoporous TiO2: Separation of Electronic and Chemical Charge Storage, Understanding Two Recombination Lifetimes, and the Evolution of Band Offsets during J–V Hysteresis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5087–5099
- A. J. Musser, M. Maiuri, D. Brida, G. Cerullo, R. H. Friend, J. Clark. The Nature of Singlet Exciton Fission in Carotenoid Aggregates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5130–5139
- M. H. Chisholm, C. B. Durr, T. L. Gustafson, W. T. Kender, T. F. Spilker, P. J. Young. Electronic and Spectroscopic Properties of Avobenzone Derivatives Attached to Mo2 Quadruple Bonds: Suppression of the Photochemical Enol-to-Keto Transformation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5155–5162
- R. Brimioulle, A. Bauer, T. Bach. Enantioselective Lewis Acid Catalysis in Intramolecular [2 + 2] Photocycloaddition Reactions: A Mechanistic Comparison between Representative Coumarin and Enone Substrates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5170–5176
- E. Buchaca-Domingo, K. Vandewal, Z. Fei, S. E. Watkins, F. H. Scholes, J. H. Bannock, J. C. de Mello, L. J. Richter, D. M. DeLongchamp, A. Amassian, M. Heeney, A. Salleo, N. Stingelin. Direct Correlation of Charge Transfer Absorption with Molecular Donor: Acceptor Interfacial Area via Photothermal Deflection Spectroscopy. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5256–5259
- Y. Ping, W. A. Goddard III, G. A. Galli. Energetics and Solvation Effects at the Photoanode/Catalyst Interface: Ohmic Contact versus Schottky Barrier. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5264–5267
- A. N. Bartynski, M. Gruber, S. Das, S. Rangan, S. Mollinger, C. Trinh, S. E. Bradforth, K. Vandewal, A. Salleo, R. A. Bartynski, W. Bruetting, M. E. Thompson. Symmetry-Breaking Charge Transfer in a Zinc Chlorodipyrrin Acceptor for High Open Circuit Voltage Organic Photovoltaics. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5397–5405

- June 2015
- -B. Han, Y. -G. Li, Z. -M. Zhang, H. -Q. Tan, Y. Lu, E. -B. Wang. Polyoxometalate-Based Nickel Clusters as Visible Light-Driven Water Oxidation Catalysts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5486-5493

61

- 66. Y. Dong, J. Choi, H. -K. Jeong, D. H. Son. Hot Electrons Generated from Doped Quantum Dots via Upconversion of Excitons to Hot Charge Carriers for Enhanced Photocatalysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5549–5554
- A. Ohtsuki, L. Lei, M. Tanishima, A. Goto, H. Kaji. Photocontrolled Organocatalyzed Living Radical Polymerization Feasible over a Wide Range of Wavelengths. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5610–5617
- S. Ventre, F. R. Petronijevic, D. W. C. MacMillan. Decarboxylative Fluorination of Aliphatic Carboxylic Acids via Photoredox Catalysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5654–5657
- K. Mutoh, Y. Nakagawa, A. Sakamoto, Y. Kobayashi, J. Abe. Stepwise Two-Photon-Gated Photochemical Reaction in Photochromic [2.2]Paracyclophane-Bridged Bis(imidazole dimer). J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5674–5677
- L. Woźniak, J. J. Murphy, P. Melchiorre. Photo-organocatalytic Enantioselective Perfluoroalkylation of β-Ketoesters. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5678-5681
- O. O. Adegóke, I. H. Jung, M. Orr, L. Yu, T. Goodson III. Effect of Acceptor Strength on Optical and Electronic Properties in Conjugated Polymers for Solar Applications. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5759–5769
- M. Pastore, F. De Angelis. First-Principles Modeling of a Dye-Sensitized TiO2/IrO2 Photoanode for Water Oxidation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5798–5809
- B. C. M. Martindale, G. A. M. Hutton, C. A. Caputo, E. Reisner. Solar Hydrogen Production Using Carbon Quantum Dots and a Molecular Nickel Catalyst. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 6018–6025
- M. Silvi, E. Arceo, I. D. Jurberg, C. Cassani, P. Melchiorre. Enantioselective Organocatalytic Alkylation of Aldehydes and Enals Driven by the Direct Photoexcitation of Enamines. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 6120–6123
- H. Li, J. Shang, Z. Ai, L. Zhang. Efficient Visible Light Nitrogen Fixation with BiOBr Nanosheets of Oxygen Vacancies on the Exposed {001} Facets. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 6393–6399

Chemical Communications

- Y. Zhang, R. Qian, X. Zheng, Y. Zeng, J. Sun, Y. Chen, A. Ding, H. Guo, Visible light induced cyclopropanation of dibromomalonates with alkenes via double-SET by photoredox catalysis. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 54-57
- J. –B. Kim, S. –H. Han, K. Yang, S. –K. Kwon, J. –J. Kim, Y. –H. Kim, Highly efficient deep-blue phosphorescence from heptafluoropropyl-substituted iridium complexes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 58-61
- C. Fowley, A. P. McHale, B. McCaughan, A. Fraix, S. Sortino, J. F. Callan, Carbon quantum dot–NO photoreleaser nanohybrids for two-photon phototherapy of hypoxic tumors. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 81-84
- X. Zhou, X. Wu, J. Yoon, A dual FRET based fluorescent probe as a multiple logic system. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 111-113
- G. Lv, B. Cui, H. Lan, Y. Wen, A. Sun, T. Yi, Diarylethene based fluorescent switchable probes for the detection of amyloid-β pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 125-128

- June 2015
- K. Wu, J. Zhang, S. Fan, J. Li, C. Zhang, K. Qiao, L. Qian, J. Han, J. Tang, S. Wang, Plasmon-enhanced fluorescence of PbS quantum dots for remote near-infrared imaging. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 141-144

- Z. -F. Wu, B. Tan, J. -Y. Wang, C. -F. Du, Z. -H. Deng, X. -Y. Huang, Tunable photoluminescence and direct white-light emission in Mg-based coordination networks. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 157-160
- 8. V. Kunz, V. Stepanenko, F. Würthner, Embedding of a ruthenium(II) water oxidation catalyst into nanofibers via self-assembly. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 290-293
- 9. J. Kuncewicz, B. Ohtani, Titania photocatalysis through two-photon band-gap excitation with built-in rhodium redox mediator. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 298-301
- Z. Chen, J. Zhang, M. Song, J. Yin, G. -A. Yu, S. H. Liu, A novel fluorene-based aggregation-induced emission (AIE)-active gold(I) complex with crystallization-induced emission enhancement (CIEE) and reversible mechanochromism characteristics. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 326-329
- L. Feng, M. Rudolf, O. Trukhina, Z. Slanina, F. Uhlik, X. Lu, T. Torres, D. M. Guldi, T. Akasaka, Tuning intramolecular electron and energy transfer processes in novel conjugates of La2@C80 and electron accepting subphthalocyanines. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 330-333
- Z. Guo, X. Song, H. Lei, H. Wang, S. Su, H. Xu, G. Qian, H. Zhang, B. Chen, A ketone functionalized luminescent terbium metal-organic framework for sensing of small molecules. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 376-379
- R. Lin, H. Sun, C. Yang, W. Shen, W. Xia, Visible light-induced difunctionalization of electron-enriched styrenes: synthesis of tetrahydrofurans and tetrahydropyrans. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 399-401
- S. Wang, L. Zhang, C. Dong, L. Su, H. Wang, J. Chang, Smart pH-responsive upconversion nanoparticles for enhanced tumor cellular internalization and near-infrared light-triggered photodynamic therapy. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 406-408
- R. J. G. Johnson, K. M. Haas, B. J. Lear, Fe3O4 nanoparticles as robust photothermal agents for driving high barrier reactions under ambient conditions. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 417-420
- L. Zhou, L. Zhou, X. Ge, J. Zhou, S. Wei, J. Shen, Multicolor imaging and the anticancer effect of a bifunctional silica nanosystem based on the complex of graphene quantum dots and hypocrellin A. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 421-424
- F. He, G. Chen, Y. Yu, Y. Zhou, Y. Zheng, S. Hao, The sulfur-bubble template-mediated synthesis of uniform porous g-C3N4 with superior photocatalytic performance. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 425-427
- Y. Zheng, Q. Zhou, W. Lei, Y. Hou, K. Li, Y. Chen, B. Zhang, X. Wang, DNA photocleavage in anaerobic conditions by a Ru(II) complex: a new mechanism. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 428-430
- S. He, K. Krippes, S. Ritz, Z. Chen, A. Best, H. –J. Butt, V. Mailänder, S. Wu, Ultralowintensity near-infrared light induces drug delivery by upconverting nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 431-434
- X. Wang, Q. Tang, B. He, R. Li, L. Yu, 7.35% Efficiency rear-irradiated flexible dyesensitized solar cells by sealing liquid electrolyte in a groove. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 491-494
- G. Dai, J. Chang, W. Zhang, S. Bai, K. –W. Huang, J. Xu, C. Chi, Dianthraceno[a,e]pentalenes: synthesis, crystallographic structures and applications in organic field-effect transistors. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 503-506

June 2015

R. Raja, P. Sudhagar, A. Devadoss, C. Terashima, L. K. Shrestha, K. Nakata, R. Jayavel, K. Ariga, A. Fujishima, Pt-free solar driven photoelectrochemical hydrogen fuel generation using 1T MoS2 co-catalyst assembled CdS QDs/TiO2 photoelectrode. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 522-525

- C. –J. Chen, M. –G. Chen, C. K. Chen, P. C. Wu, P. –T. Chen, M. Basu, S. –F. Hu, D. P. Tsai, R. –S. Liu, Ag–Si artificial microflowers for plasmon-enhanced solar water splitting. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 549-552
- L. Gil-Escrig, G. Longo, A. Pertegás, C. Roldán-Carmona, A. Soriano, M. Sessolo, H. J. Bolink, Efficient photovoltaic and electroluminescent perovskite devices. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 569-571
- X. Yu, X. Cao, X. Chen, N. Ayres, P. Zhang, Triplet-triplet annihilation upconversion from rationally designed polymeric emitters with tunable inter-chromophore distances. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 588-591
- Y. –J. Wang, G. Chang, Q. Chen, G. –J. Yang, S. –Q. Fan, B. Fang, Orchestrated photocatalytic hydrogen generation using surface-adsorbing iridium photosensitizers. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 685-688
- W. Shi, Y. Fu, Z. Li, M. Wei, Multiple and configurable optical logic systems based on layered double hydroxides and chromophore assemblies. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 711-713
- S. Basak, N. Nandi, A. Baral, A. Banerjee, Tailor-made design of J- or H-aggregated naphthalenediimide-based gels and remarkable fluorescence turn on/off behaviour depending on solvents, *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 780-783
- X. Wang, Y. Wu, Q. Liu, Z. Li, H. Yan, C. Ji, J. Duan, Z. Liu, Aggregation-induced emission (AIE) of pyridyl-enamido-based organoboron luminophores. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 784-787
- P. Li, Y. Zhou, H. Li, Q. Xu, X. Meng, X. Wang, M. Xiao, Z. Zou, All-solid-state Z-scheme system arrays of Fe2V4O13/RGO/CdS for visible light-driving photocatalytic CO2 reduction into renewable hydrocarbon fuel. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 800-803
- J. R. Nilsson, M. C. O'Sullivan, S. Li, H. L. Anderson, J. Andréasson, A photoswitchable supramolecular complex with release-and-report capabilities. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 847-850
- W. -J. Ong, L. -L. Tan, S. -P. Chai, S. -T. Yong, Graphene oxide as a structure-directing agent for the two-dimensional interface engineering of sandwich-like graphene-g-C3N4 hybrid nanostructures with enhanced visible-light photoreduction of CO2 to methane. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 858-861
- Y. Zhao, W. Zeng, Z. Tao, P. Xiong, Y. Qua, Y. Zhu, Highly sensitive surface-enhanced Raman scattering based on multi-dimensional plasmonic coupling in Au-graphene–Ag hybrids. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 866-869
- 34. J. Miao, H. Cui, J. Jin, F. Lai, H. Wen, X. Zhang, G. F. Ruda, X. Chen, D. Yin, Development of 3-alkyl-6-methoxy-7-hydroxy-chromones (AMHCs) from natural isoflavones, a new class of fluorescent scaffolds for biological imaging. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 881-884
- F. Kettling, B. Vonhören, J. A. Krings, S. Saito, B. J. Ravoo, One-step synthesis of patterned polymer brushes by photocatalytic microcontact printing. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1027-1030
- Z. Zhou, G. J. Bedwell, R. Li, N. Bao, P. E. Prevelige, A. Gupta, P22 virus-like particles constructed Au/CdS plasmonic photocatalytic nanostructures for enhanced photoactivity. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1062-1065

64

- L. Zhu, J. Xu, Z. Sun, B. Fu, C. Qin, L. Zeng, X. Hu, A twisted intramolecular charge transfer probe for rapid and specific detection of trace biological SO2 derivatives and bioimaging applications. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1154-1156
- M. Li, Z. Guo, W. Zhu, F. Marken, T. D. James, A redox-activated fluorescence switch based on a ferrocene–fluorophore–boronic ester conjugate. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1293-1296
- L. Chen, B. Wu, L. Guo, R. Tey, Y. Huang, D. –H. Kim, Single-nanoparticle NO2 gas sensor constructed using active molecular plasmonics. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1326-1329
- N. Shi, W. Cheng, H. Zhou, T. Fan, M. Niederberger, Facile synthesis of monodisperse Co3O4 quantum dots with efficient oxygen evolution activity. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1338-1340
- Y. V. Fedorov, S. V. Tkachenko, E. Yu. Chernikova, I. A. Godovikov, O. A. Fedorova, L. Isaacs, Photoinduced guest transformation promotes translocation of guest from hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin to cucurbit[7]uril. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1349-1352
- T. Yamaguchi, M. F. Hilbers, P. P. Reinders, Y. Kobayashi, A. M. Brouwer, J. Abe, Nanosecond photochromic molecular switching of a biphenyl-bridged imidazole dimer revealed by wide range transient absorption spectroscopy. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1375-1378
- L. Li, C. Song, M. Jennings, S. Thayumanavan, Photoinduced heterodisulfide metathesis for reagent-free synthesis of polymer nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1425-1428
- X. –P. Cui, K. –J. Jiang, J. –H. Huang, X. –Q. Zhou, M. –J. Su, S. –G. Li, Q. –Q. Zhang, L. –M. Yang, Y. –L. Song, Electrodeposition of PbO and its in situ conversion to CH3NH3PbI3 for mesoscopic perovskite solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1457-1460
- W. Xu, H. Song, X. Chen, H. Wang, S. Cui, D. Zhou, P. Zhou, S. Xu, Upconversion luminescence enhancement of Yb3+, Nd3+ sensitized NaYF4 core-shell nanocrystals on Ag grating films. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1502-1505
- L. He, W. Lin, Q. Xu, H. Wei, A new strategy to construct a FRET platform for ratiometric sensing of hydrogen sulfide, *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1510-1513
- S. Wang, Z. Ding, X. Wang, A stable ZnCo2O4 cocatalyst for photocatalytic CO2 reduction. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1517-1519.
- F. Mohammadpour, M. Moradi, K. Lee, G. Cha, S. So, A. Kahnt, D. M. Guldi, M. Altomare, P. Schmuki Enhanced performance of dye-sensitized solar cells based on TiO2 nanotube membranes using an optimized annealing profile. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1631-1634
- C. Tang, R. Bi, Y. Tao, F. Wang, X. Cao, S. Wang, T. Jiang, C. Zhong, H. Zhang, W. Huang. A versatile efficient one-step approach for carbazole–pyridine hybrid molecules: highly efficient host materials for blue phosphorescent OLEDs. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1650-1653
- X. –G. Liu, H. Wang, B. Chen, Y. Zou, Z. –G. Gu, Z. Zhao, L. Shen. A luminescent metal–organic framework constructed using a tetraphenylethene-based ligand for sensing volatile organic compounds. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1677-1680
- W. Gao, M. Wang, C. Ran, L. Li. Facile one-pot synthesis of MoS2 quantum dotsgraphene-TiO2 composites for highly enhanced photocatalytic properties. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1709-1712
- H. Liu, H. Lu, Z. Zhou, S. Shimizu, Z. Li, N. Kobayashi, Z. Shen. Asymmetric coreexpanded aza-BODIPY analogues: facile synthesis and optical properties. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1713-1716

June 2015

 L. A. Juárez, A. M. Costero, M. Parra, S. Gil, F. Sancenón, R. Martínez-Máñez. A new chromo-fluorogenic probe based on BODIPY for NO2 detection in air. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1725-1727

- V. M. Blas-Ferrando, J. Ortiz, V. González-Pedro, R. S. Sánchez, I. Mora-Seró, F. Fernández-Lázaro, Á. Sastre-Santos. Efficient passivated phthalocyanine-quantum dot solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1732-1735
- R. Kodama, K. Sumaru, K. Morishita, T. Kanamori, K. Hyodo, T. Kamitanaka, M. Morimoto, S. Yokojima, S. Nakamura, K. Uchida. A diarylethene as the SO2 gas generator upon UV irradiation. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1736-1738
- N. Zydziak, F. Feist, B. Huber, J. O. Mueller, C. Barner-Kowollik. Photo-induced sequence defined macromolecules via hetero bifunctional synthons. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1799-1802
- K. Xu, J. Zhao, X. Cui, J. Ma. Photoswitching of triplet-triplet annihilation upconversion showing large emission shifts using a photochromic fluorescent dithienylethene-Bodipy triad as a triplet acceptor/emitter. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1803-1806
- W. Zhang, Y. Li, J. -H. Sun, C. -P. Tan, L. -N. Ji, Z. -W. Mao. Supramolecular selfassembled nanoparticles for chemo-photodynamic dual therapy against cisplatin resistant cancer cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1807-1810
- J. Blass, B. L. Bozna, M. Albrecht, J. A. Krings, B. J. Ravoo, G. Wenz, R. Bennewitz. Switching adhesion and friction by light using photosensitive guest-host interactions. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1830-1833
- T. M. Laine, M. D. Kärkäs, R. –Z. Liao, T. Åkermark, B. –L. Lee, E. A. Karlsson, P. E. M. Siegbahn, B. Åkermark. Efficient photochemical water oxidation by a dinuclear molecular ruthenium complex. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1862-1865
- I. Zachos, S. K. Gaßmeyer, D. Bauer, V. Sieber, F. Hollmann, R. Kourist. Photobiocatalytic decarboxylation for olefin synthesis. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 1918-1921
- X. Chen, Q. Tang, Z. Zhao, X. Wang, B. He, L. Yu. One-step growth of well-aligned TiO2 nanorod arrays for flexible dye-sensitized solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 1945-1948
- H. Zhang, C. Zhang, R. Liu, L. Yi, H. Sun. A highly selective and sensitive fluorescent thiol probe through dual-reactive and dual-quenching groups. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2029-2032
- 64. J. –W. Lee, R. Klajn. Dual-responsive nanoparticles that aggregate under the simultaneous action of light and CO2. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2036-2039
- D. Sun, W. Liu, M. Qiu, Y. Zhang, Z. Li. Introduction of a mediator for enhancing photocatalytic performance via post-synthetic metal exchange in metal–organic frameworks (MOFs). *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2056-2059
- A. E. Pierri, P. –J. Huang, J. V. Garcia, J. G. Stanfill, M. Chui, G. Wu, N. Zheng, P. C. Ford A photoCORM nanocarrier for CO release using NIR light. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2072-2075
- E. Ruggiero, J. Hernández-Gil, J. C. Mareque-Rivas, L. Salassa. Near infrared activation of an anticancer PtIV complex by Tm-doped upconversion nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2091-2094
- T. Wang, B. Jin, Z. Jiao, G. Lu, J. Ye, Y. Bi. Electric field-directed growth and photoelectrochemical properties of cross-linked Au–ZnO hetero-nanowire arrays. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2103-2106

66

- 69. A. Maity, F. Ali, H. Agarwalla, B. Anothumakkool, A. Das. Tuning of multiple luminescence outputs and white-light emission from a single gelator molecule through an ESIPT coupled AIEE process. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 2130-2133
- C. Huang, J. Mao, X. M. Chen, J. Yang, X. W. Du. Laser-activated gold catalysts for liquidphase growth of cadmium selenide nanowires. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2145-2148
- L. Liu, P. Li, T. Wang, H. Hu, H. Jiang, H. Liu, J. Ye. Constructing a multicomponent junction for improved visible-light photocatalytic performance induced by Au nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2173-2176
- L. A. Frolova, N. P. Piven, D. K. Susarova, A. V. Akkuratov, S. D. Babenko, P. A. Troshin. ESR spectroscopy for monitoring the photochemical and thermal degradation of conjugated polymers used as electron donor materials in organic bulk heterojunction solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2242-2244
- H. Hirakawa, Y. Shiraishi, H. Sakamoto, S. Ichikawa, S. Tanaka, T. Hirai. Photocatalytic hydrogenolysis of epoxides using alcohols as reducing agents on TiO2 loaded with Pt nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2294-2297
- H. –J. Xiang, L. An, W. –W. Tang, S. –P. Yang, J. –G. Liu. Photo-controlled targeted intracellular delivery of both nitric oxide and singlet oxygen using a fluorescence-trackable ruthenium nitrosyl functional nanoplatform. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2555-2558
- Z. Liu, J. Han, K. Guo, X. Zhang, T. Hong. Jalpaite Ag3CuS2: a novel promising ternary sulfide absorber material for solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2597-2600
- S. Bakthavatsalam, A. Sarkar, A. Rakshit, S. Jain, A. Kumar, A. Datta. Tuning macrocycles to design 'turn-on' fluorescence probes for manganese(II) sensing in live cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2605-2608
- D. Sun, Y. Gao, J. Fu, X. Zeng, Z. Chen, Z. Li. Construction of a supported Ru complex on bifunctional MOF-253 for photocatalytic CO2 reduction under visible light. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2645-2648
- C. –W. Liao, R. M. Rao, S. –S. Sun. Structural diversity of new solid-state luminophores based on quinoxaline-β-ketoiminate boron difluoride complexes with remarkable fluorescence switching properties. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2656-2659
- D. Zhang, G. Gao, L. Guy, V. Robert, J. –P. Dutasta, A. Martinez. A fluorescent heteroditopic hemicryptophane cage for the selective recognition of choline phosphate. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2679-2682
- Y. Hotta, S. Fukushima, J. Motoyanagi, A. Tsuda. Photochromism in sound-induced alignment of a diarylethene supramolecular nanofiber. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2790-2793
- A. Tron, H. –P. Jacquot de Rouville, A. Ducrot, J. H. R. Tucker, M. Baroncini, A. Credi, N. D. McClenaghan. Photodriven [2]rotaxane–[2]catenane interconversion. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2810-2813
- M. Yoshimizu, R. Kobayashi, M. Saegusa, T. Takashima, H. Funakubo, K. Akiyama, Y. Matsumoto, H. Irie. Photocatalytic hydrogen evolution over β-iron silicide under infraredlight irradiation. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2818-2820
- M. Xie, J. Bian, M. Humayun, Y. Qu, Y. Feng, L. Jing. The promotion effect of surface negative electrostatic field on the photogenerated charge separation of BiVO4 and its contribution to the enhanced PEC water oxidation. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2821-2823
- C. -L. Wang, J. -Y. Liao, Y. Zhao, A. Manthiram. Template-free TiO2 hollow submicrospheres embedded with SnO2 nanobeans as a versatile scattering layer for dyesensitized solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2848-2850

67

- M. de Torres, S. Semin, I. Razdolski, J. Xu, J. A. A. W. Elemans, T. Rasing, A. E. Rowan, R. J. M. Nolte. Extended π-conjugated ruthenium zinc-porphyrin complexes with enhanced nonlinear-optical properties. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2855-2858
- J. Yu, Q. Yan, W. Chen, A. Jain, J. B. Neaton, K. A. Persson. First-principles study of electronic structure and photocatalytic properties of MnNiO3 as an alkaline oxygenevolution photocatalyst. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2867-2870
- A.-L. Fameau, A. Arnould, M. Lehmann, R. von Klitzing. Photoresponsive self-assemblies based on fatty acids. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2907-2910
- H. N. Joo, Y. J. Seo A multiplex fluorophore molecular beacon: detection of the target sequence using large Stokes shift and multiple emission signal properties. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 2939-2942
- Y. Wang, S. Kalytchuk, L. Wang, O. Zhovtiuk, K. Cepe, R. Zboril, A. L. Rogach. Carbon dot hybrids with oligomeric silsesquioxane: solid-state luminophores with high photoluminescence quantum yield and applicability in white light emitting devices. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 2950-2953
- Z. Hu, G. Huang, W. P. Lustig, F. Wang, H. Wang, S. J. Teat, D. Banerjee, D. Zhang, J. Li. Achieving exceptionally high luminescence quantum efficiency by immobilizing an AIE molecular chromophore into a metal–organic framework. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3045-3048
- K. Arai, Y. Kobayashi, J. Abe. Rational molecular designs for drastic acceleration of the color-fading speed of photochromic naphthopyrans. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3057-3060
- C. Godemann, L. Dura, D. Hollmann, K. Grabow, U. Bentrup, H. Jiao, A. Schulz, A. Brückner, T. Beweries. Highly selective visible light-induced Ti–O bond splitting in an ansa-titanocene dihydroxido complex. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3065-3068
- C. M. Gonzalez, W. –C. Wu, J. B. Tracy, B. Martin. Photochemical synthesis of sizetailored hexagonal ZnS quantum dots. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3087-3090
- Z. -P. Wang, J. -Y. Wang, J. -R. Li, M. -L. Feng, G. -D. Zou, X. -Y. Huang. [Bmim]2SbCl5: a main group metal-containing ionic liquid exhibiting tunable photoluminescence and white-light emission. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3094-3097
- Q. Zhou, B. Zhang, D. Han, R. Chen, F. Qiu, J. Wu, H. Jiang. Photo-responsive reversible assembly of gold nanoparticles coated with pillar[5]arenes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3124-3126
- H. –I. Un, S. Wu, C. –B. Huang, Z. Xu, L. Xu. A naphthalimide-based fluorescent probe for highly selective detection of histidine in aqueous solution and its application in in vivo imaging. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3143-3146
- 97. E. Meggers. Asymmetric catalysis activated by visible light. Chem. Commun., 2015, 51, 3290-3301
- A. Yuan, X. Tang, X. Qiu, K. Jiang, J. Wu, Y. Hu. Activatable photodynamic destruction of cancer cells by NIR dye/photosensitizer loaded liposomes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3340-3342
- A. Nano, M. P. Gullo, B. Ventura, N. Armaroli, A. Barbieri, R. Ziessel. Panchromatic luminescence from julolidine dyes exhibiting excited state intramolecular proton transfer. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3351-3354
- 100. T. Butler, W. A. Morris, J. Samonina-Kosicka, C. L. Fraser. Mechanochromic luminescence and aggregation induced emission for a metal-free β-diketone. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3359-3362

68

- 101. L. Stolzer, A. S. Quick, D. Abt, A. Welle, D. Naumenko, M. Lazzarino, M. Wegener, C. Barner-Kowollik, L. Fruk. Photo-induced surface encoding of gold nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3363-3366
- 102. C. Yang, Q. T. Trinh, X. Wang, Y. Tang, K. Wang, S. Huang, X. Chen, S. H. Mushrif, M. Wang. Crystallization-induced red emission of a facilely synthesized biodegradable indigo derivative. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3375-3378
- 103. C. Duan, H. Wang, B. Zhang, F. Li, X. Ou, X. Zhang. Quantitative analysis of photons' decaying pathways in Si nanowire arrays for highly efficient photoelectrochemical solar hydrogen generation. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 3383-3386
- 104. S. Xie, Y. Wang, Q. Zhang, W. Deng, Y. Wang. SrNb2O6 nanoplates as efficient photocatalysts for the preferential reduction of CO2 in the presence of H2O. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3430-3433
- 105. Y. Fan, D. Ding, D. Zhao. Two- and three-photon absorption and excitation phosphorescence of oligofluorene-substituted Ir(ppy)3. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3446-3449
- 106. M. C. So, G. P. Wiederrecht, J. E. Mondloch, J. T. Hupp, O. K. Farha Metal-organic framework materials for light-harvesting and energy transfer. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3501-3510
- 107. Q. –H. Deng, J. –R. Chen, Q. Wei, Q. –Q. Zhao, L. –Q. Lu, W. –J. Xiao. Visible-lightinduced photocatalytic oxytrifluoromethylation of N-allylamides for the synthesis of CF3containing oxazolines and benzoxazines. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3537-3540
- 108. X. Li, Z. Zheng, W. Jiang, W. Wu, Z. Wang, H. Tian. New D-A-π-A organic sensitizers for efficient dye-sensitized solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 3590-3592
- 109. Q. Yu, X. Meng, T. Wang, P. Li, L. Liu, K. Chang, G. Liu, J. Ye. A highly durable p-LaFeO3/n-Fe2O3 photocell for effective water splitting under visible light. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3630-3633
- 110. N. Saleh, M. Srebro, T. Reynaldo, N. Vanthuyne, L. Toupet, V. Y. Chang, G. Muller, J. A. G. Williams, C. Roussel, J. Autschbach, J. Crassous. Enantio-Enriched CPL-active helicene–bipyridine–rhenium complexes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3754-3757
- 111. T. Zhang, X. Qian, P. –F. Zhang, Y. –Z. Zhu, J. –Y. Zheng. A meso-meso directly linked porphyrin dimer-based double D-π-A sensitizer for efficient dye-sensitized solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 3782-3785
- 112. E. Gabrielsson, H. Tian, S. K. Eriksson, J. Gao, H. Chen, F. Li, J. Oscarsson, J. Sun, H. Rensmo, L. Kloo, A. Hagfeldt, L. Sun. Dipicolinic acid: a strong anchoring group with tunable redox and spectral behavior for stable dye-sensitized solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3858-3861
- 113. C. J. Wood, G. H. Summers, E. A. Gibson. Increased photocurrent in a tandem dyesensitized solar cell by modifications in push-pull dye-design. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3915-3918
- 114. M. –E. Ragoussi, T. Torres. New generation solar cells: concepts, trends and perspectives. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3957-3972
- 115. D. Su, C. L. Teoh, A. Samanta, N. –Y. Kang, S. –J. Park, Y. –T. Chang. The development of a highly photostable and chemically stable zwitterionic near-infrared dye for imaging applications. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 3989-3992
- 116. T. Podewin, M. S. Rampp, I. Turkanovic, K. L. Karaghiosoff, W. Zinth, A. Hoffmann-Röder . Photocontrolled chignolin-derived β-hairpin peptidomimetics. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4001-4004

- June 2015
- 117. X. Wu, X. Yang, Y. -M. Lee, W. Nam, L. Sun. A nonheme manganese(IV)-oxo species generated in photocatalytic reaction using water as an oxygen source. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4013-4016

- 118. W. Zheng, D. Tu, P. Huang, S. Zhou, Z. Chen, X. Chen. Time-resolved luminescent biosensing based on inorganic lanthanide-doped nanoprobes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4129-4143
- 119. C. Zhang, Y. Li, X. Xue, P. Chu, C. Liu, K. Yang, Y. Jiang, W. –Q. Chen, G. Zou, X. –J. Liang. A smart pH-switchable luminescent hydrogel. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 4168-4171
- 120. G. Mistlberger, M. Pawlak, E. Bakker, I. Klimant. Photodynamic optical sensor for buffer capacity and pH based on hydrogel-incorporated spiropyran. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4172-4175
- 121. Y. Liu, D. Y. Kim. Ultraviolet and blue emitting graphene quantum dots synthesized from carbon nano-onions and their comparison for metal ion sensing. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4176-4179
- 122. S. Huang, R. K. Kannadorai, Y. Chen, Q. Liu, M. Wang. A narrow-bandgap benzobisthiadiazole derivative with high near-infrared photothermal conversion efficiency and robust photostability for cancer therapy. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4223-4226
- 123. X. Ma, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhang, X. Tao, Y. Che, J. Zhao. Highly fluorescent onehanded nanotubes assembled from a chiral asymmetric perylene diimide. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4231-4233
- 124. W. Li, K. H. Hendriks, A. Furlan, A. Zhang, M. M. Wienk, R. A. J. Janssen. A regioregular terpolymer comprising two electron-deficient and one electron-rich unit for ultra small band gap solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4290-4293
- 125. G. Ma, J. Liu, T. Hisatomi, T. Minegishi, Y. Moriya, M. Iwase, H. Nishiyama, M. Katayama, T. Yamada, K. Domen. Site-selective photodeposition of Pt on a particulate Sc-La5Ti2CuS5O7 photocathode: evidence for one-dimensional charge transfer. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 4302-4305
- 126. D. Kitagawa, S. Kobatake. Photoreversible current ON/OFF switching by the photoinduced bending of gold-coated diarylethene crystals. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4421-4424
- 127. E. D. Koutsouroubi, A. K. Xylouri, G. S. Armatas. Mesoporous polyoxometalate clustercrosslinked organosilica frameworks delivering exceptionally high photocatalytic activity. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4481-4484
- 128. S. C. Rasmussen, S. J. Evenson, C. B. McCausland. Fluorescent thiophene-based materials and their outlook for emissive applications. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4528-4543
- 129. W. Dong, Y. Liu, B. Hu, K. Ren, Y. Li, X. Xie, Y. Jiang, Z. Zhang. Visible light induced radical cyclization of o-iodophenylacrylamides: a concise synthesis of indolin-2-one. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 4587-4590
- 130. L. –B. Meng, D. Li, S. Xiong, X. –Y. Hu, L. Wang, G. Li. FRET-capable supramolecular polymers based on a BODIPY-bridged pillar[5]arene dimer with BODIPY guests for mimicking the light-harvesting system of natural photosynthesis. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4643-4646
- 131. Y. Peng, L. Shang, T. Bian, Y. Zhao, C. Zhou, H. Yu, L. –Z. Wu, C. –H. Tung, T. Zhang. Flower-like CdSe ultrathin nanosheet assemblies for enhanced visible-light-driven photocatalytic H2 production. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 4677-4680
- 132. X. -S. Li, M. -R. Ke, M. -F. Zhang, Q. -Q. Tang, B. -Y. Zheng, J. -D. Huang. A nonaggregated and tumour-associated macrophage-targeted photosensitiser for photodynamic

June 2015

therapy: a novel zinc(II) phthalocyanine containing octa-sulphonates. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 4704-4707

133. W. Ni, X. Wan, M. Li, Y. Wang, Y. Chen. A–D–A small molecules for solution-processed organic photovoltaic cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 4936-4950

- 134. Z. –Q. Cao, Q. Miao, Q. Zhang, H. Li, D. –H. Qu, H. Tian. A fluorescent bistable [2]rotaxane molecular switch on SiO2 nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 4973-4976
- 135. F. Biedermann, D. Hathazi, W. M. Nau. Associative chemosensing by fluorescent macrocycle-dye complexes – a versatile enzyme assay platform beyond indicator displacement. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 4977-4980
- 136. M. Taneda, K. Shizu, H. Tanaka, C. Adachi. High efficiency thermally activated delayed fluorescence based on 1,3,5-tris(4-(diphenylamino)phenyl)-2,4,6-tricyanobenzene. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5028-5031
- 137. M. Zhou, M. Lin, L. Chen, Y. Wang, X. Guo, L. Peng, X. Guo, W. Ding. Thicknessdependent SERS activities of gold nanosheets controllably synthesized via photochemical reduction in lamellar liquid crystals. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 5116-5119
- 138. B. Kemper, Y. R. Hristova, S. Tacke, L. Stegemann, L. S. van Bezouwen, M. C. A. Stuart, J. Klingauf, C. A. Strassert, P. Besenius. Facile synthesis of a peptidic Au(I)-metalloamphiphile and its self-assembly into luminescent micelles in water. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 5253-5256
- 139. K. Mebrouk, F. Chotard, C. Le Goff-Gaillard, Y. Arlot-Bonnemains, M. Fourmigué, F. Camerel. Water-soluble nickel-bis(dithiolene) complexes as photothermal agents. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5268-5270
- 140. J. Yang, J. Zhang, L. Qi, C. Hu, Y. Chen. Visible-light-induced chemoselective reductive decarboxylative alkynylation under biomolecule-compatible conditions. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5275-5278
- 141. Y. Fu, F. Qiu, F. Zhang, Y. Mai, Y. Wang, S. Fu, R. Tang, X. Zhuang, X. Feng. A dualboron-cored luminogen capable of sensing and imaging. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5298-5301
- 142. A. Sánchez-Iglesias, A. Chuvilin, M. Grzelczak. Plasmon-driven photoregeneration of cofactor molecules. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5330-5333
- 143. Y. Chen, C. –M. Che, W. Lu. Phosphorescent organoplatinum(II) complexes with a lipophilic anion: supramolecular soft nanomaterials through ionic self-assembly and metallophilicity. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5371-5374
- 144. S. D. Woodall, A. N. Swinburne, N. Banik, A. Kerridge, P. Di Pietro, C. Adam, P. Kaden, L. S. Natrajan. Neptunyl(VI) centred visible LMCT emission directly observable in the presence of uranyl(VI). *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 5402-5405
- 145. G. He, B. D. Wiltshire, P. Choi, A. Savin, S. Sun, A. Mohammadpour, M. J. Ferguson, R. McDonald, S. Farsinezhad, A. Brown, K. Shankar, E. Rivard. Phosphorescence within benzotellurophenes and color tunable tellurophenes under ambient conditions. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 5444-5447
- 146. A. S. Al-Shereiqi, B. J. Boyd, K. Saito. Photo-responsive self-assemblies based on bioinspired DNA-base containing bolaamphiphiles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5460-5462
- 147. A. P. K. Mahrok, E I. Carrera, A. J. Tilley, S. Ye, D. S. Seferos. Synthesis and photophysical properties of platinum-acetylide copolymers with thiophene, selenophene and tellurophene. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 5475-5478
- 148. J. Mosquera, M. I. Sánchez, J. L. Mascareñas, M. E. Vázquez. Synthetic peptides caged on histidine residues with a bisbipyridyl ruthenium(II) complex that can be photolyzed by visible light. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5501-5504

- June 2015
- 149. R. F. Tabor, M. J. Pottage, C. J. Garvey, B. L. Wilkinson. Light-induced structural evolution of photoswitchable carbohydrate-based surfactant micelles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5509-5512

- 150. N. Song, D. –X. Chen, M. –C. Xia, X. –L. Qiu, K. Ma, B. Xu, W. Tian, Y. –W. Yang. Supramolecular assembly-induced yellow emission of 9,10-distyrylanthracene bridged bis(pillar[5]arene)s. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5526-5529
- 151. Z. Hu, K. Zhang, F. Huang, Y. Cao. Water/alcohol soluble conjugated polymers for the interface engineering of highly efficient polymer light-emitting diodes and polymer solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 5572-5585
- 152. O. Planas, T. Gallavardin, S. Nonell. A novel fluoro-chromogenic click reaction for the labelling of proteins and nanoparticles with near-IR theranostic agents. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5586-5589
- 153. A. Anastasaki, V. Nikolaou, F. Brandford-Adams, G. Nurumbetov, Q. Zhang, G. J. Clarkson, D. J. Fox, P. Wilson, K, Kempe, D. M. Haddleton. Photo-induced living radical polymerization of acrylates utilizing a discrete copper(II)–formate complex. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 5626-5629
- 154. S. Wu, X. Zhu, J. Yang, J. Nie. A facile photopolymerization method for fabrication of pH and light dual reversible stimuli-responsive surfaces. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5649-5651
- 155. L. –B. Liu, S. Qin, J. –J. Wang, W. –J. Zheng, X. –W. Du. Photothermal synthesis of ultrafine CuxO nanoparticles on carbon nanotubes for photosensitized degradation. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5660-5663
- 156. M. Nafiujjaman, V. Revuri, M. Nurunnabi, K. J. Cho, Y. -k. Lee. Photosensitizer conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles for simultaneous in vitro magneto-fluorescent imaging guided photodynamic therapy. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 5687-5690
- 157. K. A. Brown, Y. Zou, D. Shirvanyants, J. Zhang, S. Samanta, P. K. Mantravadi, N. V. Dokholyan, A. Deiters. Light-cleavable rapamycin dimer as an optical trigger for protein dimerization. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 5702-5705
- 158. K. Murata, K. Saito, S. Kikuchi, M. Akita, A. Inagaki, Visible-light-controlled homo- and copolymerization of styrenes by a bichromophoric Ir–Pd catalyst. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5717-5720
- 159. Y. Lee, S. Kim, J. K. Kang, S. M. Cohen. Photocatalytic CO2 reduction by a mixed metal (Zr/Ti), mixed ligand metal-organic framework under visible light irradiation. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 5735-5738
- 160. R. E. Kohman, X. Han. Light sensitization of DNA nanostructures via incorporation of photo-cleavable spacers. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5747-5750
- 161. K. Zheng, W. Lin, D. Cheng, H. Chen, Y. Liu, K. Liu. A two-photon fluorescent turn-on probe for nitroxyl (HNO) and its bioimaging application in living tissues. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5754-5757
- 162. J. Lalevée, R. Poupart, J. Bourgon, J.-P. Fouassier, D.-L. Versace. In situ production of visible light absorbing Ti-based nanoparticles in solution and in a photopolymerizable cationic matrix. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 5762-5765
- 163. T. Repenko, S. Fokong, L. De Laporte, D. Go, F. Kiessling, T. Lammers, A. J. C. Kuehne. Water-soluble dopamine-based polymers for photoacoustic imaging. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 6084-6087
- 164. L. A. Frolova, P. A. Troshin, D. K. Susarova, A. V. Kulikov, N. A. Sanina, S. M. Aldoshin. Photoswitchable organic field-effect transistors and memory elements comprising an interfacial photochromic layer. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6130-6132

- June 2015
- 165. Y. Chen, Y. Zhu, D. Yang, Q. Luo, L. Yang, Y. Huang, S. Zhao, Z. Lu. Asymmetrical squaraines for high-performance small-molecule organic solar cells with a short circuit current of over 12 mA cm-2. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6133-6136

- 166. R. J. Meier, J. M. B. Simbürger, T. Soukka, M. Schäferling. A FRET based pH probe with a broad working range applicable to referenced ratiometric dual wavelength and luminescence lifetime read out. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6145-6148
- 167. P. Sullivan, G. E. Collis, L. A. Rochford, J. Ferreira Arantes, P. Kemppinen, T. S. Jones, K. N. Winzenberg. An N-ethylated barbituric acid end-capped bithiophene as an electron-acceptor material in fullerene-free organic photovoltaics. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6222-6225
- 168. K. Feng, X. Xu, Z. Li, Y. Li, K. Li, T. Yu, Q. Peng. Low band gap benzothiophenethienothiophene copolymers with conjugated alkylthiothieyl and alkoxycarbonyl cyanovinyl side chains for photovoltaic applications. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 6290-6292
- 169. D. Gopalakrishnan, D. Damien, B. Li, H. Gullappalli, V. K. Pillai, P. M. Ajayan, M. M. Shaijumon. Electrochemical synthesis of luminescent MoS2 quantum dots. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6293-6296
- 170. K. Kakiage, Y. Aoyama, T. Yano, K. Oya, T. Kyomen, M. Hanaya. Fabrication of a high-performance dye-sensitized solar cell with 12.8% conversion efficiency using organic silyl-anchor dyes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 6315-6317
- 171. J. Wang, D. Qin, J. Lan, Y. Cheng, S. Zhang, Q. Guo, J. Wu, D. Wu, J. You. Rh-catalysed direct cyclisation of 1,4-naphthoquinone and 9,10-phenanthraquinone with alkyne: facile access to 1,8-dioxapyrenes and 1,12-dioxaperylenes as orange and red-emitting luminophores. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6337-6339
- 172. J. Li, Y. Li, S. A. Shahzad, J. Chen, Y. Chen, Y. Wang, M. Yang, C. Yu. Fluorescence turnon detection of glucose via the Ag nanoparticle mediated release of a perylene probe. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6354-6356
- 173. T. Hering, T. Slanina, A. Hancock, U. Wille, B. König. Visible light photooxidation of nitrate: the dawn of a nocturnal radical. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 6568-6571
- 174. Y. Zorlu, U. Kumru, Ü. İşci, B. Divrik, E. Jeanneau, F. Albrieux, Y. Dede, V. Ahsen, F. Dumoulin. 1,4,8,11,15,18,22,25-Alkylsulfanyl phthalocyanines: effect of macrocycle distortion on spectroscopic and packing properties. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6580-6583
- 175. Y. Ma, Y. Jia, Z. Jiao, M. Yang, Y. Qi, Y. Bi. Hierarchical Bi2MoO6 nanosheet-built frameworks with excellent photocatalytic properties. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 6655-6658
- 176. Y. Mao, K. Liu, G. Lv, Y. Wen, X. Zhu, H. Lan, T. Yi. CB[8] gated photochromism of a diarylethene derivative containing thiazole orange groups. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 6667-6670
- 177. A. Yuan, B. Laing, Y. Hu, X. Ming. Direct oligonucleotide–photosensitizer conjugates for photochemical delivery of antisense oligonucleotides. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6678-6680
- 178. M. Chen, J. A. Johnson. Improving photo-controlled living radical polymerization from trithiocarbonates through the use of continuous-flow techniques. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 6742-6745
- 179. Y. -L. Hou, H. Xu, R. -R. Cheng, B. Zhao. Controlled lanthanide-organic framework nanospheres as reversible and sensitive luminescent sensors for practical applications. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6769-6772
- 180. F. He, G. Chen, Y. Yu, Y. Zhou, Y. Zheng, S. Hao. The synthesis of condensed C-PDA-g-C3N4 composites with superior photocatalytic performance. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 6824-6827
June 2015

181. H. Chen, W. Lin, W. Jiang, B. Dong, H. Cui, Y. Tang. Locked-flavylium fluorescent dyes with tunable emission wavelengths based on intramolecular charge transfer for multi-color ratiometric fluorescence imaging. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 6968-6971

- 182. G. –C. Fan, H. Zhu, Q. Shen, L. Han, M. Zhao, J. –R. Zhang, J. –J. Zhu. Enhanced photoelectrochemical aptasensing platform based on exciton energy transfer between CdSeTe alloyed quantum dots and SiO2@Au nanocomposites. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7023-7026
- 183. C. C. Warford, C. –J. Carling, N. R. Branda. From slow to fast the user controls the rate of the release of molecules from masked forms using a photoswitch and different types of light. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7039-7042
- 184. J. Zhang, Z. Hu, L. Huang, G. Yue, J. Liu, X. Lu, Z. Hu, M. Shang, L. Han, Y. Zhu. Bifunctional alkyl chain barriers for efficient perovskite solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7047-7050
- 185. P. Zhang, T. Tachikawa, M. Fujitsuka, T. Majima. Efficient charge separation on 3D architectures of TiO2 mesocrystals packed with a chemically exfoliated MoS2 shell in synergetic hydrogen evolution. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7187-7190
- 186. J. Xu, C. Pan, T. Takata, K. Domen. Photocatalytic overall water splitting on the perovskitetype transition metal oxynitride CaTaO2N under visible light irradiation. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7191-7194
- 187. P. Xu, K. Hu, Z. Gu, Y. Cheng, C. Zhu. Visible light promoted carbodifluoroalkylation of allylic alcohols via concomitant 1,2-aryl migration. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7222-7225
- 188. S. Murcia-López, K. Villa, T. Andreu, J. R. Morante. Improved selectivity for partial oxidation of methane to methanol in the presence of nitrite ions and BiVO4 photocatalyst. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7249-7252
- 189. T. -H. Wang, T. -W. Huang, Y. -C. Tsai, Y. -W. Chang, C. -S. Liao. A photoluminescent layer for improving the performance of dye-sensitized solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7253-7256
- 190. C. Li, T. Wang, Z. Luo, D. Zhang, J. Gong. Transparent ALD-grown Ta2O5 protective layer for highly stable ZnO photoelectrode in solar water splitting. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7290-7293
- 191. P. Cottingham, D. C. Wallace, K. Hu, G. Meyer, T. M. McQueen. Thermally-activated recombination in one component of (CH3NH3)PbI3/TiO2 observed by photocurrent spectroscopy. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7309-7312
- 192. G. Panzarasa, G. Soliveri, K. Sparnacci, S. Ardizzone. Patterning of polymer brushes made easy using titanium dioxide: direct and remote photocatalytic lithography. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7313-7316
- 193. J. Wang, H. –Y. Zhang, X. –J. Zhang, Z. –H. Song, X. –J. Zhao, Y. Liu. Light-controlled reversible formation and dissociation of nanorods via interconversion of pseudorotaxanes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7329-7332
- 194. S. Gago, N. Basílio, A. J. Moro, F. Pina. Flavylium based dual photochromism: addressing cis–trans isomerization and ring opening-closure by different light inputs. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7349-7351
- 195. W. Yang, S. Yang, P. Li, L. Wang. Visible-light initiated oxidative cyclization of phenyl propiolates with sulfinic acids to coumarin derivatives under metal-free conditions. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7520-7523
- 196. I. E. Kuznetsov, A. V. Akkuratow, D. K. Susarova, D. V. Anokhin, Y. L. Moskvin, M. V. Kluyev, A. S. Peregudov, P. A. Troshin. Statistical carbazole-fluorene-TTBTBTT

June 2015

terpolymers as promising electron donor materials for organic solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 7562-7564

197. A. C. Bhasikuttan, J. Mohanty. Targeting G-quadruplex structures with extrinsic fluorogenic dyes: promising fluorescence sensors. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7581-7597

- 198. M. Li, P. Li, K. Chang, T. Wang, L. Liu, Q. Kang, S. Ouyang, J. Ye. Highly efficient and stable photocatalytic reduction of CO2 to CH4 over Ru loaded NaTaO3. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7645-7648
- 199. M. Długosz, A. Kwiecień, P. Żmudzki, B. Bober, J. Krzek, J. Białczyk, M. Nowakowska, K. Szczubiałka. A hybrid adsorbent/visible light photocatalyst for the abatement of microcystin-LR in water. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7649-7652
- 200. J. Y. Kim, W. S. Yun, H. –J. Son, J. D. Lee, N. C. Jeong. A ruthenium complex as a singlecomponent redox shuttle for electrochemical photovoltaics. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7745-7748
- 201. J. Boixel, V. Guerchais, H. Le Bozec, A. Chantzis, D. Jacquemin, A. Colombo, C. Dragonetti, D. Marinotto, D. Roberto. Sequential double second-order nonlinear optical switch by an acido-triggered photochromic cyclometallated platinum(II) complex. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7805-7808
- 202. L. Sementa, G. Barcaro, A. Dass, M. Stener, A. Fortunelli. Designing ligand-enhanced optical absorption of thiolated gold nanoclusters. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 7935-7938
- 203. Q. Xu, J. Yu, J. Zhang, J. Zhang, G. Liu. Cubic anatase TiO2 nanocrystals with enhanced photocatalytic CO2 reduction activity. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 7950-7953
- 204. S. -F. Lai, H. -R. Tan, E. S. Tok, Y. -H. Chen, E. B. L. Ong, M. -T. Li, Y. -Y. Chen, F. -C. Chien, P. Chen, G. Margaritondo, Y. Hwu. Optimization of gold nanoparticle photoluminescence by alkanethiolation. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 7954-7957
- 205. M. Furutani, A. Uemura, A. Shigenaga, C. Komiya, A. Otaka, K. Matsuura. A photoinduced growth system of peptide nanofibres addressed by DNA hybridization. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8020-8022
- 206. C. A. Dodson, C. J. Wedge, M. Murakami, K. Maeda, M. I. Wallace, P. J. Hore. Fluorescence-detected magnetic field effects on radical pair reactions from femtolitre volumes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8023-8026
- 207. R. García, M. Melle-Franco, A. Mateo-Alonso. A short pyrene-fused pyrazaacene with red to near-infrared photoluminescence. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8037-8040
- 208. S. Ho Song, M. -H. Jang, J. -M. Jeong, H. Yoon, Y. -H. Cho, W. -I. Jeong, B. -H. Kim, S. Jeon. Primary hepatocyte imaging by multiphoton luminescent graphene quantum dots. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8041-8043
- 209. K. Ohkubo, N. Kohno, Y. Yamada, S. Fukuzumi. Singlet oxygen generation from Li+@C60 nano-aggregates dispersed by laser irradiation in aqueous solution. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8082-8085
- 210. T. Tanaka, A. Osuka. Tetracoordinate silicon complexes of 1,2-bis(indol-2-yl)benzene as blue-emitting dyes in the solid state. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8123-8125
- 211. A. B. Sieval, N. D. Treat, D. Rozema, J. C. Hummelen, N. Stingelin. Diels–Alders adducts of C60 and esters of 3-(1-indenyl)-propionic acid: alternatives for [60]PCBM in polymer:fullerene solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 8126-8129
- 212. G. A. Bullen, J. H. R. Tucker, A. F. A. Peacock. Exploiting anthracene photodimerization within peptides: light induced sequence-selective DNA binding. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8130-8133

- June 2015
- 213. Y. Xing, X. Zheng, Y. Wu, M. Li, W. -H. Zhang, C. Li. Nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes with metal nanoparticles as counter electrode materials for dye-sensitized solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8146-8149

- 214. M. Amela-Cortes, S. Paofai, S. Cordier, H. Folliot, Y. Molard. Tuned red NIR phosphorescence of polyurethane hybrid composites embedding metallic nanoclusters for oxygen sensing. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8177-8180
- 215. N. Bridonneau, J. Long, J.-L. Cantin, J. von Bardeleben, S. Pillet, E.-E. Bendeif, D. Aravena, E. Ruiz, V. Marvaud. First evidence of light-induced spin transition in molybdenum(IV). *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8229-8232
- 216. R. Tao, T. Umeyama, T. Higashino, T. Koganezawa, H. Imahori. A single cis-2 regioisomer of ethylene-tethered indene dimer–fullerene adduct as an electron-acceptor in polymer solar cells. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8233-8236
- 217. R. Rakauskaitė, G. Urbanavičiūtė, A. Rukšėnaitė, Z. Liutkevičiūtė, R. Juškėnas, V. Masevičius, S. Klimašauskas. Biosynthetic selenoproteins with genetically-encoded photocaged selenocysteines. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8245-8248
- 218. F. Dong, T. Xiong, Y. Sun, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhou. Controlling interfacial contact and exposed facets for enhancing photocatalysis via 2D–2D heterostructures. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8249-8252
- 219. J. F. Franz, W. B. Kraus, K. Zeitler. No photocatalyst required versatile, visible light mediated transformations with polyhalomethanes. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8280-8283
- 220. Z. -Y. Ma, Y. -F. Ruan, N. Zhang, W. -W. Zhao, J. -J. Xu, H. -Y. Chen. A new visiblelight-driven photoelectrochemical biosensor for probing DNA-protein interactions. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8381-8384
- 221. N. M. Reis, G. Li Puma. A novel microfluidic approach for extremely fast and efficient photochemical transformations in fluoropolymer microcapillary films. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8414-8417
- 222. B. Mühldorf, R. Wolf. Photocatalytic benzylic C–H bond oxidation with a flavin scandium complex. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 8425-8428
- 223. M. M. Dcona, Q. Yu, J. A. Capobianco, M. C. T. Hartman. Near infrared light mediated release of doxorubicin using upconversion nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8477-8479
- 224. J. Kaur, B. Pal. Selective formation of benzo[c]cinnoline by photocatalytic reduction of 2,2'dinitrobiphenyl using TiO2 and under UV light irradiation. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8500-8503
- 225. J. L. –L. Tsai, A. O. –Y. Chan, C. –M. Che. A luminescent cyclometalated gold(III)–avidin conjugate with a long-lived emissive excited state that binds to proteins and DNA and possesses anti-proliferation capacity. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8547-8550
- 226. K. Lv, A. W. Perriman, S. Mann. Photocatalytic multiphase micro-droplet reactors based on complex coacervation. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8600-8602
- 227. S. Cao, Y. Chen, C. -J. Wang, X. -J. Lv, W. -F. Fu. Spectacular photocatalytic hydrogen evolution using metal-phosphide/CdS hybrid catalysts under sunlight irradiation. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8708-8711
- 228. J. D. Knoll, B. A. Albani, C. Turro. Excited state investigation of a new Ru(II) complex for dual reactivity with low energy light. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8777-8780
- 229. L. H. Urner, B. N. S. Thota, O. Nachtigall, S. Warnke, G. von Helden, R. Haag, K. Pagel. Online monitoring the isomerization of an azobenzene-based dendritic bolaamphiphile using ion mobility-mass spectrometry. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8801-8804

- June 2015
- 230. B. Garg, Y. –C. Ling. A highly selective phenothiazine-based fluorescence 'turn-on' indicator based on cyanide-promoted novel protection/deprotection mechanism. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 8809-8812

76

- 231. D. Qi, X. Yan, L. Wang, J. Zhang. Plasmon-free SERS self-monitoring of catalysis reaction on Au nanoclusters/TiO2 photonic microarray. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 8813-8816
- 232. Y. Li, H. Sugiyama. Photoreactivity of the linker region of two consecutive G-quadruplexes formed by human telomeric DNA. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 8861-8864
- 233. S. Zhang, Y. Wang, F. Meng, C. Dai, Y. Cheng, C. Zhu. Circularly polarized luminescence of AIE-active chiral O-BODIPYs induced via intramolecular energy transfer. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 9014-9017
- 234. W. Niu, H. Chen, R. Chen, J. Huang, H. Sun, A. I. Y. Tok. NaYF4:Yb,Er–MoS2: from synthesis and surface ligand stripping to negative infrared photoresponse. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 9030-9033
- 235. K. E. Knowles, T. B. Kilburn, D. G. Alzate, S. McDowall, D. R. Gamelin. Bright CuInS2/CdS nanocrystal phosphors for high-gain full-spectrum luminescent solar concentrators. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 9129-9132
- 236. A. Gandioso, E. Shaili, A. Massaguer, G. Artigas, A. González-Cantó, J. A. Woods, P. J. Sadler, V. Marchán. An integrin-targeted photoactivatable Pt(IV) complex as a selective anticancer pro-drug synthesis and photoactivation studies. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 9169-9172
- 237. S. J. Lee, J. –Y. Kim, H. P. Kim, D. Kim, W. J. da Silva, F. K. Schneider, A. R. bin Mohd Yusoff, J. Jang. An organic photovoltaic featuring graphene nanoribbons. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 9185-9188
- 238. W. Chen, M. Chen, Q. Zang, L. Wang, F. Tang, Y. Han, C. Yang, L Deng, Y. –N. Liu. NIR light controlled release of caged hydrogen sulfide based on upconversion nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 9193-9196
- 239. E. Rousset, D. Chartrand, I. Ciofini, V. Marvaud, G. S. Hanan. Red-light-driven photocatalytic hydrogen evolution using a ruthenium quaterpyridine complex. *Chem. Commun.*, **2015**, *51*, 9261-9264
- 240. P. Xing, H. Chen, L. Bai, Y. Zhao. Photo-triggered transformation from vesicles to branched nanotubes fabricated by a cholesterol-appended cyanostilbene. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 9309-9312
- 241. N. Rubio, L. M. Hirvonen, E. Z. Chong, J. T. W. Wang, M. Bourgognon, H. Kafa, H. A. F. M. Hassan, W. T. Al-Jamal, D. McCarthy, C. Hogstrand, F. Festy, K. T. Al-Jamal. Multiphoton luminescence imaging of chemically functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes in cells and solid tumors. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, *51*, 9366-9369
- 242. P. Hu, C. K. Ngaw, Y. Y. Tay, S. Cao, J. Barber, T. T. Y. Tan, S. C. J. Loo. A "uniform" heterogeneous photocatalyst: integrated p-n type CuInS2/NaInS2 nanosheets by partial ion exchange reaction for efficient H2 evolution. *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, 51, 9381-9384

Chemistry European Journal

 F. Hinkel, D. Cho, W. Pisula, M. Baumgarten, K. Müllen, Alternating Donor-Acceptor Arrays from Hexa-peri-hexabenzocoronene and Benzothiadiazole: Synthesis, Optical Properties, and Self-Assembly, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2015, *21*, 86–90

77

- Z. Zhang, R. M. Edkins, J. Nitsch, K. Fucke, A. Eichhorn, A. Steffen, Y. Wang, T. B. Marder, D–π–A Triarylboron Compounds with Tunable Push–Pull Character Achieved by Modification of Both the Donor and Acceptor Moieties, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2015, *21*, 177–190
- H. Braunschweig, S. Ghosh, J. O. C. Jimenez-Halla, J. H. Klein, C. Lambert, K. Radacki, A. Steffen, A. Vargas, J. Wahler, A Combined Experimental and Theoretical Study on the Isomers of 2,3,4,5-Tetracarba-nido-Hexaborane(6) Derivatives and Their Photophysical Properties, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2015, *21*, 210–218
- A. Vecchi, N. R. Erickson, J. R. Sabin, B. Floris, V. Conte, M. Venanzi, P. Galloni, V. N. Nemykin, Electronic Properties of Mono-Substituted Tetraferrocenyl Porphyrins in Solution and on a Gold Surface: Assessment of the Influencing Factors for Photoelectrochemical Applications, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 269–279
- Z. Shi, Q. Han, L. Yang, H. Yang, X. Tang, W. Dou, Z. Li, Y. Zhang, Y. Shao, L. Guan, W. Liu, A Highly Selective Two-Photon Fluorescent Probe for Detection of Cadmium(II) Based on Intramolecular Electron Transfer and its Imaging in Living Cells, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 290–297
- L. Grösch, Y. Joo Lee, F. Hoffmann, M. Fröba, Light-Harvesting Three-Chromophore Systems Based on Biphenyl-Bridged Periodic Mesoporous Organosilica, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 331–346
- T. Shoji, A. Maruyama, C. Yaku, N. Kamata, S. Ito, T. Okujima, K. Toyota, Synthesis, Properties, and Redox Behavior of 1,1,4,4-Tetracyano-2-ferrocenyl-1,3-butadienes Connected by Aryl, Biaryl, and Teraryl Spacers, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 402–409
- M. Zhang, M. Lyu, H. Yu, J. –H. Yun, Q. Wang, L. Wang, Stable and Low-Cost Mesoscopic CH3NH3PbI2Br Perovskite Solar Cells by using a Thin Poly(3-hexylthiophene) Layer as a Hole Transporter, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 434–439
- D. Roldan, S. Cobo, F. Lafolet, N. Vilà, C. Bochot, C. Bucher, E. Saint-Aman, M. Boggio-Pasqua, M. Garavelli, G. Royal, A Multi-Addressable Switch Based on the Dimethyldihydropyrene Photochrome with Remarkable Proton-Triggered Photo-opening Efficiency, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 455–467
- M. Baar, S. Blechert, Graphitic Carbon Nitride Polymer as a Recyclable Photoredox Catalyst for Fluoroalkylation of Arenes, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 526–530
- D. -Y. Kim, S. -A Lee, M. Park, K. -U. Jeong, Dual Photo-functionalized Amphiphile for Photo-reversible Liquid Crystal Alignments, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 545–548
- M. Sayed, F. Biedermann, V. D. Uzunova, K. I. Assaf, A. C. Bhasikuttan, H. Pal, W. M. Nau, J. Mohanty, Triple Emission from p-Dimethylaminobenzonitrile-Cucurbit[8]uril Triggers the Elusive Excimer Emission, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 691–696
- A. K. C. Mengel, C. Förster, A. Breivogel, K. Mack, J. R. Ochsmann, F. Laquai, V. Ksenofontov, K. Heinze, A Heteroleptic Push–Pull Substituted Iron(II) Bis(tridentate) Complex with Low-Energy Charge-Transfer States, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 704–714
- J. M. Delgado, A. Raymundo, M. Vilarigues, L. C. Branco, C. A. T. Laia, Characterization of a Novel Intrinsic Luminescent Room-Temperature Ionic Liquid Based on [P6,6,6,14][ANS], *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 726–732
- H. Chen, W. Lin, H. Cui, W. Jiang. Development of Unique Xanthene–Cyanine Fused Near-Infrared Fluorescent Fluorophores with Superior Chemical Stability for Biological Fluorescence Imaging. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 733–745
- B. Liu, H. Fang, X. Li, W. Cai, L. Bao, M. Rudolf, F. Plass, L. Fan, X. Lu, D. M. Guldi. Synthesis and Photophysical Properties of a Sc3N@C80-Corrole Electron Donor–Acceptor Conjugate. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 746–752.

78

- L. Moni, M. Denißen, G. Valentini, T. J. J. Müller, R. Riva. Diversity-Oriented Synthesis of Intensively Blue Emissive 3-Hydroxyisoquinolines by Sequential Ugi Four-Component Reaction/Reductive Heck Cyclization. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 753–762
- C. -H. Chen, K. Satyanarayana, Y. -H. Liu, S. -L. Huang, T. -S. Lim, T. -Yau Luh. Excimer Formation in a Confined Space: Photophysics of Ladderphanes with Tetraarylethylene. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 800–807
- K. Sreenath, Z. Yuan, J. R. Allen, Mi. W. Davidson, L. Zhu. A Fluorescent Indicator for Imaging Lysosomal Zinc(II) with Förster Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET)-Enhanced Photostability and a Narrow Band of Emission. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 867–874
- W. Miao, L. Qin, D. Yang, X. Jin, M. Liu. Multiple-Stimulus-Responsive Supramolecular Gels of Two Components and Dual Chiroptical Switches. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 1064–1072
- P. Kos, H. Plenio. Metal Complexes of a Boron-Dipyrromethene (BODIPY)-Tagged N-Heterocyclic Carbene (NHC) as Luminescent Carbon Monoxide Chemodosimeters. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 1088–1095
- J. Nafe, S. Herbert, F. Auras, K. Karaghiosoff, T. Bein, P. Knochel. Functionalization of Quinoxalines by Using TMP Bases: Preparation of Tetracyclic Heterocycles with High Photoluminescene Quantum Yields. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1102–1107
- A. Kremer, E. Biedot, A. Zanelli, J. M. Malicka, N. Armaroli, D. Bonifazi. Versatile Bisethynyl[60]fulleropyrrolidine Scaffolds for Mimicking Artificial Light-Harvesting Photoreaction Centers. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1108–1117
- Q. Qi, J. Qian, S. Ma, B. Xu, S. X. –A. Zhang, W. Tian. Reversible Multistimuli-Response Fluorescent Switch Based on Tetraphenylethene–Spiropyran Molecules. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 1149–1155
- P. M. Antoni, A. Naik, I. Albert, R. Rubbiani, S. Gupta, P. Ruiz-Sanchez, P. Munikorn, J. M. Mateos, V. Luginbuehl, P. Thamyongkit, U. Ziegler, G. Gasser, G. Jeschke, B. Spingler. (Metallo)porphyrins as Potent Phototoxic Anti-Cancer Agents after Irradiation with Red Light. *Chem.. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1179–1183
- B. Wang, D. P. Shelar, X. –Z. Han, T. –T. Li, X. Guan, W. Lu, K. Liu, Y. Chen, W. –F. Fu, C. –M. Che. Long-Lived Excited States of Zwitterionic Copper(I) Complexes for Photoinduced Cross-Dehydrogenative Coupling Reactions. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1184– 1190
- X. –Y. Hu, K. Jia, Y. Cao, Y. Li, S. Qin, F. Zhou, C. Lin, D. Zhang, L. Wang. Dual Photoand pH-Responsive Supramolecular Nanocarriers Based on Water-Soluble Pillar[6]arene and Different Azobenzene Derivatives for Intracellular Anticancer Drug Delivery. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 1208–1220
- A. S. Konev, A. F. Khlebnikov, P. I. Prolubnikov, A. S. Mereshchenko, A. V. Povolotskiy, O. V. Levin, A. Hirsch. Synthesis of New Porphyrin–Fullerene Dyads Capable of Forming Charge-Separated States on a Microsecond Lifetime Scale. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1237–1250
- J. Dobkowski, P. Wnuk, J. Buczyńska, M. Pszona, G. Orzanowska, D. Frath, G. Ulrich, J. Massue, S. Mosquera-Vázquez, E. Vauthey, C. Radzewicz, R. Ziessel, J. Waluk. Substituent and Solvent Effects on the Excited State Deactivation Channels in Anils and Boranils. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1312–1327
- I. Gracia, B. Feringán, J. L. Serrano, R. Termine, A. Golemme, A. Omenat, J. Barberá. Functional Carbazole Liquid-Crystal Block Codendrimers with Optical and Electronic Properties. *Chem Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 1359–1369

- A. Diac, D. Demeter, M. Allain, I. Grosu, J. Roncali. Simple and Versatile Molecular Donors for Organic Photovoltaics Prepared by Metal-Free Synthesis. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21,1598–1608

79

- J. Bordello, M. I. Sánchez, M. E. Vázquez, J. L. Mascareñas, W. Al-Soufi, M. Novo. Fluorescence-Labeled Bis-benzamidines as Fluorogenic DNA Minor-Groove Binders: Photophysics and Binding Dynamics. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*,1609–1619
- 33. S. Fuertes, H. García, M. Perálvarez, W. Hertog, J. Carreras, V. Sicilia. Stepwise Strategy to Cyclometallated PtII Complexes with N-Heterocyclic Carbene Ligands: A Luminescence Study on New β-Diketonate Complexes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1620–1631
- T. Hirose, Y. Tsunoi, Y. Fujimori, K. Matsuda. Fluorescence Enhancement of Covalently Linked 1-Cyano-1,2-diphenylethene Chromophores with Naphthalene-1,8-diyl Linker Units: Analysis Based on Kinetic Constants. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 1637–1644.
- N. Saleh, B. Moore II, M. Srebro, N. Vanthuyne, L. Toupet, J. A. G. Williams, C. Roussel, K. K. Deol, G. Muller, J. Autschbach, J. Crassous. Acid/Base-Triggered Switching of Circularly Polarized Luminescence and Electronic Circular Dichroism in Organic and Organometallic Helicenes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1673–1681
- 36. P. Mayorga Burrezo, B. Pelado, R. Ponce Ortiz, P. De la Cruz, J. T. López Navarrete, F. Langa, J. Casado. Robust Ethylenedioxythiophene–Vinylene Oligomers from Fragile Thiophene–Vinylene Cores: Synthesis and Optical, Chemical and Electrochemical Properties of Multicharged Shapes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*,1713–1725.
- B. D. Gutiérrez-Ramos, J. Bañuelos, T. Arbeloa, I. López Arbeloa, P. E. González-Navarro, K. Wrobel, L. Cerdán, I. García-Moreno, A. Costela, E. Peña-Cabrera. Straightforward Synthetic Protocol for the Introduction of Stabilized C Nucleophiles in the BODIPY Core for Advanced Sensing and Photonic Applications. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 1755–1764
- S. Omomo, Y. Maruyama, K. Furukawa, T. Furuyama, H. Nakano, N. Kobayashi, Y. Matano. Optical, Electrochemical, and Magnetic Properties of Pyrrole- and Thiophene-Bridged 5,15-Diazaporphyrin Dimers. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2003–2010
- G. Dai, J. Chang, X. Shi, W. Zhang, B. Zheng, K. –W. Huang, C. Chi. Thienoacene-Fused Pentalenes: Syntheses, Structures, Physical Properties and Applications for Organic Field-Effect Transistors. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2019–2028
- I. Takashima, R. Kawagoe, I. Hamachi, A. Ojida. Development of an AND Logic-Gate-Type Fluorescent Probe for Ratiometric Imaging of Autolysosome in Cell Autophagy. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2038–2044
- Y. H. Lee, J. Park, S. –J. Jo, M. Kim, J. Lee, S. U. Lee, M. H. Lee. Manipulation of Phosphorescence Efficiency of Cyclometalated Iridium Complexes by Substituted o-Carboranes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2052–2061
- B. –C. Tzeng, A. Chao. Single-Crystal-to-Single-Crystal Transformation and Solvochromic Luminescence of a Dinuclear Gold(I)–(Aza-[18]crown-6)dithiocarbamate Compound. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2083–2089.
- Y. Wang, B. Yuan, Y. -Y. Xu, X. -G. Wang, B. Ding, X. -J. Zhao. Turn-On Fluorescence and Unprecedented Encapsulation of Large Aromatic Molecules within a Manganese(II)– Triazole Metal–Organic Confined Space. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2107–2116
- G. Li, K. Hu, K. C. D. Robson, S. I. Gorelsky, G. J. Meyer, C. P. Berlinguette, M. Shatruk. Tris-Heteroleptic Ruthenium–Dipyrrinate Chromophores in a Dye-Sensitized Solar Cell. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 2173–2181

80

- 45. C. –T. Poon, W. H. Iam, H. –L. Wong, V. W. –W. Yam. Photochromic Dithienylethene-Containing Triarylborane Derivatives: Facile Approach to Modulate Photochromic Properties with Multi-addressable Functions. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2182–2192
- X. Shen, S. Li, L. Li, S. Q. Yao, Q. –H. Xu. Highly Efficient, Conjugated-Polymer-Based Nano-Photosensitizers for Selectively Targeted Two-Photon Photodynamic Therapy and Imaging of Cancer Cells. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2214–2221
- C. Quinton, V. Alain-Rizzo, C. Dumas-Verdes, F. Miomandre, G. Clavier, P. Audebert. Redox- and Protonation-Induced Fluorescence Switch in a New Triphenylamine with Six Stable Active or Non-Active Forms. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2230–2240
- M. Nadai, F. Doria, L. Germani, S. N. Richter, M. Freccero. A Photoreactive G-Quadruplex Ligand Triggered by Green Light. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2330–2334
- G. Wang, Q. Sun, Y. Liu, B. Huang, Y. Dai, X. Zhang, X. Qin. A Bismuth-Based Metal-Organic Framework as an Efficient Visible-Light-Driven Photocatalyst. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 2364–2367
- Y. Zhang, K. Wang, G. Zhuang, Z. Xie, C. Zhang, F. Cao, G. Pan, H. Chen, B. Zou, Y. Ma. Multicolored-Fluorescence Switching of ICT-Type Organic Solids with Clear Color Difference: Mechanically Controlled Excited State. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2474–2479
- W. -K. Chu, X. -G. Wei, S. -M. Yiu, C. -C. Ko, K. -C. Lau. Strongly Phosphorescent Neutral Rhenium(I) Isocyanoborato Complexes: Synthesis, Characterization, and Photophysical, Electrochemical, and Computational Studies. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2603– 2612
- 52. W. Uhl, S. Pelties, J. Tannert, B. J. Ravoo, E. –U. Würthwein. Germacyclobutenes: Generation by 1,1-Carbalumination or 1,1-Carbagallation and Their Photophysical Properties. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2015**, *21*, 2629–2637
- V. Bandi, F. P. D'Souza, H. B. Gobeze, F. D'Souza. Multistep Energy and Electron Transfer in a "V-Configured" Supramolecular BODIPY-azaBODIPY-Fullerene Triad: Mimicry of Photosynthetic Antenna Reaction-Center Events. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2669– 2679
- P. D. Frischmann, V. Kunz, V. Stepanenko, F. Würthner. Subcomponent Self-Assembly of a 4 nm M4L6 Tetrahedron with ZnII Vertices and Perylene Bisimide Dye Edges. *Chem. Eur.* J. 2015, 21, 2766–2769
- K. Ohkubo, K. Hirose, S. Fukuzumi. Solvent-Free One-Step Photochemical Hydroxylation of Benzene Derivatives by the Singlet Excited State of 2,3-Dichloro-5,6-dicyano-pbenzoquinone Acting as a Super Oxidant. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2855–2861
- S. Shimizu, T. Iino, A. Saeki, S. Seki, N. Kobayashi. Rational Molecular Design towards Vis/NIR Absorption and Fluorescence by using Pyrrolopyrrole aza-BODIPY and its Highly Conjugated Structures for Organic Photovoltaics. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 2893–2904
- J. -i. Mamiya, A. Kuriyama, N. Yokota, M. Yamada, T. Ikeda. Photomobile Polymer Materials: Photoresponsive Behavior of Cross-Linked Liquid-Crystalline Polymers with Mesomorphic Diarylethenes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3174–3177
- W. -J. Liang, F. Wang, M. Wen, J. -X. Jian, X. -Z. Wang, B. Chen, C. -H. Tung, L. -Z. Wu. Branched Polyethylenimine Improves Hydrogen Photoproduction from a CdSe Quantum Dot/[FeFe]-Hydrogenase Mimic System in Neutral Aqueous Solutions. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3187–3192
- H. Wang, Y. Wu, Y. Shi, P. Tao, X. Fan, X. Su, G. –C. Kuang. BODIPY-Based Fluorescent Thermometer as a Lysosome-Targetable Probe: How the Oligo(ethylene glycols) Compete Photoinduced Electron Transfer. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3219–3223

June 2015

 X. –S. Li, M. –R. Ke, W. Huang, C. –H. Ye, J. –D. Huang A pH-Responsive Layered Double Hydroxide (LDH)–Phthalocyanine Nanohybrid for Efficient Photodynamic Therapy. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3310–3317

- G. -T. Xu, B. Li, J. -Y Wang, D. -B. Zhang, Z. -N. Chen. Regulation of Charge Delocalization in a Heteronuclear Fe2Ru System by a Stepwise Photochromic Process. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3318–3326
- S. Dupuy, L. Crawford, M. Bühl, S. P. Nolan. The Gold(I)-Catalysed Protodecarboxylation Mechanism. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 3399–3408
- 63. Y. Liu, K. S. Kjær, L. A. Fredin, P. Chábera, T. Harlang, S. E. Canton, S. Lidin, J. Zhang, R. Lomoth, K. –E. Bergquist, P. Persson, K. Wärnmark, V. Sundström. A Heteroleptic Ferrous Complex with Mesoionic Bis(1,2,3-triazol-5-ylidene) Ligands: Taming the MLCT Excited State of Iron(II). *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3628–3639
- 64. J. Luo, S. Lee, M. Son, B. Zheng, K. –W. Huang, Q. Qi, W. Zeng, G. Li, D. Kim, J. Wu. N-Annulated Perylene-Substituted and Fused Porphyrin Dimers with Intense Near-Infrared One-Photon and Two-Photon Absorption. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3708–3715
- 65. C. D. Windle, E. Pastor, A. Reynal, A. C. Whitwood, Y. Vaynzof, J. R. Durrant, R. N. Perutz, E. Reisner. Improving the Photocatalytic Reduction of CO2 to CO through Immobilisation of a Molecular Re Catalyst on TiO2. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3746–3754
- 66. X. –X. Xu, H. –Y. Yang, Z. –Y. Li, X. –X. Liu, X. –L. Wang. Loading of a Coordination Polymer Nanobelt on a Functional Carbon Fiber: A Feasible Strategy for Visible-Light-Active and Highly Efficient Coordination-Polymer-Based Photocatalysts. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 3821–3830
- 67. Y. –H. Lai, H. S. Park, J. Z. Zhang, P. D. Matthews, D. S. Wright, E. Reisner. A Si Photocathode Protected and Activated with a Ti and Ni Composite Film for Solar Hydrogen Production. *Chem Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 3919–3923
- M. A. Dubinnyi, A. S. Tsarkova, V. N. Petushkov, Z. M Kaskova, N. S. Rodionova, S. I. Kovalchuk, R. H. Ziganshin, M. S. Baranov, K. S. Mineev, I. V. Yampolsky. Novel Peptide Chemistry in Terrestrial Animals: Natural Luciferin Analogues from the Bioluminescent Earthworm Fridericia heliota. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3942–3947
- A. U. Petersen, S. L. Broman, S. T. Olsen, A. S. Hansen, L. Du, A. Kadziola, T. Hansen, H. G. Kjaergaard, K. V. Mikkelsen, M. B. Nielsen. Controlling Two-Step Multimode Switching of Dihydroazulene Photoswitches. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3968–3977
- K. E. Linton, M. A. Fox, L. –O. Pålsson, M. R. Bryce. Oligo(p-phenyleneethynylene) (OPE) Molecular Wires: Synthesis and Length Dependence of Photoinduced Charge Transfer in OPEs with Triarylamine and Diaryloxadiazole End Groups. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 3997– 4007
- L. Mosca, R. S. Khnayzer, M. S. Lazorski, E. O. Danilov, F. N. Castellano, P. Anzenbacher Jr. Sensing of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene (TNT) and 2,4-Dinitrotoluene (2,4-DNT) in the Solid State with Photoluminescent RuII and IrIII Complexes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4056–4064
- H. Jiang, G. Ferrara, X. Zhang, K. Oniwa, A. Islam, L. Han, Y. –J. Sun, M. Bao, N. Asao, Y. Yamamoto, T. Jin. Triflic Acid Mediated Cascade Cyclization of Aryldiynes for the Synthesis of Indeno[1,2-c]chromenes: Application to Dye-Sensitized Solar Cells. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4065–4070
- S. Huang, Q. He, W. Chen, Q. Qiao, J. Zai, X. Qian. Ultrathin FeSe2 Nanosheets: Controlled Synthesis and Application as a Heterogeneous Catalyst in Dye-Sensitized Solar Cells. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4085–4091

82

- S. Maniam, R. P. Cox, S. J. Langford, T. D. M. Bell. Unexpected Photoluminescence of Fluorinated Naphthalene Diimides. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 4133–4140
- A. Braun, F. Boudoire, D. K. Bora, G. Faccio, Y. Hu, A. Kroll, B. S. Mun, S. T. Wilson. Biological Components and Bioelectronic Interfaces of Water Splitting Photoelectrodes for Solar Hydrogen Production. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4188–4199
- L. Peng, Y. Zheng, X. Wang, A. Tong, Y. Xiang. Photoactivatable Aggregation-Induced Emission Fluorophores with Multiple-Color Fluorescence and Wavelength-Selective Activation. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 4326–4332
- 77. J. Li, J. Yang, Y. -Y. Liu, J. -F. Ma. Two Heterometallic–Organic Frameworks Composed of Iron(III)-Salen-Based Ligands and d10 Metals: Gas Sorption and Visible-Light Photocatalytic Degradation of 2-Chlorophenol. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 4413–4421
- R. Göstl, S. Hecht. Photoreversible Prodrugs and Protags: Switching the Release of Maleimides by Using Light under Physiological Conditions. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 4422– 4427
- M. Majek, F. Filace, A. J. von Wangelin. Visible Light Driven Hydro-/Deuterodefunctionalization of Anilines. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 4518–4522
- T. A. Albright, R. Drissi, V. Gandon, S. Oldenhof, O. A. Oloba-Whenu, R. Padilla, H. Shen, K. P. C. Vollhardt, V. Vreeken. A Terminal, Fluxional η4-Benzene Complex with a Thermally Accessible Triplet State is the Primary Photoproduct in the Intercyclobutadiene Haptotropism of (CpCo)phenylenes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4546–4550
- Y. Xu, X. Yin, Y. Huang, P. Du, B. Zhang. Hydrogen Production on a Hybrid Photocatalytic System Composed of Ultrathin CdS Nanosheets and a Molecular Nickel Complex. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4571–4575
- Y. Liu, W. Yang, H. Liu. Azobenzene-Functionalized Cage Silsesquioxanes as Inorganic– Organic Hybrid, Photoresponsive, Nanoscale, Building Blocks. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 4731–4738
- T. T. Tasso, T. Furuyama, N. Kobayashi. Dinitriles Bearing AIE-Active Moieties: Synthesis, E/Z Isomerization, and Fluorescence Properties. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4817–4824
- S. B. Mane, C. –H. Hung. Molecular Engineering of Boryl Oxasmaragdyrins through Peripheral Modification: Structure–Efficiency Relationship. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 4825– 4841
- H. Li, D. –e. Sun, Z. Liu. Ultrasensitive Biosensing Platform Based on the Luminescence Quenching Ability of Plasmonic Palladium Nanoparticles. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4944–4948
- J. Xuan, T. -T. Zeng, J. -R. Chen, L. -Q. Lu, W. -J. Xiao. Room Temperature C[BOND]P Bond Formation Enabled by Merging Nickel Catalysis and Visible-Light-Induced Photoredox Catalysis. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 4962–4965
- T. Aotake, M. Suzuki, K. Tahara, D. Kuzuhara, N. Aratani, N. Tamai, H. Yamada. An Optically and Thermally Switchable Electronic Structure Based on an Anthracene– BODIPY Conjugate. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 4966–4974. □
- C. D'Angelis do E. S. Barbosa, J. R. Corrêa, G. A. Medeiros, G. Barreto, K. G. Magalhães, A. L. de Oliveira, J. Spencer, M. O. Rodrigues, B. A. D. Neto. Carbon Dots (C-dots) from Cow Manure with Impressive Subcellular Selectivity Tuned by Simple Chemical Modification. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 5055–5060
- P. Wu, J. -B. Pan, X. -L. Li, X. Hou, J. -J. Xu, H. -Y. Chen. Long-Lived Charge Carriers in Mn-Doped CdS Quantum Dots for Photoelectrochemical Cytosensing. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 5129–5135

June 2015

M. Mydlak, C. –H. Yang, F. Polo, A. Galstyan, C. G. Daniliuc, M. Felicetti, J. Leonhardt, C. A. Strassert, L. De Cola. Sterically Hindered Luminescent PtII–Phosphite Complexes for Electroluminescent Devices. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 5161–5172

- D. C. Fabry, M. A. Ronge, M. Rueping. Immobilization and Continuous Recycling of Photoredox Catalysts in Ionic Liquids for Applications in Batch Reactions and Flow Systems: Catalytic Alkene Isomerization by Using Visible Light. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 5350–5354
- C. Franco, M. Mas-Torrent, A. Caballero, A. Espinosa, P. Molina, J. Veciana, C. Rovira. Pyrene-Based Dyad and Triad Leading to a Reversible Chemical and Redox Optical and Magnetic Switch. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 5504–5509.
- K. –R. Wang, Z. –B. Yang, X. –L. Li. High Excimer-State Emission of Perylene Bisimides and Recognition of Latent Fingerprints. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 5680–5684
- 94. B. Pelado, F. Abou-Chahine, J. Calbo, R. Caballero, P. de la Cruz, J. M. Junquera-Hernández, E. Ortí, N. V. Tkachenko, F. Langa. Role of the Bridge in Photoinduced Electron Transfer in Porphyrin–Fullerene Dyads. Chem. Eur. J. 2015, 21, 5814–5825
- Q. Benito, I. Maurin, T. Cheisson, G. Nocton, A. Fargues, A. Garcia, C. Martineau, T. Gacoin, J. –P. Boilot, S. Perruchas. Mechanochromic Luminescence of Copper Iodide Clusters. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 5892–5897
- M. Pfaffenbach, T. Gaich. A Photoinduced Cyclization Cascade—Total Synthesis of (-)-Leuconoxine. Chem. Eur. J. 2015, 21, 6355–6357
- G. A. Parada, T. F. Markle, S. D. Glover, L. Hammarström, S. Ott, B. Zietz. Control over Excited State Intramolecular Proton Transfer and Photoinduced Tautomerization: Influence of the Hydrogen-Bond Geometry. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 6362–6366
- T. Takada, M. Ido, A. Ashida, M. Nakamura, M. Fujitsuka, K. Kawai, T. Majima, K. Yamana. Photocurrent Generation through Charge-Transfer Processes in Noncovalent Perylenediimide/DNA Complexes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 6846–6851
- J. Yang, J. Huang, N. Sun, Q. Peng, Q. Li, D. Ma, Z. Li. Twist versus Linkage Mode: Which One is Better for the Construction of Blue Luminogens with AIE Properties? *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 6862–6868
- 100. S. C. Coote, A. Pöthig, T. Bach. Enantioselective Template-Directed [2+2] Photocycloadditions of Isoquinolones: Scope, Mechanism and Synthetic Applications. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 6906–6912
- 101. J. C. -H. Chan, H. -L. Wong, W. -T. Wong, V. W. -W. Yam. Tunable Photochromism in the Robust Dithienylethene-Containing Phospholes: Design, Synthesis, Characterization, Electrochemistry, Photophysics, and Photochromic Studies. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 6936– 6948
- 102. G. Götz, X. Zhu, A. Mishra, J. –L. Segura, E. Mena-Osteritz, P. Bäuerle. π-Conjugated [2]Catenanes Based on Oligothiophenes and Phenanthrolines: Efficient Synthesis and Electronic Properties. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7193–7210
- 103. R. Yoshii, K. Suenaga, K. Tanaka,Y. Chujo. Mechanofluorochromic Materials Based on Aggregation-Induced Emission-Active Boron Ketoiminates: Regulation of the Direction of the Emission Color Changes. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7231–7237
- 104. E. Teston, S. Richard, T. Maldiney, N. Lièvre, G. Y. Wang, L. Motte, C. Richard, Y. Lalatonne. Non-Aqueous Sol–Gel Synthesis of Ultra Small Persistent Luminescence Nanoparticles for Near-Infrared In Vivo Imaging. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7350–7354

84

- 105. C. Wang, Y. Zheng, H. Huo, P. Röse, L. Zhang, K. Harms, G. Hilt, E. Meggers. Merger of Visible Light Induced Oxidation and Enantioselective Alkylation with a Chiral Iridium Catalyst. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 7355–7359
- 106. H. Kalita, M. Ravikanth. meso-Pyrrole-Substituted 22-Oxacorroles: Building Blocks for the Synthesis of BODIPY-Bridged 22-Oxacorrole Dyads. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7399–7402
- 107. M. Cacciarini, A. B. Skov, M. Jevric, A. S. Hansen, J. Elm, H. G. Kjaergaard, K. V. Mikkelsen, M. B. Nielsen. Towards Solar Energy Storage in the Photochromic Dihydroazulene–Vinylheptafulvene System. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7454–7461
- 108. T. Kida, H. Furuso, K. Kumamoto, A. D. Pramata, M. Yuasa, K. Shimanoe. Visible-Light Sensitization and Photoenergy Storage in Quantum Dot/Polyoxometalate Systems. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 7462–7469
- 109. T. Felbeck, S. Mundinger, M. M. Lezhnina, M. Staniford, U. Resch-Genger, U. H. Kynast. Multifold Fluorescence Enhancement in Nanoscopic Fluorophore–Clay Hybrids in Transparent Aqueous Media. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7582–7587
- 110. M. Wächtler, J. Guthmuller, S. Kupfer, M. Maiuri, D. Brida, J. Popp, S. Rau, G. Cerullo, B. Dietzek. Ultrafast Intramolecular Relaxation and Wave-Packet Motion in a Ruthenium-Based Supramolecular Photocatalyst. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7668–7674
- 111. R. Afrasiabi H. –B. Kraatz. Rational Design and Application of a Redox-Active, Photoresponsive, Discrete Metallogelator. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 7695–7700
- 112. J. Li, D. Jia, S. Meng, J. Zhang, M. P. Cifuentes, M. G. Humphrey, C. Zhang. Tetrazine Chromophore-Based Metal–Organic Frameworks with Unusual Configurations: Synthetic, Structural, Theoretical, Fluorescent, and Nonlinear Optical Studies. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 7914–7926
- 113. K. Khemakhem, M. Soulié, R. Brousses, H. Ammar, S. Abid, S. Fery-Forgues. Small Iminocoumarin Derivatives as Red Emitters: From Biological Imaging to Highly Photoluminescent Non-doped Micro- and Nanofibres. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7927–7937
- 114. C. Mallet, C. Moussallem, A. Faurie, M. Allain, F. Gohier, W. G. Skene, P. Frère. Rational Topological Design for Fluorescence Enhancement upon Aggregation of Distyrylfuran Derivatives. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 7944–7953
- 115. S. Bloom, D. D. Bume, C. R. Pitts, T. Lectka. Site-Selective Approach to β-Fluorination: Photocatalyzed Ring Opening of Cyclopropanols. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 8060–8063
- 116. Y. Gu, L. Zhu, Y. Li, L. Yu, K. Wu, T. Chen, M. Huang, F. Wang, S. Gong, D. Ma, J. Qin, C. Yang. Adamantane-Based Wide-Bandgap Host Material: Blue Electrophosphorescence with High Efficiency and Very High Brightness. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 8250–8256
- 117. A. Amar, P. Savel, H. Akdas-Kilig, C. Katan, H. Meghezzi, A. Boucekkine, J. –P. Malval, J. –L. Fillaut. Photoisomerisation in Aminoazobenzene-Substituted Ruthenium(II) Tris(bipyridine) Complexes: Influence of the Conjugation Pathway. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, , 8262–8270
- 118. I. Azcarate, Z. Huo, R. Farha, M. Goldmann, H. Xu, B. Hasenknopf, E. Lacôte, L. Ruhlmann. Generation of Photocurrent by Visible-Light Irradiation of Conjugated Dawson Polyoxophosphovanadotungstate–Porphyrin Copolymers. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 8271–8280

June 2015

The Eradicate Insect-borne Diseases with Sunlight Initiative at James Cook University in Australia

Michael Oelgemöller,* Matthew Bolte, Tyler Goodine, Saira Mumtaz, Padmakana Malakar, Amy Dunkerton, Richard Hunter James Cook University, College of Science, Technology and Engineering, Townsville, Queensland 4811, Australia. Email: michael.oelgemoeller@jcu.edu.au https://research.jcu.edu.au/portfolio/michael.oelgemoeller/

Introduction - Insect bites from mosquitos or sand-flies are widespread in tropical North-Oueensland and have a significant impact on Life, Health and Economies. They affect the well-known 'tropical Australian outdoor lifestyle' and can cause allergic reactions or diseases such as dengue, Ross-river fever or even malaria. These symptoms also inflict significant social and economic costs on the local communities of tropical Northern Australia. Likewise, city councils are forced to spend substantial financial and staff resources on preventive programs. The Eradicate Insectborne Diseases with Sunlight Initiative (EIDSI) at JCU is utilizing tropical Queensland's two major natural resources, sunlight and biomass. Its research activities thus help to safeguard public health in the region and covers prophylaxis, treatment as well as cure. The team is led by Associate-Professor Michael Oelgemöller and supported by various undergraduate and postgraduate students.1 The group has raised significant public interest in its solar chemistry work and has, for example, manufactured fragrances and important pharmaceutical building blocks on kilogram-scales with sunlight.2

<u>Prevention</u> – The heating capacity of the sun is utilized for the production of natural insect repellents that can help to protect from insect-borne tropical diseases. At present, N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET) is used as the most common, 'artificial' insect repellent, but it is an irritant, unpleasant in smell, expensive to manufacture and known to damage surfaces and fabrics. 'Natural' citronella-based insect repellents are thus often preferred, but these products suffer from low efficacy due

86

June 2015

to the high volatility of its active ingredients. Consequently, these natural repellents require frequent reapplication.³ Using the essential oil from a local Australian tree, water, heat and catalytic amounts of a household acid, the EIDSI team has produced a significantly more potent repellent that maintains a pleasant 'natural' odour. It is active against a range of blood-sucking insects over a long period of time and is safe to users. The team will soon launch large-scale thermal conversions using its advanced solar reactor (Figure 1). In an extension of this process, the team members were able to convert a minor component of the oil simultaneously into a valuable rose fragrance using solar light, air and catalytic amounts of a red dye.4 The procedures can be conducted in series, in a one-pot fashion, thus significantly reducing the material and energy load of the process. The residual, unreactive constituents of the essential oil are known anti-inflammatory agents. The final treated oil product thus comprises of a natural repellent with a floral odour and antiinflammatory properties. The individual components can be produced on demand in separate processes. This important health protection project has recently received seed-funding from the North Queensland Hospital Foundation.



Figure 1. A/Prof Michael Oelgemöller (far right) and members of the EIDSI team with their solar reactor for large-scale solar manufacturing.

87

June 2015

Treatment - For the treatment of insect bites, the EIDSI team has produced an anesthetic with a reported activity level of that of lidocaine, a widely used local anesthetic. The three-step process was realized in the laboratory for the first time in a continuous flow operation without any isolation or purification of intermediates. Flow photochemistry has recently emerged as a new chemical manufacturing concept that allows for on-site and on-demand synthesis.⁵ In contrast to traditional batch processes, the continuous operation mode avoids the accumulation of hazardous or potentially explosive chemicals. The protocol developed gave an almost two-fold increase in material produced and a six-fold reduction in reaction time. This has led to a significant reduction in chemical waste. The crucial photochemical step was subsequently realized in aqueous medium using concentrated sunlight and easily accessible reagents. The reactor used concentrates sunlight onto a thin Teflon capillary that is wrapped around a glass tube through which cooling water is passed (Figure 2). Product yields and qualities far exceeded those obtained with artificial light. After further optimizations, the EIDSI team will realize the entire three-step process outdoors using combinations of solar light and heat.



Figure 2. Concentrating solar trough continuous flow photoreactor.

 \underline{Cure} – The synthesis of antimalarials from natural compounds has likewise been achieved under mild conditions using artificial and natural sunlight. The team has first constructed an effective air-bubble/liquid-

88

June 2015

flow 'indoor' reactor that utilizes common, energy-efficient office lighting, i.e. a white fluorescent tube (**Figure 3a**). In parallel, solar floats (initially developed by Prof. Liu at the University of Hawaii, USA⁶) were investigated that operate independent from 'artificial' electricity or cooling-water needs (**Figure 3b**). Solar concentrators and airbubble/liquid-flow technologies have recently been merged in the solar trough continuous flow photoreactor and have been successfully applied to the synthesis of the current frontline antimalarial, artemisinin.⁷ This important project has attracted seed-funding from both, the Clinton Health Access Initiative and the Australian Institute of Tropical Health and Medicine (AITHM).



Figures 3. (a) Tyler next to his air-bubble/liquid-flow 'indoor' reactor; (b) Amy and her solar float reactor.

June 2015



89

Figure 4. TropEco research award 2014 presentation to the EIDSI team at JCU.

<u>Conclusion</u> – In conclusion, the EIDSI team is utilizing the abundant natural resources of Northern Australia for the prevention, treatment and cure of insect-borne diseases. The products and processes developed can be easily transferred to other tropical regions. The initiative furthermore offers interesting investment opportunities for local essential oil, solar technology, cosmetic and pharmaceutical industries. James Cook University has thus recognized these activities with the TropEco Research Award 2014 (**Figure 4**).

<u>Acknowledgment</u> – This initiative is financially supported by the North Queensland Hospital Foundation, the Clinton Health Access Initiative, the Australian Institute of Tropical Health and Medicine (AITHM) and the Australian Research Council (ARC, DP130100794). The EIDSI team thanks JCU for the TropEco research award 2014.

References.

1. M. Oelgemöller, M. Bolte "Laboratory profile of the 'Applied and Green Photochemistry Research Group' at James Cook University in Australia" *Green Process Synth.* 2014, <u>3</u>: 163-165.

90

- (a) M. Oelgemöller "The sunny side of Chemistry at James Cook Uni" *Chem. Australia* 2014, <u>Nov.</u>: 7; (b) M. Bolte, K. Klaeden, A. Beqiraj, M. Oelgemöller "Photochemistry Down Under – Solar Chemicals from and for the Tropics" *EPA Newslett.* 2013, <u>84</u>: 79-83; (c) M. Bolte, K. Klaeden, A. Beqiraj, C. Glasson, M. Oelgemöller "Regional Focus – Solar Chemicals from and for Tropical Australia" *APA Newslett.* 2013, *3*, 7-9.
- (a) J. U. Rehman, A. Ali, I. A. Khan "Plant based products: use and development as repellents against mosquitoes: A review" *Fitoterapia* 2014, <u>95</u>: 65-74; (b) M. F. Maia, S. J. Moore "Plant-based insect repellents: a review of their efficacy, development and testing" *Malaria* J. 2011, <u>10 (Suppl 1)</u>: S11.
- (a) M. Oelgemöller, C. Jung, J. Mattay "Green photochemistry: Production of fine chemicals with sunlight" *Pure Appl. Chem.* 2007, <u>79</u>: 1939-1947; (b) M. Oelgemöller, C. Jung, J. Ortner, J. Mattay, E. Zimmermann "Green Photochemistry: solar photooxygenations with medium concentrated sunlight" *Green Chem.* 2005, <u>7</u>: 35-38.
- (a) M. Oelgemöller, N. Hoffmann, O. Shvydkiv "From Lab & Light on a chip' to parallel Microflow Photochemistry" *Austr. J. Chem.* 2014, <u>67</u>: 337-342; (b) M. Oelgemöller "Highlights of Photochemical Reactions in Microflow Reactors" *Chem. Eng. Technol.* 2012, <u>35</u>: 1144-1152; (c) O. Shvydkiv, A. Yavorskyy, K. Nolan, M. Oelgemöller "Microflow photochemistry – an advantageous combination of synthetic photochemistry and microreactor technology" *EPA Newslett.* 2012, <u>83</u>: 65-69.
- 6. Y.-P. Zhao, R. O. Campbell, R. S. H. Liu "Solar reactions for preparing hindered 7-cis-isomers of dienes and trienes in the vitamin A series" *Green Chem.* 2008, <u>10</u>: 1038-1042
- (a) D. L. Klayman "Qinhaosu (Artemisinin): A antimalaial drug from China" Science 1985, <u>228</u>: 1049-1055; (b) J. Turconi, F. Griolet, R. Guevel, G. Oddon, R. Villa, A. Geatti, M. Hvala, K. Rossen, R. Göller, A. Burgard "Semisynthetic Artemisinin, the Chemical Path to Industrial Production" Org. Process Res. Dev. 2014, <u>18</u>: 417-422; (c) D. Kopetzki, F. Lévesque, P. H. Seeberger "A Continuous-Flow Process for the Synthesis of Artemisinin" Chem. Eur. J. 2013, <u>19</u>: 5450-5456.

June 2015

Light as a Reagent for Asymmetric Synthesis, Catalysis and Degradation of Polymers

Ramya Raghunathan, Nandini Vallavoju, Elango Kumarasamy, Akila Iyer, Anthony Clay, Anoklase J. Ayitou and J. Sivaguru* Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, North Dakota State University, Fargo, United States, 58108

1. INTRODUCTION

As we celebrate the international year of light, it is fascinating to know how light plays a vital role in our day-to-day activities. It has been a source of many life-sustaining processes like photosynthesis by plants, the ability to see objects (vision), circadian rhythms etc. Light is not only a solution to several of the challenges that confronts our society today viz, energy crisis, but also a key component to further our advancement in the technology ranging from medicine, to materials to electronics. Chemists have realized the importance of light and have incorporated its utility in science several centuries ago. The most notable of these is to employ sunlight for chemical reactions such as burning mirror of Archimedes,¹ and light induced reduction of metal ions.² Yet, synthesis of organic molecule(s) using light was at nascent stage. ¹⁻² In 1834, Hermann Trommsdorff observed the first photo transformation of Santonin, a sesquiterpene lactone, when he exposed the crystals to light and noticed the color change to yellow and rupture.³ Since then, synthetic organic photochemistry has been progressing steadily towards achieving complex molecular structures with an emphasis towards obtaining them in stereoenriched form. However, designing a successful methodology for asymmetric phototransformations in solution did not have a smooth transition and has met with several challenges. Implementing the strategies from the well-developed thermal reactions that employ chiral perturbers such as chiral auxiliaries or chiral catalysts, for phototransformations yielded only modest success at best.⁴ The challenges in achieving high stereoselectivity lies in controlling the short

92

June 2015

lived excited state(s) in the desired reaction pathway in a stereocontrolled fashion. Many research groups have shown that photoreactions performed in a confined media such as supramolecular templates or in the solid state resulted in moderate to high selectivity.⁵ However, achieving selectivity in photoreactions that occurs in solution that lack the confinement or preorganization of the reactant(s) is still a challenge. In this vein, as a potential solution, research in our group introduced the concept of "axial to point chiral transfer during light induced transformations" that employs non-biaryl atropisomeric chromophores to perform atropselective phototransformations in solution. We have successfully demonstrated the versatility of this methodology for various phototransformations. Apart from this, we have also employed light to address several other challenges that synthetic organic and material chemists face today and have highlighted them below.

In the Sivagroup, we have been investigating four diverse sets of projects that involve light as the primary tool to initiate the transformation of interest or as a product of excited state deactivation. To provide a flavor of these projects we have highlighted the critical aspects from our investigations below.

Atropselective reactions: The pioneering work of Curran, Clayden and others^{5d,6} have utilized atropisomers in asymmetric thermal transformations. They have shown that this method efficiently transfers chirality from the reactant to the product. The strategy of atropisomers in photoreaction was attempted by Bach and coworkers7 wherein they illustrated intermolecular photoreactions of benzaldehyde and atropisomeric enamides that resulted in 63% diastereomeric excess. Here the atropisomeric compound was utilized as a ground state partner with the aldehyde reacting from the excited state. We were interested in evaluating the excited state reactivity of the atropisomeric compounds. To achieve this, we utilized atropisomeric chromophores where they reacted excited state leading to atropselective from the phototransformations. We successfully showcased the efficacy of our strategy of 'axial to point chiral transfer' displaying the feasibility and practicality of various atropselective photochemical transformations.8 These include 6π -photocyclization of acrylanilides, ^{8a,8b,9} $4\pi_{-}$

93

June 2015

photocyclization of pyridones,^{8c,8d} [2+2]-photocycloadditions,^{8e,8i,8j} Norrish Yang cyclization^{8f,8g} and Paternó Büchi reactions of oxoamides.^{8h}

Supramolecular photocatalysis: As eluded before, controlling the excited states during photoreactions within confined media like cyclodextrins, zeolites etc., have been a successful strategy that was demonstrated by various research groups. We extend the use of one such supramolecular assembly as a catalyst to perform photochemical transformations. For this we have explored Cucurbit[8]uril (CB[8]) as a supramolecular vessel in catalytic amounts showcasing it as a superior supramolecular catalyst for controlling photoreactions. Detailed investigations were performed with CB[8] as a host and coumarins as guest molecules. With 6-methylcoumarin as a model system, the [2+2]photodimerization reaction was found to be under allosteric control with the formation of 1:2 host:guest complex being the rate-limiting step. Detailed photophysical studies revealed that the excited state was protected inside the CB[8] cavity (from oxygen quenching). Additionally, thermodynamic binding measurements showed that the 1:1 host: guest complex had an association constant of $\sim 10^4$ M⁻¹ and the 1:2 host:guest complex had an association constant ~106 M⁻¹. Stopped flow kinetics revealed the formation of 1:1 host:guest complex occurred in the seconds time scale and the 1:2 host:guest complex occurred in the minutes time scale. The turnover was found to be 3.4 min-1. The allosteric response was rationalized based on the guest induced shape change of the CB[8] cavity (1:1 host:guest complex) that accommodated the 2nd guest molecule leading to the formation of the reactive 1:2 host:guest complex. Thus this system was reminiscent of catalysis by enzymes making the supramolecular catalytic photoprocess biomimetic. 10

Enantioselective organophotocatalysis: Using atropisomeric thiourea catalysts, [2+2] photocycloaddition of 4-alkenyl substituted coumarins were evaluated leading to photoproducts with high enantioselectivity (77-96% *et*).¹¹ This research added new dimension for developing enantioselective organo photocatalysis, as the traditional methods involved energy transfer or electron transfer whereas our work exhibited enantioselective photocatalysis by energy sharing via exciplex formation (both static and dynamic) between the catalyst and the

94

June 2015

substrate promoted by hydrogen bonding. The thiourea catalysts were synthesized in collaboration with Prof. Sibi group at NDSU.

Renewable and degradable polymer from biomass: With an increase in usage of plastics and its slow degradation has left us with environmental challenges of unwanted stockpiles and plastic landfills. To address the challenges, a proof of concept was developed in collaboration with NDSU colleagues Prof. Sibi (monomer synthesis) and with Prof. Webster (for polymer characterization) where we synthesized polymers from biomass that had built-in phototriggers. Exposure of these polymers to UV light resulted in complete photodegradation of the polymer.¹² We have also showcased that the monomer can be recovered after photodegradation and can be used to remake polymers. By employing this strategy, we have not only addressed the challenge of degradation of polymers, but also we reduced our dependence on fossil fuels by making the process recyclable and sustainable.

Due to space constraint, we will highlight one of our ongoing research efforts *viz*, UV/Visible light initiated atropselective photoreactions.

2.1 6π-PHOTOCYCLIZATION OF ACRYLANILIDES (DIRECT IRRADIATION)

Axially chiral acrylanilides (Scheme 1) were investigated for 6π photocyclization because of the well-established literature precedence of their photochemical pathways, presence of molecular chirality (axially chiral) due to restricted rotation of N-C (aryl) bond and ease of synthesis. We observed different mode of cyclization in both achiral and atropisomeric acrylanilides. The N-substitution (N-H *vs.* N-Me) dictated the regiochemistry of cyclization on the phenyl ring. In case of atropisomeric acrylanilide **1a**, the cyclization occurred at the *ortho*-carbon bearing the *tert*-butyl group leading to *cis*-**2** and *trans*-**3** products (scheme 1). On the other hand, for the achiral acrylanilide **1m**, the cyclization occurred at the unsubstituted *ortho* carbon leaving the *tert*-butyl group intact in the photoproduct. In order to understand and propose a mechanistic rationale for the difference in reactivity between achiral N-H

95

June 2015

acrylanilide and atropisomeric N-alkyl and N-cycloalkyl acrylanilides, we obtained and analyzed their corresponding single crystal X-ray structures.¹³



Scheme 1: 6π -Photocyclization of acrylanilides 1a-m.

For 6π -photocyclization of the acrylanilides to occur the distance between the β -alkene carbon and the *ortho*-carbon on the N-phenyl ring is crucial.¹⁴ Based on the literature precedence, the favorable distance for photoreactivity must be less than ~ 4 Å for reactions to occur in crystalline media.¹⁵ From X-ray crystal structure, the distance between the β-alkene carbon and the ortho-carbon bearing the Bu substituent is 5.24 Å for 1e (Z-isomer) and 3.64 Å for 1f (E-isomer). Similarly, the distance between the β -alkene carbon and the unsubstituted *ortho*-carbon is 5.37 Å for 1e (Z-rotomer) and 3.34 Å for 1f (E-rotomer) respectively. Based on the distances between β -alkene carbon and the *ortho*-carbon, photocyclization can occur only from the amide N-CO E-isomer. 1H-NMR studies indicated that both Z- and E-isomer were present in the solution. Irradiation of optically pure (P- or M-isomers) atropisomeric acrylanilides led to the formation of 3,4-dihydro-2-quinolin-2-one photoproduct 2 and 3 with loss of ortho-tert-butyl group as isobutene. Direct irradiation of atropisomeric acrylanilides resulted in high enantiomeric excess in the photoproducts (Table 1). Upon inspection of Table 1, direct irradiation of α , β -substituted acrylanilides (e.g. 1a) resulted to give *cis*-3,4-dihydro-2-quinolin-2-one photoproduct 2 and *trans*-3,4-dihydro-2-quinolin-2-one photoproduct **3** with similar enantiomeric excess. However, α -substituted acrylanilides (e.g. 1e) gave

96

June 2015

racemic 3,4-dihydro-2-quinolin-2-one photoproduct. These results clearly indicated that β -substituent in the alkene was crucial for achieving high enantiomeric excess under direct irradiation conditions that presumably occurred via singlet excited state.





Scheme 2: Mechanistic rationale for 6π -photocyclization of atropisomeric acrylanilides: a) direct irradiation (singlet pathway) and sensitized irradiation (triplet pathway).

97

June 2015

	-									
Ent. Compd		% ee in CHCl ₃			% ee in MeOH			% ee in acetone		
	3011P#	cis	trans	cis:trans	cis	trans	cis:trans	cis	trans	cis:trans
1	(-)- 1 a	-	91 (B)	61:39	-	87 (B)	38:62	-	90 (B)	55:45
2	(+)- 1 a	-	88 (A)		-	84 (A)		-	94 (A)	
3	(-)- 1b	-	85 (B)	61:39	-	92 (B)	35:65	-	94 (B)	46:54
4	(+)- 1b	-	99 (A)	0	-	94 (A)		-	91 (A)	
5	(-)-1c	92 (R,S)	-	29:71	85 (R,S)	-	-	92 (R,S)	-	67:33
6	(+)-1c	92 (<i>S</i> ,R)	95 (<i>S</i> , <i>S</i>)		99 (<i>S</i> ,R)	99 (<i>S</i> , <i>S</i>)		92 (<i>S</i> ,R)	88 (<i>S</i> , <i>S</i>)	0,100
7	(-)-1d	98 (A)	99 (A)	41:59	99 (A)	99 (A)	70:30	90 (A)	91 (A)	63:37
8	(+)-1d	91 (B)	95 (B)		99 (B)	99 (B)		87 (B)	90 (B)	
9	(-)-1e	0		_b	0		_b	-		_b
10	(+)-1e	0			0			-		

Table 1: Enantiospecific 6π-photocyclization of acrylanilide derivatives^a

^aFor irradiation conditions see referenced work. *cis:trans* ratio and conversion are based on relative integration of corresponding peaks in NMR and HPLC/GC. ^b*cis* and *trans* isomers not feasible in photoproducts from **3e** and **3f**. Reproduced with permission from Ref [8a]; Copyright American Chemical Society, 2009

98

June 2015

Based on experimental observation, we postulated a likely mechanistic pathway where the photocyclization occurred at the ortho-carbon via zwitterionic intermediate "int-Z" (Scheme 2a), with removal of the orthotert-butyl group. The mechanistic rationale was based on the identical enantioselectivity observed in cis-2 and trans-3 photoproducts, as the resulting zwitterionic intermediate "int-Z" has a defined chiral center at the benzylic position. The second step involved proton transfer (from solvent or intramolecularly) that occurred in a non-stereospecific manner that led to the formation of cis-2 and trans-3 photoproducts with identical enantiomeric excess values. Based on the assessment of Table 1, acrylanilides lacking \beta-substituent led to an achiral benzylic carbon (-CH2-) in the zwitterionic intermediate "int-Z" followed by nonstereospecific H-migration resulting in the racemic photoproduct. Thus the intermediate "*int-Z*" with β -substituent acted as a 'mechanistic bridge' for the axial to point chiral transfer from the reactant to the photoproduct.

2.2 6π-Photocyclization of Acrylanilides (triplet sensitization)

Direct irradiation of atropisomeric acrylanilides showed that β substitution was essential for efficient transfer of axial chirality from the reactant to point chirality in the photoproduct. Next, the questions we wanted to address were a) can there be chirality transfer in substrates that lack β -substitution? and b) what will be the role of the triplet excited state? In order to answer these questions, triplet sensitized irradiations of optically pure atropisomeric α -substituted acrylanilides **1f** and **1g** were carried out in acetone (acting as both solvent and triplet sensitizer) (Tables 1 and 2) leading to 3,4 dihydroquinolinone photoproduct with 92-94% *ee* at ambient temperature. Atropisomeric α -substituted acrylanilides (Scheme 1) upon triplet-sensitized irradiation also underwent photocyclization with very high enantioselectivity in the corresponding photoproduct. Conversely, direct irradiation in methanol and trifluoroethanol as solvents gave racemic photoproducts.

99

June 2015

In order to ascertain the role of reactive spin states, detailed photophysical investigations were performed with α -substituted acrylanilides. Phosphorescence profile for **1f** and **1g** were observed at 77 K in MCH glass with triplet energy (E_T) of ~77 kcal·mol⁻¹ and lifetime of ~1.58 sec (Figure 1).



Figure 1: (A) Fluorescence and Phosphorescence of **1f** in methylcyclohexane (MCH). (B) Phosphorescence decay kinetics of **1f** at 77 K in MCH glass.

These results clearly indicated that the triplet excited state for **1f** and **1g** has a π - π * configuration. Based on the reactivity in acetone, it is clear that an efficient triplet energy transfer from acetone (E_T \approx 79 kcal·mol⁻¹).

100

June 2015

% ee values in the presence of additives in TFEb Acetonec Abs Entry Compd KF/3Å NaF CsF KF NaF/3Å 3 Å MS config. MS MS (-)- 1f 90 (B) 90 (B) 88 (B) 90 (B) 88 (B) 94 (B) 1 (+)-1f 87 (A) 90 (A) 85 (A) 90 (A) 85 (A) 92 (A) 2 90 (B) 85 (B) 85 (B) 95 (B) 90 (B) 92 (B) 3 (-)-1g 90 (A) 80 (A) 80 (A) 89 (A) 90 (A) 94 (A) 4 (+)-1g (+)-77 (R) (+)-1h Р (+)-90 (R) (-)-16 (S) (+)-80(R)(+)-70 (R) -5 (R)(R)(R)M(-)-85 (S) (-)-77 (*S*) (+)-16 (R) (-)-80 (*S*) (-)-70 (*S*) 6 (-)-1h

Table 2: Atropselective 6π -photocyclization of α -substituted acrylanilides in presence of alkali metal ions.^a

^aFor specific reaction conditions refer to previous work. Without additives only racemic mixtures were observed. ^b(+) and (-) represent of the Cotton effect at 285nm. Reported values are an average of a minimum of 3 runs with $\pm 8\%$ error. A and B refers to the first and second peak that elute out of the HPLC chiral stationary phase separation for a given pair of enantiomers. The conversion in all samples were kept between 10-30% to ascertain the true *ee* values in the presence of cations as the photoproduct can also bind competitively to alkali metal ^cAcetone was used as both solvent and sensitizer and *ee* values correspond to reactions done at 27 °C. Reproduced with permission from Ref [8b]; Copyright Royal Society of Chemistry, 2014

Hence based on the irradiation conditions, 6π -photocyclization of **1f** and **1g** can occur from either singlet (S_1) or triplet (T_1) excited states or a combination of both. Based on established paradigm for photochemical reactions, a zwitterionic intermediate is likely expected from a π - π^* singlet excited state (S₁ π - π^*), whereas a diradicaloid intermediate is likely formed from the corresponding π - π * triplet excited state (T₁ π - π *). Based on this paradigm, we postulated that the photocyclization of atropisomeric α -substituted acrylanilides 1f and 1g from the triplet π - π^* excited state occurred via a radical mechanism leading to triplet diradical intermediate "int-DR" (Scheme 2b). This diradical intermediate "int-DR" abstracted H-atom from ortho-tert-butyl group that led to the formation of chirally enriched photoproduct 2. High enantioselectivity in the photoproduct 2 under sensitized irradiation can be rationalized based on the stereospecific H-abstraction via a cyclic six-membered transition state via "int-DR". It is important to highlight that the photocyclization from both S_1 and T1 not only led to the same photoproduct via two different reactive intermediates and/or transition states, but also determined ee values in the photoproduct.

2.3 Heavy Atom Effect: 6π -Photocyclization of Acrylanilides Mediated by Alkali Metal Cation

In our continued effort to achieve high stereoselectivity in the photoproduct, 6π -photocyclization of α -substituted acrylanilides was evaluated in the presence of alkali metal ions. Literature precedence¹⁶ has shown that metal ions have been exploited to alter the excited state photoreactivity of organic molecules. a-Substituted acrylanilides under direct irradiation in solution gave racemic photoproducts (Table 1; Scheme 2a). While their reactivity from the triplet state led to high enantiomeric excess in the photoproduct (Table 2; Scheme 2b). With this in mind, we chose to investigate the role of alkali metal ions (e.g. Cs⁺, K⁺ and Na⁺) for the photocyclization of α -substituted acrylanilides.^{8b} Irradiation of optically pure α-substituted acrylanilides in the presence of alkali metal ions afforded cyclized photoproduct 2 in high enantiomeric excess (Table 2). Addition of CsF and KF afforded ee values of ca. 80% whereas in the case of NaF there was a dramatic decrease (ca. 16%) in the selectivity leading to formation of optical antipode of the photoproduct.



Figure 2: (A) Fluorescence of **1f** in presence and absence of CsF both at room temperature and 77K in ethanol glass. (B) Fluorescence of **1j** in the presence and absence of CsF at room temperature.

This was attributed to the presence of moisture due to the charge density of small alkali metal ions (e.g. Na⁺). In order to address this issue, the photoirradiation was performed in the presence of molecular sieves (3 Å) that afforded photoproduct with ca. 80% ee with the enhancement of the same enantiomer as obtained in case of Cs+. It is important to note that moisture played a critical role in altering the selectivity in the photoproduct 2. In order to study the effect of alkali metal ions, steady state emission and fluorescence lifetime measurements were performed with atropisomeric α substituted acrylanilides 1f and 1j at room temperature and at 77 K both in presence and absence of alkali metal ions. Weak fluorescence was observed at room temperature, however enhanced fluorescence intensity was seen at 77 K in ethanol glass. In presence of Cs+, weak fluorescence was observed at both room temperature and at 77 K. This is likely due to the enhanced intersystem crossing (ISC) from the singlet excited state to the triplet excited state due to spin-orbit coupling. Irradiation of atropisomeric α -substituted acrylanilides 1 in presence of heavy metal cations led to *ISC* leading to triplet excited state. This triplet-excited state underwent cyclization via a diradical intermediate (*"int*-DR") (Scheme 2-triplet pathway) leading to enantioenriched photoproduct.

3.1 [2+2]- PHOTOCYCLOADDITION OF ATROPISOMERIC MALEIMIDES

photochemical [2+2]-Among the transformations, photocycloaddition is one of the widely utilized reactions in the field of synthetic organic chemistry. Maleimides are one of the versatile compounds that display a rich chemistry both in thermal and photochemical reactions. [2+2], [4+2] and [5+2] Photocycloaddition are few of the well-studied photochemical reactions that are reported in the literature.¹⁷ Booker-Milburn and others^{17c,18} have extensively investigated [2+2], and [5+2] photocycloaddition of maleimides as an avenue for the synthesis of complex organic scaffolds. Switching one product to another ([2+2] vs [5+2]) was also demonstrated by altering the type of irradiation (sensitized vs. direct irradiation).17c,19 Milburn and co-workers have also demonstrated the large-scale synthesis by using a flow set up and extended it to the synthesis of products.20 But, to our knowledge atropselective natural photoreactions of maleimides were not known in the literature. This gave us an opportunity to incorporate our methodology of axial-topoint chiral transfer in maleimides and investigate them for atropselective photocycloaddition.

Atropisomeric maleimides **4** (scheme 3) with different substitutions were synthesized with good yield in two-steps.⁸ⁱ Based on computational studies, N-aryl maleimides prefers to be twisted at N-C aryl axis due to steric hindrance between imide carbonyl and ortho hydrogens. However simple hydrogen will not provide enough sterics to be atropisomeric.²¹ In this regard, the newly synthesized atropisomeric maleimide with methyl group at 6-position played a crucial role in providing stable atropisomers by increasing the energy barrier for N-C aryl bond rotation. Analysis of racemization kinetics in the newly synthesized maleimides revealed that they have fairly high racemization barrier. For example in the case of **4a**, the half life for racemization was 3.5 days at 100 °C in toluene with racemization rate constant of 2.27×10^6 s⁻¹ and activation energy barrier of ~31.6 kcal·mol⁻¹. Such a high racemization barrier allowed us to carry out atropselective photoreaction without the loss of absolute configuration.



Scheme 3: Intramolecular [2+2]-Photocycloaddition of atropisomeric maleimides.

The photoreactions of maleimides were performed under different irradiation conditions and in various solvents. The reaction proceeded smoothly to yield [2+2]-photoadduct with complete regiocontrol over competing [5+2]-photocycloaddition. Three different sets of irradiation conditions were evaluated a) direct irradiation (450 W a medium pressure Hg lamp); b) sensitized irradiation under UV light (e.g. xanthone as a sensitizer in a Rayonet reactor at ~350 nm) c) Sensitization under metal-free visible light irradiation (e.g. thioxanthone as a sensitizer in a Rayonet reactor at 420 nm). After the photoreaction, NMR spectroscopy analysis revealed the presence of two diastereomeric products (scheme 3). The major product was the exo photoadduct 5, where the carbon of the alkene tether is away from the carbon bearing R1 substituent in the maleimide ring. The minor photoadduct was the endo product 6, where the carbon of the alkene tether is towards the carbon bearing R¹ substituent in the maleimide ring. After several screening of the reactions, optimized conditions were obtained using 4a as a model system. These reactions provided insights about the solvent choice, sensitizer and type of irradiation. The reaction proceeded smoothly under sensitized irradiation both with xanthone as a sensitizer for ~350 nm irradiation and thioxanthone as sensitizer for ~420 nm irradiation and the reaction completed within 1 h. Neither temperature nor the solvent had any significant influence on the diastereomeric ratio of the photoproducts (exo:endo). The conversion was moderate to very high in solvents screened (MeOH, MeCN, ethyl acetate, chloroform, CH₂Cl₂ etc.,) whereas in THF, the product decomposed and in benzene, MCH the conversion was low. The

photoreactions of atropisomeric maleimides were carried out with the optimized conditions i.e., with xanthone or thioxanthone as sensitizers in MeCN which resulted in high isolated yields. Investigation of the table 3 clearly disclosed that the enatioselectivity of photoproducts were >98%.

The dr (exo:endo) values was dictated by substituents at the maleimide double bond (R1), alkenyl tether (R2-R4) and X on the Naryl ring (Table 3). However, the X group had very little influence over the exo:endo ratio. Among R1 substituents, phenyl and imidazole (4g, 4j and 4m) had the highest control over dr values resulting in exo:endo ratio of >99:1. These result showed that the R¹ substituent in the maleimide ring has influence on the dr values, which is also evident from the table 3. To our surprise di-substituted maleimide 41 gave an exo:endo ratio of 42:58, i.e. slightly favoring the endo photoadduct. The substituents at the alkenyl tether (R2-R4) were varied systematically to understand its influence on the dr values. The gem dimethyl 4b at the terminal alkene did not influence the dr values (table 3; entry 2) whereas monomethyl substitution 4c, 4d showed slight increase in the dr values. The internal substitution as in case of 4e, resulted in reduced exo:endo ratio (62:38). Interestingly, when alkene reaction partner was replaced by alkyne 4n, the photoreaction did not result in the cyclobutene product.

Detailed photophysical investigations were performed to gain insights into the excited state reactivity of the maleimides. To avoid the photochemical reaction that competes with our photophysical studies, maleimide 7 with saturated alkene tether was synthesized with retention of the maleimide chromophore.

Entry	Substrate	Major photoproduct	Yield [%],° dr (5:6), ^d % ee	Entry	Substrate	Major photoproduct	Yield [%],° dr (5:6), ^d % ee
1	0 N 0 (+)-4a (-)-4a	(-)-(1 <i>R</i> ,55,6 <i>R</i>)-5a (+)-(1 <i>S</i> ,5 <i>R</i> ,65)-5a	84 (79:21) > 98% ee > 98% ee	8	Br O N O Ah	Sh	82 (69:31)
2			60 (79:21)	9			88 (74:26)
з		(+)-5b (+)-5b N N	> 98% ee > 98% ee (87:13)	10			82 (> 99:1)
4	(+)·4c (·)·4c	(+)(1R,5S,6 <i>R</i> ,7 R)- 5c (+)-(1S,5 <i>R</i> ,6S,7 S)- 5c	> 98% ee > 98% ee 90 ⁽ (84:16)	11			80 (61:39)
5	(+)-4d $(-)-4d$ $(-)-4d$ $(-)-4d$ $(-)-4d$	(A)-(1R,55.867,75)-5d ° (B)-(15.547,65,77)-5d °	> 98% ee > 98% ee 77 (62.38)	12			94 (42:58)
6	4e $0 \xrightarrow{N} 0 \xrightarrow{O} 0$ $0 \xrightarrow{O} 0 \xrightarrow{O} 0$ Ph' Ph 4	Se O N O Si-Ph O Ph	76 (77:23)	13			74 (>99:1)
7		or OF Ph N N OF Ph OF Ph	90 (> 99:1)	14		эт Dimers / Decorr	position
	(+)-4g (-)-4g	(-)-(1 <i>R</i> ,5 <i>S</i> ,6 <i>R</i>)-5g (+)-(1 <i>S</i> ,5 <i>R</i> ,6 <i>S</i>)-5g	> 98% ee > 98% ee		4n		

Table 3: Intramolecular [2+2] photoreactions of atropisomeric maleimides

• Installation of 4b was performed with 3D mid % sambrone as the triplet sematizer in acetomitie solvent at oom temperature using a Rayonet reaction equipped with 3D mi ango, Fraduoso 44, and was performed with 3D mi ango, For all other substrates, the photo-actions were performed in acetomet at room temperature using a Rayonet reaction equipped with 42D mi ango, For all other substrates, the photo-actions were performed in acetomet at room temperature using a Rayonet reaction equipped with 42D mi ango, For all other substrates, the photo-actions were performed in acetomet at room temperature using a Rayonet reaction equipped with 42D mi ango, For all other substrates, the photo-actions were performed in acetomet at room temperature using a Rayonet reaction equipped with 42D mi ango, For all other substrates, the photo-actions were performed in acetomet at room temperature using a Rayonet reaction equipped with 42D mi ango, For all other substrates, the photo-actions were performed in acetomet a earnage of three runes with an error the absolute control with Parkswith Rayonet Rayonet reactions are performed in acetometa as uniterial statemary phases. There are an interial statemary phases at the reaction are earnages of three using a Rayonet reaction for a gavapaet and the reaction at Rayonet reactions and the reaction at Rayonet Rayo

Laser flash photolysis studies of 4g and 7 were studied in acetonitrile solution. The transient absorption of 7 was centered at 400 nm with lifetime of 50 μ s, which was quenched by molecular oxygen (K_q = 2 x 109 M-1s-1) and was assigned to triplet-triplet absorption of maleimide chromophore. Similar studies with 4g revealed a lifetime as 450 ns. The lifetime between 4g and 7 evidently proved that the excited state of 4g was deactivated by the photocycloaddition reaction. To understand the interaction between the thioxanthone and maleimide, triplet-triplet absorption studies were carried out with thioxanthone in presence of maleimide. The initial triplet absorption was quenched by maleimide 7 (decay of the absorbance at 620 nm) to generate ³(7)* (rise in absorbance at 420 nm) that was monitored at 420 nm (Figure 3). This suggested that the excited state thioxanthone acted as a donor, while the maleimide acted as an acceptor. The triplet quantum yield of 7 was evaluated by generating the singlet oxygen. The relative triplet quantum yield of the maleimide 7 (Φ_{1O_2} ≈ 0.04) was calculated by comparing the efficiency with phenalenone as the reference standard ($\Phi_{1O_2} = 0.98$).²² This result revealed that the maleimides had very poor intersystem crossing (ISC) quantum yield and produce very low amounts of triplet upon direct irradiation.



Figure 3: Transient absorption spectra monitored at 0-0.8 μ s (blue) and 10-20 μ s (red) after pulsed laser excitation (355 nm, 7 ns pulse width) of argon-saturated MeCN solutions of **TX** and **7** (0.05 mm).

3.2 Mechanistic studies to decipher the reactivity of atropisomeric maleimides

Based on our photochemical and photophysical investigation, we proposed that the photoreaction occurred from triplet-excited state. The electron rich alkene likely interacted with the half-filled π orbital of the $\pi\pi^*$ excited state of the maleimide.



Scheme 4: Mechanistic rationale for [2+2] photocycloaddition of atropisomeric maleimides **4**.

This triplet reaction proceeded via two step process where the first step is the formation of triplet 1,4 diradical and the second step is the cyclization (after intersystem crossing to its singlet state) to form the desired photoproduct(s). The formation of *exo* and *endo* products can be explained as below (scheme 4): The *exo*- photoproduct was likely formed from the conformer "4-*conf*(A)" in which the CH₂ group of
the alkenyl tether is pointed away from the R^1 substituent of the maleimide double bond. The initial step of the photoreaction could likely lead to the formation of either DR1 or DR2. Similarly, the formation of *endo*-photoproduct was likely formed from the conformer "4-*conf*(B)" in which the CH₂ group of the alkenyl tether is positioned towards the R^1 substituent of the maleimide. In this case diradical, DR3, DR4 is feasible. These 1,4 diradicals intersystem cross to form singlet 1,4 diradical and cyclize to the photoadducts (Scheme 4).



Scheme 5: Scrambling studies with maleimides 4c and 4d.

To gain more insights on initial bond formation, scrambling studies were performed with **4c** and **4d** (Scheme 5). Analysis of photoreaction mixture showed no scrambled photoproducts. The absence of scrambled photoproducts reflected two scenarios. In the first scenario, the 1,4 diradical DR1 was likely preferred over the diradical DR2 leading to the major *exo* product and DR3 was likely preferred over DR4 leading to the minor *endo* product. In the second scenario, the diradical formed (DR1 or DR2 for exo photoproduct and DR3 and DR4 for endo photoproduct), in the first step cyclized at much faster rate than the bond rotation resulting in the absence of any observable scrambled photoproduct(s). The second scenario was unlikely as the reactions took place from triplet excited state that had to intersystem cross to singlet excited state. This presents enough time for scrambling to occur. Hence the lack of scrambling likely indicates the first scenario as the likely mechanistic pathway.

3.3 Flow Photolysis Setup For Large Scale Photoreactions Involving Of Atropisomeric Maleimides



Figure 4: Flow setup for visible light photocatalysis of maleimides 4.

The efficiency of the thioxanthone as the sensitizer in the phototransformation of maleimide provided us an opportunity to employ low intensity irradiation such as compact fluorescent light (common household lamp) to carry out the phototransformation. This idea was appealing, as the reaction conditions was redox-neutral and metal- free. Apart from using visible-light, we also attempted to carry out the reaction under flow conditions in an attempt to showcase the scalability of our methodology (figure 4). We designed a simple flow set up and optimized the irradiation conditions. The results demonstrated the feasibility of our strategy to utilize abundant sunlight (visible light) and easy scale up to access enantioenriched photoproducts (flow set up) in multi-gram scale.

4. Photoreactivity through Restricted Bond Rotations: Cross [2+2]-Photocycloaddition of Acrylimides:^{8j}

The cross [2+2] photocycloaddition-involving alkenes is a rare and one of the less investigated reactions in the literature. This is because of the general preference of straight addition over cross addition in the solution (Scheme 6). Extensive research for the formation of straight photoproduct has been reported.²³



Scheme 6: [2+2] Photocycloaddition involving alkenes tethered by three atom spacer.

We were interested in accessing cross photocycloaddition products as they are structurally unique and exhibit interesting excited state chemistry. We initially started our investigations with atropisomeric acrylimides in solution and later we extended our strategy to the solid state with control over reactivity due to the confinement within the crystal lattice. Literature precedence showed contrasting reports on formation of straight and cross photocycloaddition products during photoreactions involving acrylimides.²⁴ Intrigued by these reports we incorporated the axial to point chiral strategy for controlling the photoreactions leading to higher selectivity in the photoproducts.



Scheme 7: Cross photocycloaddition of atropisomeric acrylimides 8.

Atropisomeric acrylimides 8 were synthesized by sequential acylation reactions starting from the corresponding aniline derivative. The energy barrier for the atropisomeric acrylimides was determined by racemization kinetics at 45 °C in acetonitrile and methanol. Analysis of the racemization kinetics revealed that the acrylimides have energy barrier of ~26 kcal·mol-1 with half-life of 1-2 days. Having ascertained the high energy barrier, we carried out photoreactions in isotropic media with either methanol or acetonitrile as a solvent. The photoreaction of acrylimides 8a-c proceeded smoothly with good mass balance and conversion. Three different sets of irradiation conditions were studied. a) direct irradiation (450W a medium pressure Hg lamp or Rayonet reactor equipped at 254 nm), b) sensitized irradiation under UV (xanthone as sensitizer in Rayonet reactor at 350 nm) and c) sensitized irradiation under visible light (thioxanthone as sensitizer in Rayonet reactor at 420 nm). Acrylimide 8a was employed to optimize the irradiation conditions. Analysis of the photoproducts by NMR spectroscopy revealed that the acrylimides yielded exclusively cross [2+2] photoproducts in both the solvents (MeOH and MeCN). The reactivity remained unaffected under oxygen and nitrogen conditions (Table 4). To investigate the reaction under sensitized reaction condition, we explored sensitizer with varying triplet energies (E_T) between 78 and 63 kcal·mol⁻¹. Table 4: Reaction conditions optimization for intramolecular [2+2]

photoreactions of acrylimides^a

June 2015

Entry	Cmpd	Irradiation conditions ^b	solvent	% convn.d	9:10
1	8a	Direct irradiation BB - Pyrex cut off / 3 h / N ₂ RR, ~254 nm / 5 min / N ₂ RR, ~254 nm / 5 min / O ₂	MeCN	97 71(70) [⊕] 68	>99:1
		BB - Pyrex cut off / 3 h / N ₂	Acetonec	100	>99:1
2	8a	$\frac{Sensitized\ irradiation}{Sensitized\ irradiation} benzophenone (10 mol %) / RR, ~350 nm / 3 h / N_2 xanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~350 nm /1.5 h / N_2 xanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~350 nm /30 min / N_2 thioxanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~420 nm /15 min / N_2$	MeCN MeCN MeOH MeCN	100 100(71)° 100 100	>99:1
3	8b	$\frac{Sensitized \ irradiation}{Sensitized \ irradiation} \\ xanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~350 nm /1.5 h / N_2 \\ xanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~350 nm /30 min / N_2 \\ thioxanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~420 nm /15 min / N_2 \\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	MeCN MeOH MeCN	100(86) ^e 100 58	>99:1
4	8c ^f	$\label{eq:sensitized irradiation} \\ xanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~350 nm / 3 h / N_2 \\ xanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~350 nm / 1.5 h / N_2 \\ xanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~350 nm /30 min / N_2 \\ thioxanthone (10 mol %) / RR, ~420 nm /15 min / N_2 \\ \end{tabular}$	MeCN MeCN MeOH MeCN	100 100 100(78) ^e 60	82:18 80:20 82:18 82:18

⁴Irradiation at noom temperature. Values based on H NMR spectroscopy (±5% error), [8a] = 2.88 mM, [8b] = 2.48 mM, and [8c] = 3.43 mM, ¹89 = broadband irradiation performed using 450 W mercury lamp with a Pyrox cutoff filter (<295 nm cutoff), RR = Rayonet reactor equipped with either 254 nm or ,-350 or -420 nm [ght r(B thes X 14 W), ⁴Actione as softwart and sensitzer, ⁴% conversion and mass balance calculated by H MNR spectroscopy using tripherylmethane as internal standard, "solated yield, ¹The values were similar to the one reported in literature for other achinal acylinides with Nand substitution. The major and philor photoproducts were assigned based on similarities in ¹ and ¹³C NMR resonances in the reaction mixture as reported . The major photoproduct was characterized by single-crystal XRD, Reproduced from Re[[6]]. Copyright American Chemical Society.2014.

The reaction was efficient in acetone (which acted both as solvent and sensitizer), benzophenone, xanthone at ~350 nm irradiation and thioxanthone at ~420 nm irradiation in MeCN as solvent. The reactivity was not only efficient but also exclusively resulted in cross [2+2] photoproduct. For the achiral acrylimide **8c**, both cross and straight [2+2] products were observed. We believe that the N-C(aryl) restricted bond rotation in **8a-b** was responsible for the regioselectivity (straight vs cross photocycloaddition). Optically pure atropisomeric acrylimides **8a-b** resulted in >98% *ee* under triplet sensitized (xanthone and thioxanthone) irradiation.

The crystal structure of **8a**, gave interesting insights on bond distance between the reactive alkene units resulting in exploring solid-state irradiation. Analysis of the crystal structure (Figure 5) revealed that the distance between alkene carbons for straight addition i.e. C_1 - C_4 is 3.189 Å, C_2 - C_3 is 3.856 Å, similarly for cross addition C_1 - C_3 is 3.158 Å, C_2 - C_4 is 3.189 Å which are within the Schmidt distance of 4.2 Å for a solid state photoreaction to occur.²⁵ Additionally the torsional angle between the double bonds was 21.7°. Solid-state irradiation of optically pure crystals of **8a** was performed at room temperature on a petri dish using Rayonet reactor equipped

with 254 nm bulbs. The reaction was clean and resulted exclusively in cross [2+2] photoproduct with >98% *ee*.

114



Figure 5: Single-crystal X-ray structure of 8a.

Though the analysis of the bond distance between the atoms in the crystals favored both the straight and cross photocycloaddition, we only obtained cross product exclusively. We attributed the preference of cross product to the minimum atomic movement required for the formed cross photoproduct compared to the straight photoproduct.

Detailed photophysical investigations were carried out to gain insights on the photochemical reactivity leading to cross photoproduct. Fluorescence and phosphorescence measurements showed negligible luminescence both at room temperate and at 77 K. Transient absorbance spectra of 8a was centered at 320 nm with lifetime of 40 ns (Figure 6). This transient was quenched by molecular oxygen ($K_q = 6 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$) and was assigned to the triplet-triplet absorbance of styrene unit in 8a. Similar studies with 8b-c also showed the transient absorbance is around 320 nm with the lifetime of 41 ns for 8b and ~20 ns for 8c. The shorter lifetime of 8c is attributed to the free rotation of the N-C(aryl bond). Since these reactions were efficient with triplet sensitizer, we investigated the energy transfer using laser flash photolysis. The bimolecular quenching rate constants of sensitizer (xanthone and thioxanthone) triplet state by 8a were determined. Based on these studies the triplet energy of 8a was estimated to be close to 63 kcal·mol-1. The triplet quantum yield of 8a was evaluated by generating the singlet oxygen upon direct irradiation. The relative triplet quantum yield of the 8a

 $(\Phi_T \approx 0.02)$ was calculated by comparing the efficiency with phenalenone as the standard $(\Phi_T \approx 0.98)$.²²



120 - 170 lns!

λ‼(nm)!

Figure 6: Transient absorption spectra monitored at 0-25 ns (red) and 120-170 ns (blue) after pulsed laser excitation (266 nm, 5 ns pulse width) of argon-saturated MeCN solution of **8a**.

Based on low triplet quantum yield and low impact on oxygen quenching studies on photoproduct yields, we believe that the [2+2] photocycloaddition proceeded via singlet excited states upon direct irradiation and via triplet excited state for sensitized irradiation (with xanthone or thioxanthone as sensitizer).

5. Conclusion

Research from our group showcases that light can be effectively employed in various fields from asymmetric synthesis to supramolecular catalysis to materials chemistry with excellent control of reactivity to product selectivity. Our methodology of transferring axial to point chiral makes it possible to afford complex molecular scaffolds with high stereocontrol in the resulting products. We have also showcased our methodology for metal free-redox free visible light catalysis for photoreactions. Diversity in the light initiated research is a clear testament to the power of photons in empowering different fields and facets of chemistry.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank NSF for generous support (CHE-1465075, CHE-1213880, CHE-0748525 EPS-0814442 and IIA-1355466) E.K. and J.S. thank the NSF ND-EPSCoR for a doctoral dissertation fellowship (EPS-0814442). N.V. R.R and J.S. thank the NDSU doctoral dissertation fellowship. A.J.A and J.S. thank NSF for a graduate fellowship for A.J.A The authors also thank NSF-CRIF (CHE-0946990) for the purchase of the departmental X-ray diffractometer.

Reference

- 1. Roth, H. D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1989, 28, 1193-1207.
- 2. Dobereiner, J. F. S., J. Pharm. Centralbl. 1831, 2, 383-385.
- 3. Roth, H. D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1989, 28, 1193-1207.
- a) Koskinen, A. M. P. Pure Appl. Chem. 2011, 83, 435-443; b) Bergin, E. Annual Reports Section "B" (Organic Chemistry) 2012, 108, 353-371; c) Halpern, J.; Trost, B. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 5347-5347; d) Gnas, Y.; Glorius, F. Synthesis 2006, 1899-1930.
- a) Inoue, Y. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 741-770; b) Amirsakis, D. G.; Garcia-Garibay, M. A.; Rowan, S. J.; Stoddart, J. F.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 4256-4261; c) Sivaguru, J.; Natarajan, A.; Kaanumalle, L. S.; Shailaja, J.; Uppili, S.; Joy, A.; Ramamurthy, V. Acc. Chem. Res. 2003, 36, 509-521; d) Curran, D. P.; Qi, H.; Geib, S. J.; DeMello, N. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 3131-3132; e) Gamlin, J. N.; Jones, R.; Leibovitch, M.; Patrick, B.; Scheffer, J. R.; Trotter, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 203-209.
- 6. Clayden, J. In Organic Synthesis Highlights IV; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH: 2000, pp 48-52.
- 7. Bach, T.; Schröder, J.; Harms, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 9003-9004.
- a) Ayitou, A. J.-L.; Sivaguru, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 5036-5037; b) Ayitou, A. J.-L.; Clay, A.; Kumarasamy, E.; Jockusch, S.; Sivaguru, J. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 2014, 13, 141-144; c) Kumarasamy, E.; Jesuraj, J. L.; Omlid, J. N.;

Ugrinov, A.; Sivaguru, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 17106-17109; d) Ayitou, A. J. L.; Fukuhara, G.; Kumarasamy, E.; Inoue, Y.; Sivaguru, J. Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 4327-4334; e) Kumarasamy, E.; Sivaguru, J. Chem. Commun. 2013, 49, 4346-4348; f) Ayitou, A. J.-L.; Jesuraj, J. L.; Barooah, N.; Ugrinov, A.; Sivaguru, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 11314-11315; g) Jesuraj, J. L.; Sivaguru, J. Chem. Commun. 2010, 46, 4791-4793; h) Raghunathan, R.; Kumarasamy, E.; Iyer, A.; Ugrinov, A.; Sivaguru, J. Chem. Commun. 2013, 49, 8713-8715; i) Kumarasamy, E.; Raghunathan, R.; Jockusch, S.; Ugrinov, A.; Sivaguru, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 8729-8737; j) Iyer, A.; Jockusch, S.; Sivaguru, J. J. Phys. Chem. A 2014, 118, 10596-10602.

- 9. Ayitou, A. J.-L.; Sivaguru, J. Chem. Commun. 2011, 47, 2568-2570.
- a) Pemberton, B. C.; Barooah, N.; Srivatsava, D. K.; Sivaguru, J. *Chem. Commun.* 2010, 46, 225-227; b) Pemberton, B. C.; Singh, R. K.; Johnson, A. C.; Jockusch, S.; Da Silva, J. P.; Ugrinov, A.; Turro, N. J.; Srivastava, D. K.; Sivaguru, J. *Chem. Commun.* 2011, 47, 6323-6325; c) Pemberton, B. C.; Kumarasamy, E.; Jockusch, S.; Srivastava, D. K.; Sivaguru, J. *Can. J. Chem.* 2011, 89, 310-316; d) Ayitou, A.; Pemberton, B. C.; Kumarasamy, E.; Vallavoju, N.; Sivaguru, J. *Chimia.* 2011, 65, 202-209.
- a) Vallavoju, N.; Selvakumar, S.; Jockusch, S.; Sibi, M. P.; Sivaguru, J. Angen. Chem. Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 5604-5608; b) Vallavoju, N.; Selvakumar, S.; Jockusch, S.; Prabhakaran, M. T.; Sibi, M. P.; Sivaguru, J. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2014, 356, 2763-2768.
- 12. Rajendran, S.; Raghunathan, R.; Hevus, I.; Krishnan, R.; Ugrinov, A.; Sibi, M. P.; Webster, D. C.; Sivaguru, J. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 1159-1163.
- 13. Clay, A.; Kumarasamy, E.; Ayitou, A. J.-L.; Sivaguru, J. Chem. Lett. 2014, 43, 1816-1825.
- a) Ohba, S.; Hosomi, H.; Tanaka, K.; Miyamoto, H.; Toda, F. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 2075-2085; b) Tanaka, K.; Kakinoki, O.; Toda, F. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1053-1054.
- a) Bregman, J.; Osaki, K.; Schmidt, G. M. J.; Sonntag, F. I. J. Chem. Soc. 1964, 2021-2030; b) Friedman, G.; Lahav, M.; Schmidt, G. M. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1974, 428-432.
- a) Ramamurthy, V.; Caspar, J. V.; Corbin, D. R.; Schlyer, B. D.; Maki, A. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1990, 94, 3391-3393; b)

Ramamurthy, V.; Caspar, J. V.; Eaton, D. F.; Kuo, E. W.; Corbin, D. R. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1992**, *114*, 3882-3892; c) Jockusch, S.; Sivaguru, J.; Turro, N. J.; Ramamurthy, V. *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.* **2005**, *4*, 403-405.

- a) Obata, T.; Shimo, T.; Suishu, T.; Somekawa, K. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1998, 35, 1361-1364; b) Booker-Milburn, K. I.; Anson, C. E.; Clissold, C.; Costin, N. J.; Dainty, R. F.; Murray, M.; Patel, D.; Sharpe, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 1473-1482; c) Tedaldi, L. M.; Aliev, A. E.; Baker, J. R. Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 4725-4727; d) Bradshaw, J. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1966, 7, 2039-2042.
- 18. Cubbage, K. L.; Orr-Ewing, A. J.; Booker-Milburn, K. I. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 2514-2517.
- Roscini, C.; Cubbage, K. L.; Berry, M.; Orr-Ewing, A. J.; Booker-Milburn, K. I. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 8716-8720.
- 20. a) Hook, B. D. A.; Dohle, W.; Hirst, P. R.; Pickworth, M.; Berry, M. B.; Booker-Milburn, K. I. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 7558-7564;
 b) Knowles, J. P.; Elliott, L. D.; Booker-Milburn, K. I. Beilstein J. Org. Chem 2012, 8, 2025-2052.
- 21. Miller, C. W.; Jönsson, E. S.; Hoyle, C. E.; Viswanathan, K.; Valente, E. J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2001, 105, 2707-2717.
- 22. Schmidt, R.; Tanielian, C.; Dunsbach, R.; Wolff, C. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A 1994, 79, 11-17.
- 23. a) LaLonde, R. T.; Aksentijevich, R. I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1965**, *6*, 23-27; b) Maruyama, K. I., T; *Chem. Lett.* **1980**, *9*, 359-360.
- 24. Alder, A. B., N.; Bellus, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1982, 65, 2405-2412.
- 25. Schmidt, G. M. J. Pure Appl. Chem 1971, 27, 647-678.

PORTER MEDAL

The Porter Medal 2016 - Call for Nominations

The Porter Medal is awarded every two years to the scientist who, in the opinion of the European Photochemistry Association, the Inter-American Photochemistry Society, and the Asian and Oceanian Photochemistry Association, has contributed most to the subject of Photochemistry. The Porter Medal, named for the late George Porter FRS, Nobel Laureate, is awarded biannually to the scientist who in the opinion of the judges, has contributed most to the science of photochemistry with particular emphasis on more physical aspects, reflecting George Porter's own interests.

To nominate European candidates for The Porter Medal 2016, candidate's details should preferably be sent directly to the President of the European Photochemistry Association, Professor David Worrall (d.r.worrall@lboro.ac.uk). For nomination of candidates from other continents, see the Porter Medal webpage: http://www.portermedal.com. Nominations may also be sent to the Chair of the Porter Medal Committee, Professor David Klug. The nomination package should include:

- Curriculum Vitae of the candidate
- A list of publications
- A citation for the award, not exceeding five pages
- Two letters of reference

Provisional closing date for the receipt of nominations (based on the guidelines from previous years) will be 31 January 2016.

Previous winners:

- 1988 Lord Porter (George Porter), UK (Founding medal)
- 1990 Michael Kasha, USA
- 1992 Kinichi Honda, Japan

120

June 2015

- 1994 Nicholas J.Turro, USA
- 1995 J.C."Tito" Scaiano, Canada (Special Medal for London ICP)
- 1996 Noboru Mataga, Japan
- 1998 Frans de Schryver, Belgium
- 2000 Vincenzo Balzani, Italy
- 2002 Josef Michl, USA
- 2004 Graham R.Fleming, USA
- 2006 Howard E. Zimmerman, USA Hiroshi Masuhara, Japan
- 2008 Michael R. Wasielewski, USA
- 2010 David Philips, UK
- 2012 Thomas J. Meyer, USA
- 2014 Masahiro Irie, Japan

121

EPA PRIZE

EPA Prize for Best PhD Thesis in Photochemistry Call for Nominations

The EPA Prize for the best PhD thesis in photochemistry will be attributed during the CECP 2016 Meeting which will be held in Bad Hofgastein, Austria, in 2016. The awardee will present his/her work at the Symposium. The Prize is 1000 Euros, plus travel costs to Bad Hofgastein (within the limit of 300 €) and one free year of EPA membership. The candidate must have defended his/her PhD thesis in 2014/2015 and be nominated by an EPA member. Nominations should be sent (electronically only) to David Worrall (d.r.worrall@lboro.ac.uk). The nomination package should include:

- Curriculum Vitae of the candidate
- Copy of the thesis
- Abstract of thesis in English, no more than five pages
- List of publications arising from the thesis
- A letter of support.

Closing date for the receipt of nominations will be 31 December 2015.

Previous winners:

- 2008 Maria Abrahamsson (thesis supervisor: Leif Hammarström), Sweden, Alexandre Fürstenberg (thesis supervisior: Eric Vauthey), Switzerland
- 2010 Anne Kotiaho (thesis supervisior: Helge Lemmetyinen), Finland
- 2012 Karl Börjesson (thesis supervisior: Bo Albinsson), Sweden
- 2014 Giuseppina La Ganga (thesis supervisor: Sebastiano Campagna), Italy

June 2015

SPECIAL REPORTS ON PROMOTING PHOTOCHEMISTRY

Introduction

Dear EPA members,

This issue of the EPA Newsletter, June 2015, is dedicated to the understanding of Photophysics/Photochemistry concepts via simple, eye-catching experiments performed by researchers, addressing students, teachers, and the general public.

David Philips is well known not only as a prestigious researcher but also as an excellent communicator of the importance of science to the general public. He mentions relevant points to captivate the audience while learning science. The amount of science introduced would depend on the age and experience of the audience while the demonstrations themselves would be simple and relevant to the concept being introduced.

Peter Douglas has given quite a few demonstration lectures addressing students, families, and teachers, in a variety of countries. He firmly believes that this is a valuable tool for presenting the wonder and delight of science at different audiences as well as for inspiring next generation of researchers to deal with issues facing mankind.

John Sodeau reflects on two totally different research subjects that have caught his attention. One of them is related to gaining information into the Antarctic ozone hole problem by using the matrix isolation technique. The other is related to real-time monitoring of airborne primary biological aerosol particles and their content by using fluorescence.

Michael Tausch research is focused on the didactics of chemistry and his contribution deals with the need for teaching photophysics/photochemistry at all levels and how valuable attractive experiments are for this purpose.

Claudia Bohrmann-Linde describes a set of interesting experiments aimed at children aged between 8 and 12 years old. An exploration of liquid crystals was made beyond the mere phenomenological approach by working with different types of models which progressively introduced the underlying concepts.

Axel Griesbeck and co-workers contribution describes how photochemical processes are more easily understood by visualising

them using analytical techniques, i.e., tracing photochemistry with simple experiments that can be followed by different methods, such as absorption and emission spectroscopy.

The EPA committee wants to highlight the importance of the input of excellent communicators and we think that this special year (the international year of light) is a good occasion for that.

Finally, companies related to this field of research can also act as diffusion agents through their webpages. All of them are encouraged to increase their role in dissemination of science related to LIGHT as an innocuous reagent and as an activating agent of physical processes.

Julia Pérez-Prieto Associate Editor EPA Newsletter Universidad de Valencia Instituto de Ciencia Molecular (ICmol) C/ Catedrático José Beltrán 2 46980 Paterna, Valencia

Tracing Photochemistry with simple experiments and not-so-simple Spectroscopy

Axel Griesbeck, Sebastian Hanft, and Sabrina Molitor Department of Chemistry, Cologne University, Organic Chemistry Institute, 50939 Köln, Germany

Many photochemical reactions are not easy to understand for most undergraduate students at universities, not to talk about college students or pupils in high schools. One obvious problem is that we add to the already complex world of electronic ground-state reactions, intermediates, and transition states the strange world of electronic excitation. Even worse, spin isomers, singlet and triplet excited states appear, intersystem crossing, internal conversions and, unavoidable, quantum chemistry dictates many events. Additionally, ultrafast processes from the microsecond down to the femtosecond time regimes add to the scene.

One way to make the understanding of these processes easier and, at the same time, not to oversimplify the chemistry, is to collect data that visualize reaction progress. Direct visualization might for example take advantage of the colour changing properties of photochromic molecules that can be deposited in polymeric matrices and switched by light sources such as laser pointers or overhead projectors. This approach uses however a direct visual impression that might hinder the deeper understanding of the relevant photophysical and photochemical processes. Thus, what we are currently developing is a combination of classical photochemistry with analytical methods that are well known to undergraduate students. One example (ref. 1) is the photodecarboxylation of alkyl carboxylates and aryl acetates by triplet phthalimides (N-benzyl phthalimide 1a in Figure 1). The latter are well characterized excited states (family: aromatic imides like pyromellitic or perylene carboxylic acid imides, currently intensively investigated acceptor compounds) and are good electron acceptors in their triplet states (= reductive quenching processes). Simple carboxylates such as phenylacetate (3 in Figure 1) are oxidized to the carboxy radical, and after rapid decarboxylation generate benzylic radicals that add to the phthalimide radical anions. By such a process, acetates are converted to alkoxides and this transitions leads in aqueous solution to a rise in pH. Simultaneously, carbon dioxide is eliminated and can be measured in the gas phase. Thus, cheap and reliable sensor systems can be used to visualize light-induced chemical processes.



Figure 1. pH and CO_2 evolution traces with photolysis time for a mixture of a phthalimide **1a** and phenyl acetate starting at pH 8.5 in aqueous unbuffered solution.

June 2015



Figure 2. Pyrex irradiation chamber with two outlets for the simultaneous determination of pH, electric conductivity and temperature (in solution, central outlet) and carbon dioxide measurements in the gas phase (right outlet) and registration by means of a PASCO Xplorer GLX Graphing Data Logger.

On the other hand, sensors that we need to for the development of the analysis of environmental conditions but also for kinetic evaluation of photochemical (and other) reactions, need improvement and constant development of new systems. The same kind of chromophore that we used for (stoechiometric) photodecarboxylation experiments is also useful as a synthetic building block for sensor molecules that are able to detect neutral analytes such as hydrogen peroxide or anions like fluoride, cyanide or sulfate. An application that gains more and more importance is the detection of the enantiomer composition of chiral analytes, i.e. enantiodifferentiating reporter molecules. These sensors can be obtained by a modular approach (ref. 2) combining the emitting fluorophore with a recognition unit and a chiral group that leads to enantiodifferentiation. A typical result is show in Figure 2 where the sensor recognizes R-lactate two times stronger than the S- enantiomer. These effects are depicted by absorption spectroscopy (new absorption bands), by fluorescence and by time-resolved fluorescence spectroscopy in the sub nanosecond time regime. This approach takes use the meaningful combination of all basic photophysical techniques.



Figure 3. Fluorescence quenching of a chiral phthalimide-urea-amino alcohol sensor triade with additional amounts of (R)- versus (S)-lactate: proof of moderate enantiodifferentiation.

References.

1. Griesbeck, A. G.; Nazarov, N.; Neudörfl, J.; Heffen, M. Green Chem. 14, 3004-3006 (2012).

2. Griesbeck, A. G.; Hanft, S.; Díaz Miara, Y. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 9, 1385-1390 (2010).

Catching the Light

Peter Douglas

Chemistry Group, College of Engineering, Swansea University, SA2 8PP, UK

Demonstration lectures and chemistry workshops have been an important, and highly enjoyable, part of my life in chemistry ever since I joined Swansea University almost thirty years ago. George Porter's Christmas Lectures from the Royal Institution were an inspiration while I was a teenager, I still remember how much fun Bob Cundall's 'explosions' lecture was when I saw it while an undergraduate at Newcastle University, and then studying at the Royal Institution gave me the chance to see some other superb demonstration lectures.

The first demonstration lecture I was involved in, 'Photochemistry in Action',¹ was put together with Andrew Mills for a University open day soon after I arrived in Swansea in 1986. Since then, and subject to many changes, (the most important of which was bringing Mike Garley into the two man lecture team when Andrew Mills left Swansea for Strathclyde), we've given the demonstration lecture, now called 'Chemistry and Light', perhaps 100 times at more than 30 venues around the world, to a total audience of something like 20,000-25,000 students, families, and teachers, across the UK and Ireland, and in Belgium, France, Switzerland, Malta, Singapore, and South Africa.

The lecture is a series of demonstrations around three themes: how light is made; how light is used in technology and everyday life; and how light might be used in the future in the production of clean water and clean energy. 'On how to get noticed in the club or disco' is probably the most notable part, since it is involves me dressing up in UV active 'club gear' and generally playing the fool (Fig. 1), but humour is an important part of how I like to present science. But the serious aim is to present the wonder and delight of science to students and the public, and to inspire the next generation of scientists to deal with the key technological, medical, environmental, and energy issues facing mankind, notably the need for clean water and clean energy – both very active areas of photochemical research. It takes us a transit van of equipment and quite a few hours setting up and taking down, so it is quite a bit of organising.

June 2015



Figure 1. How to get noticed in the club or disco. Learned Society of Wales Inaugural Christmas Lecture, Cardiff 2013, (photo by Simon Gough).

Chemistry is an experimental science, and I've always been keen to give workshops where participants get the chance to do some experiments of their own. Phil Jones, at the International School of Paris in Versailles, invited us to give chemistry workshops for his IB students in 1992, and from this we developed a regular series of workshops, 'Catching the Light', between 1992 and 2004, held in Versailles with students from schools in UK, Belgium, France, Germany, Greece, Holland, Luxembourg, Spain, Turkey, Finland, and Switzerland. One of my favourite experiments in these workshops was a luminol chemiluminescent 'clock reaction' based on an experiment described by Peter Jones and Jane Frew from Newcastle University. The experiment gives a 'clock' pulse of bright blue chemiluminescence when two solutions are mixed. The delay time of the pulse is controlled by the concentration of vitamin C. So we'd get the participants gathered around a large table with the two solutions ready to mix, placing each team with a different, increasing, vitamin C concentration in order around the table; knock the lights off; give our eyes thirty seconds or so to adjust to the light; then on the count of three all rapidly mix the two solutions required to give the clock reaction and place the mixed solution on the table. These then would 'clock' in order round the table which is always great fun to watch. We also did some 'photogenic drawing' with Fox-Talbot salted paper prints, some experiments making carbon dioxide sensors, oscillating chemical reactions, and micro-column chromatography of plant extracts.

We met up with Phil Jones again in 2010, when we gave a 'Science Week' at St George's School, Neuchatel, where he was the Director. This was a series of workshops for junior, middle, and senior school pupils. We used some of the experiments described above, but added: blueprints; colour and chemiluminescence; paper chromatography; and acids and bases with red cabbage indicator colours, for the younger groups. This gave one of my favourite comments about any of the workshops, written on the St George's School Blog: "On Tuesday, we, the junior class, first did a lesson about acids and bases with the only woman of the week, Ingrid. I really enjoyed that lesson because I learned quite a lot and I discovered things I would never think of otherwise."

The most recent workshops were part of a project "*Catching the Light with the Rainbow Nation*", South Africa, 2013, organised with Matthew Davies from the SPECIFIC group in the College of Engineering, Swansea. Over a two-week period we ran workshops in Durban and Mafikeng for 1300 school children. For the senior school groups we concentrated on an experiment to make and test a dye sensitised solar cell. We introduced a bit of competitive fun by splitting each workshop into groups which used either fruit dyes or dyes from South African rooibos to see which gave the best cells, (Fig. 2).

June 2015



Figure 2. Students at Mafikeng High School filter raspberry juice to extract the red dye to make a dye sensitised solar cell, (photo by Bruce Philip).

I like to include both historically important science such as Fox-Talbot photogenic drawing, and something linked to current research, such as dye sensitised cells, in the lecture and workshops. And in a twist in the research–demonstration lecture relationship, the work described in a recent paper² on the iconic dye mauveine was started because I wanted to find an original sample which could be shown during lectures.

I'd like to thank all of funding bodies and organisers who have made it possible for us to present the lecture and workshop over the years. And it all takes teamwork, and so, to all of the lecture and workshop teams over the past thirty or so years, thanks - it has been great fun!

References.

Mills, A.; Douglas, P. Sci. Publ. Affairs, 5, 25-32 (1990).
 Conceição Oliveira, M.; Dias, A.; Douglas, P.; Seixas de Melo, S. Chem. Eur. J., 20, 1808-12 (2014).

June 2015

Here comes the Sun

Professor John Sodeau, Director of Centre for Research into Atmospheric Chemistry (CRACLab) University College Cork, Ireland



An article with a title like the above will go one of two ways: the "solar energy materials" route or the "our atmosphere" route. (It could, of course, go by both if it is about "understanding photosynthesis"). Photochemistry obviously is the foundation for all three pathways but where the road goes very much depends on where the student starts walking. My lifelong interest in "Photochemistry and Photophysics" began while still an undergraduate at the University of Southampton (I won't embarrass the person who sparked it all for me!) But my real journey started when, as a Postdoctoral Fellow at the University of California in Irvine (UCI), I met and worked with Ed Lee, had daily coffee with Sherry Rowland and Mario Molina and shared an office with Jack Calvert. I didn't stand much chance did I? Yes I chose the atmospheric chemistry, and now aerobiology, road to stroll along. The Sun drives life on planet Earth by creating and breaking molecules in the atmospheric region above the water and land surface on which we live and rises up to about 120 km in altitude. It is not one static homogeneous layer of gas as was once thought to be the case....even before my time. No, it is a dynamic layered-bytemperature fluid containing gases, water vapour, droplets and solid particles that can be chemical or biological in origin, as well as various highly reactive radical species. And it was those radicals controlling the observed reaction pathways in the atmosphere that once again caused my interest to become sparked. My research project at UCI was directed toward identifying the intermediates formed in the photochemistry of formaldehyde, a very important

pollutant in the lowest region of our atmosphere called the troposphere. The late Professor Ed Lee, who was my boss, had performed many studies on the photophysics of H2CO but not much about its break-up in light. The end products were known: hydrogen and carbon monoxide formed by two photolysis pathways, one direct and one by forming two radicals, HCO and a hydrogen atom. I had been hired to confirm this using IR spectroscopy. Fast scan-methods were not available then but a technique called matrix isolation was. (I had done a PhD in the subject showing that CO was not the only molecule that could be released from photolysed organometallic carbonyl compounds in low temperature solids; bulky old pyridine could be too).1 The subsequent results I got at UCI were strange to say the least. The observed photo-products in a solid Ar matrix held at 10 K could only be explained, I felt, by the formation of an unusual carbene called hydroxymethylene (HCOH) that only had an existence in the world of computer modelling until that point.2 That was in 1978. You can imagine my sigh of relief some 30 years after this prediction when HCOH was finally captured spectroscopically.3

I applied similar techniques with a whole team at the University of East Anglia between 1980 and 1998, although then we concentrated on trying to understand some stratospheric chemistry and a problem you have all heard of: the Antarctic ozone "hole". This phenomenon leading to irreversible ozone destruction occurs when active chlorine atoms and the ClO radical are somehow released from the photochemically inactive compound, HCl. This molecule is a socalled atmospheric "sink" for chlorine in the stratosphere. Modelling calculations indicated that the molecular form would prevail even when it was cryo-pumped and adsorbed to the small, airborne ice particles there called Polar Stratospheric Clouds (PSCs). Our experiments showed at temperatures present in the Antarctic stratosphere during Winter that HCl became solvated by the waterice, which allowed it to become ionized and make free chloride ions. These ions could rapidly react on the ice surface with other chlorinecontaining compounds present there like HOCl and chlorine nitrate (ClONO2) to release photo-active molecular chlorine. This was a novel and key finding to help understand how ozone was destroyed over Antarctica because HCl, HOCl and ClONO2 react only very slowly in the gas-phase.4

One other parallel road I followed in my career at UEA was to modify microbes to become photo-protectors, photocatalysts and light-emitters by treating them so that they would form metal sulfide 'Q-particles' on their surfaces.5 After that time though, as I explained above, my research moved toward the study of atmospheric chemistry related mechanisms in the laboratory. We quickly realised that to validate any of those experiments air monitoring studies on real roads have to be undertaken and that is what I and the CRACLab research team at University College Cork have done over the last 10 years or so. At first the measurements were directed exclusively toward airborne chemical pollutants. But now, once again, after all those years away I have returned to luminescence to not only count and identify airborne Primary Biological Aerosol Particles (PBAP) like fungal spores and pollen in real-time but also to probe using biochemical their contents fluorescence lifetime measurements.6 In the field campaigns we have used a new type of instrument called WIBS (Wideband Integrated Bioaerosol Sensor) based on fluorescence detection to monitor biological particle emissions from trees7 and agricultural material like hay8 and most recently from composting/green waste sites.9 Those studies really came out of nowhere into my research orbit but it has shown me that although the road you are on is important, it's the people who are with you, those who have been with you and the view you get from looking around that should be valued the most.

References.

 Photoreactions of pyridine-pentacarbonyl tungsten in argon matrices at 12 K. Rest, AJ; Sodeau JCS Chem. Comm. 16 696-697 (1975)
 Intermediacy of hydroxymethylene (HCOH) in the lowtemperature matrix photochemistry of formaldehyde. Sodeau JR and Lee EKC. Chem. Phys. Lett. 57 71-74 (1978).

3. Capture of hydroxymethylene and its fast disappearance through tunnelling. Schreiner, PR. Reisenauer, HP; Pickard, F C et al. Nature 453 906-U42 (2008)

4. Ionisation and solvation of stratospherically relevant molecules on ice films Banham, SF; Horn, AB Koch, TG, JR Sodeau et al. Faraday Discussions 100 321-332 (1995)

5. Cadmium-specific formation of metal sulfide 'Q-particles' by Klebsiella pneumoniae. Holmes, JD Richardson, DJ; Sodeau JR et al. Microbiology-UK. 143 2521-2530 (1997)

6. Using spectral analysis and fluorescence lifetimes to discriminate between grass and tree pollen for aerobiological applications. O'Connor, DJ. Lovera, P Sodeau JR et al. Analytical Methods 6 1633-1639 (2014)

7. Ambient measurements of biological aerosol particles near Killarney, Ireland: a comparison between real-time fluorescence and microscopy techniques. Healy, D. A. Huffman, J. A. O'Connor, D. J.; Sodeau JR et al. Atmos. Chem. and Physics. 14 8055-8069 (2014)

8. The on-line detection of biological particle emissions from selected agricultural materials using the WIBS-4 (Wideband Integrated Bioaerosol Sensor) technique. O'Connor, DJ. Healy, DA.; Sodeau, JR. Atmos. Environ. 80 415-425 (2013)

9. On-line monitoring of airborne bioaerosols released from a composting/green waste site. O'Connor. DJ, Daly SM and Sodeau JR. (http://dx.doi .org/10.1016/jwasman.2015.04.015)

Light up their Lives

David Phillips

Department of Chemistry, Imperial College London, nExhibition Road, London SW7 2AZ

Many photochemical reactions are not easy to understand for most undergraduate students at universities, not to talk about college students or pupils in high schools. One obvious problem is that we add to the already complex world of electronic ground-state reactions, intermediates, and transition states the strange world of electronic excitation. Even worse, spin isomers, singlet and triplet excited states appear, intersystem crossing, internal conversions and, unavoidable, quantum chemistry dictates As a chemist interested in enthusing young people and the lay public in chemistry in general, photochemistry in particular, I have found it relatively easy to illustrate in an amusing but informative way the basic principles and applications of our subject, because demonstrations can easily be prepared and used to dramatise the science. The basic rules of demonstrations are that they should be simple, immediate, and relevant to the science one is trying to put across to the audience. I began using demonstrations when lecturing to undergraduates in the University of Southampton, in 1967, and turned these into my first demonstration lecture, 'Chemistry of Light', inspired by a similar lecture given by J.C.Robb in the University of Birmingham, where I was an undergraduate and post-graduate student. Over the years, I have developed many others under the titles 'Lasers, the Light Fantastic', Chemistry of the Atmosphere' 1, and perhaps the most widely given 'A Little Light Relief'2,3.

All concern applications of photochemistry and lasers, the last concentrating on the uses of light in medicine, seen from a chemist's point of view. For this lecture, my closing demonstration, and my trademark, has always been the use of blue light to cure neonatal jaundice, a therapy in use since the mid 1950's. I had a glass baby Bobbitt' specially made in the University of Southampton in which a chloroform solution of bilirubin was shown not to dissolve in water, but after irradiation with blue light, then dissolved [through a photochemical cis –trans isomerisation reaction which exposes carboxylic acid groups enabling the dissolution in water. The baby then urinates into a child's potty, causing great delight in young children ! The name 'Bobbitt was coined because the baby is essentially a separating funnel, with a very strategically located stopcock[clearly a male baby] Over the years, the stopcock proved to be the most vulnerable part of the baby's anatomy, and had frequently to be re-joined to the body, echoing the unfortunate fate of one Wayne Bobbitt jr. The original 'Bobbitt' was destroyed in transit to Berlin in 2013 where I was giving the Queen's Anniversary lecture at Technical University Berlin in , but the University of Southampton have generously constructed a replacement, shown in Figure 1 and named 'Mike' after the glassblower who made the original.

Luminescences, particularly fluorescence, are usually very well appreciated by audiences ranging in age from the very young, [ages five to 11],through older school students, undergraduates, postgraduates, to the elderly, typically U3A. The amount of science introduced into the lecture does of course vary with the age and experience of the audience, but the demonstrations remain the same.

One can use dyestuffs of every colour to illustrate fluorescence, but my favourite demonstration is to drink tonic [quinine]water illuminated by uv light, where the intense blue colour of the quinine fluorescence causes delight in the audience. I invariably add a little gin to the mixture; the gin does not of course fluoresce, but makes the drink more palatable !

Explosions are also arresting for the audience, but should only be used where relevant to the science. Perhaps the simplest is the hydrogen/chlorine explosion, initiated with visible light, though care must be taken to exclude oxygen which inhibits the reaction. The demonstration can be carried out in a glass test tube, which gives an audible 'pop', but can also be done on a larger scale. I have on occasion used large plastic bags filled with the mixture, initiated either by a powerful visible lamp, or even in sunlight. Ventilation is essential, given the product is HCl !

There are many others- photo-polymerisation, photo-chromism, photo-degradation, the production of 'photochemical smog' in a fishtank, and above all, the demonstration of powerful lasers, [made much easier by the advent of semiconductor battery-driven lasers of all colours] causes wonder and delight in audiences of all ages, but particularly the young4.

My only tip would be to write the lecture highlighting the science you wish to communicate, then fit demonstrations into this narrative to illustrate and dramatise the science. Done in reverse, ie starting with the demonstrations, there is a danger the science will take second place to the theatre,



Figure 1 'Mike' the replacement glass baby used to demonstrate light treatment of neonatal jaundice, University of Southampton 2013

and you can end up with a 'magic show' which though enjoyed by the audience can be an ephemeral experience.

Over the years, I have reached live audiences in excess of 250 000 people, and appeared on TV [BBC Christmas Lectures], the Discovery Channel, Japanese TV,etc where the audiences are counted in millions. I hope I have lit the lamp of interest in our subject in many of these audiences; certainly my own life has been made hugely enjoyable by communicating photochemistry.

References.

1. D.Phillips in Proceedings of the Royal Institution, Ed G.Porter, 54, 167-181 (1982)

2. D.Phillips in Proceedings of the Royal Institution, Eds G.Porter and D.Phillips, Science Reviews, London 56, 161-175, 1984

3. D.Phillips Photochem.Photobiol Sci, 9, 1589-1596,(2010)

139

June 2015

4. D.Phillips 'Light up your Life' in Children's Book Series 'Making Sense of Science', ed F.Balkwill, Portland Press, pp 1-32 (1997)

140

Exploring Liquid Crystals with Kids

Claudia Bohrmann-Linde

Chemistry and Chemistry Education, University of Wuppertal, Germany

They have been known for more than 125 years [1], everyone looks at them every day, yet many people know only little about them: liquid crystals. This is a class of matter which has turned from being a mere laboratory curiosity into an important component in digital displays, flatscreen TVs or displays for mobile phones in our homes. How can we imagine the particles inside a sample of a liquid-crystalline substance to look like and how must these particles be arranged in order to make a pixel visible? And – very important for people involved in teaching- how can we explain this complex topic to pupils?

Here simple experiments on liquid crystals and a didactical concept for exploring the function of a basic liquid crystal display (LCD) are presented. The latter was developed in the department of chemical education in Wuppertal, Germany, within a cooperation project with the company Merck. It was successfully tested in October 2014 within workshops during the "door opener's day", which is annually called for by a famous educational television format for children, "Die Sendung mit der Maus" [2]. The didactical exploration aimed at children aged 8 to 12. With simple experiments the future scientists could learn step by step how a basic LCD works (Fig.1).



Figure 1. Experiments for exploring liquid crystals and LCDs The first aspect to deal with is states of matter and to introduce the liquid-crystalline state as fourth state of matter. It is described as something inbetween the solid and the liquid state of matter. Further information that is given are the facts that liquid crystals are turbid and capable of flowing, they scatter light, their particles exist in some kind of order and they interact with an external electrical field.

Order and disorder in a model experiment (E1)

Equipped with this information the pupils carried out the first experiment E1. Here a first encounter with models takes place and the aspect "order of particles" is focused on, which is relevant throughout the whole didactical sequence. The pupils were asked to bring order into a heap of matches which was placed on a sheet of paper and to explain the order they had chosen. The matches were introduced as models for the particles inside a liquid-crystalline sample and compared to a molecule model of the liquid-crystalline substance MBBA, which also has a relatively straight shape (Fig.2).



Figure 2. Model of an MBBA-Molecule

In a second step the pupils were asked to slightly shake the sheet of paper, so the order of the matches was destroyed. This simulates the heating of a liquid-crystalline sample, which causes the molecules to lose their ordered arrangement and spread irregularly through the sample.

Clearing point of a liquid-crystalline sample (E2)

In the second experiment E2 the pupils got a sample of the liquidcrystalline substance N-(4-methoxybenzylidene)-4-butylaniline, MBBA, inside a glass ampulla.

The synthesis of MBBA by *Hans Kelker* in 1969 [3] is considered a milestone in the research of liquid crystals, because for the first time a substance had been found that is in the liquid-crystalline state at room temperature – a vital requirement for its use in liquid crystal displays. MBBA belongs to the group of calamitic liquid crystals. Their molecular shape can be considered rod-like, which is represented by the match models very well. From a didactical point of view MBBA is a very interesting substance, because it can even be

June 2015

synthesized by school means in the advanced chemistry classroom via a condensation reaction of 4-methoxybenzaldehyde (*p*-anisaldehyde) and 4-butylaniline and it can be used in further experiments [4].

In E2 the pupils' task was to examine the light yellow, turbid substance in the ampulla at room temperature first and then to heat one ampulla with a blow-dryer, while cooling a second ampulla in a salt-ice-mixture. So the phase transitions from liquid-crystalline to liquid (at 47°C) and from liquid-crystalline to solid (at 22°C) could be observed. The new term "clearing point", which defines the transition temperature from liquid-crystalline to liquid or vice versa, was introduced. When the liquid-crystalline MBBA is heated, the turbid fluid clears up and becomes transparent. When the heat source is removed, the substance becomes turbid again (Fig.3).



Figure 3. Glass ampulla with MBBA after heating the tip with a blow-dryer

Experiments with light and polarization filters (E3)

In the third experiment E3 one deals with the topics light, polarization and polarizing filters. The pupils were asked to look into the light beam of a torch (with a weak light bulb, not an LED!) and to place one polarizing filter on top of the torch. In the next step a second polarizing filter was to be held at some distance on top of the first polarizing filter and to be rotated in plane. During this rotation one can see the light fading down to extinction and brightening up again, depending on the position of the polarizing filters towards each other. The terms parallel and crossed filters are introduced. The polarization of light and the passing and the extinction of light is explained by cardboard models (Fig.4).

June 2015



Figure 4. Models for the passing of light at parallel polarizing filters and for the extinction of light at crossed polarizing filters

143

Colours and shapes by light passing liquid crystals (E4)

After having found out that crossed polarizing filters lead to the extinction of light one can make an astonishing observation in experiment E4. If you place a "sandwich" made of two microscope slides with a drop of MBBA within between crossed polarizing filters in the light beam of a slide projector, the light can pass in those areas covered by the liquid-crystalline sample even though the filters are crossed. Due to light scattering and interference phenomena one can also see beautiful colours in the areas where the liquid-crystalline layer is not uniform in thickness (Fig.5).



Figure 5. MBBA sandwich (left) and passing light at crossed polarizing filters (middle and right)

The observation that light can pass inspite of crossed polarizing filters focuses on a property of liquid crystals which is crucial for LCDs: the property of turning linearly polarized light. Now the topic "order" becomes relevant again. One can imagine the molecules of the liquid-crystalline substance to be ordered like the steps of spiral stair or like a helix. Along this twist the linearly polarized light is turned, so it can pass the second polarizing filter and is seen on a screen. From the MBBA-sandwich it is only a small step towards a liquid crystal display.

➤ Working with a simple 1-pixel-display (E5)

In the fifth experiment E5 the pupils got a 1-pixel test cell and a battery. By connecting the poles of the battery to the cell they could make a square pixel appear in black. Disconnecting the cell from the battery made the pixel vanish again. In this experiment the focus is on the interaction of liquid crystals with an electric field. It was explained that the molecules of the liquid crystal arrange in a twisted way, which is supported by orientation layers on the inner sides of the conductive glass plates of the LCD cell. The LCD is covered by two crossed polarizing filters. When applying a voltage the molecules arrange parallel towards the electric field. Now the light cannot move through the second polarizing filter and the pixel appears black.

Besides the finished 1-pixel-cell another test-cell was handed out which had not been equipped with polarizing filters. The pupils' task was to make the cell work. By thinking back about the experiments E3 and E4 they could take two of the polarizing filters from E3, cross them and place the test-cell inbetween them. By connecting the cell with the battery they could make the black pixel appear (Fig. 6).



Figure 6. Making a pixel appear in a simple display

The possibility to make a pixel appear by applying an electric voltage and removing it is a link to talk about the addressing of pixels in commercial displays. This was only dealt with marginally in this experimental sequence. To take a step towards commercially available LCDs it was talked about how many single pixels need to be addressed in a typical TV screen, so the pupils could get a glance at the dimensions and the precision needed in manufacturing displays for TVs and monitors.
The experience with the realization of the concept with three groups of 30 pupils each has shown that it is well possible to make complex scientific topics accessible for children on a suitable level and to support them in their own experimental activities. The level of understanding of the underlying processes even reached beyond the mere phenomenological approach and the pupils were well able to work with different kinds of models.

As a follow-up regarding coloured displays the "LCD-Explorer" by the company Merck [5] can be recommended.

References.

1a. Geelhaar, T., Griesar, K., Reckmann, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 52, 8798 – 8809 (2013).

1b. Lehmann, O. Z. Phys. Chem., 4, 462-472 (1889).

1c. Reinitzer, F. Monatsh. Chem 9, 421-441(1888).

2. Bohrmann-Linde, C., Weinzettel, S., Landau, R. *PdN-ChiS*, to be published in **63 (4)** (2015).

3. Kelker, H., Bartsch, W. Angew. Chem. 24, 984-985 (1970).

4a. Bohrmann-Linde, C. PdN-ChiS, 56 (6), 13-20 (2007).

4b. Bohrmann-Linde, C., Krees, S., Tausch, M.W., von Wachtendonk, M. (eds): CHEMIE 2000+, Qualifikationsphase Sek. II NRW, C. C. Buchner, Bamberg 2014.

5.

http://www.merck.de/de/unternehmen/entdecke_merck/lcd_explo rer.html

Chemistry and Light - An Imperative for Teaching at all Levels

Michael W. Tausch

Chemistry and Chemistry Education, University of Wuppertal, Germany

In the year 1865 A. F. KEKULÉ, the doyen of aromaticity, described chemistry as the "theory of the metamorphosis of matter". Analogously the didactics of chemistry can be described as the "theory of the curricular metamorphosis of the communication of chemistry". The major aim of *curriculum innovation* research is an increase in the quality of the teaching of chemistry by renewal and adaption of the contents and the methodology of the teaching to the state of the art of scientific knowledge, future-relevant issues and social life forms within the technological civilization.

In this sense photoprocesses, in which light participates as input or



Figure 1. Experiments with light <u>http://www.chemiedidaktik.uni-wuppertal.de/english/index.html</u>

output, are of fundamental importance for all science subjects, however, this is particularly true for chemistry. They hold key functions in central research topics and innovative technologies of the 21st century. Among catchphrases such as energy transition, energy efficiency, photovoltaics, conservation of resources, climate change, sustainability and "green" chemistry, photo processes increasingly gain significance in economy, politics and the public debate. Under these conditions the stronger integration of photo processes into the teaching of chemistry at schools and universities becomes an up-to-date requirement. In order to realize that the following three prerequisites are needed:

1. "A pretty experiment is in itself often more valuable than twenty formulae extracted from our minds" - this often quoted aphorism by A. EINSTEIN should always be a leitmotif for the teaching a natural science, even when photo processes are concerned. Chemistry education is especially dependent on "pretty experiments", which deliver in sensual perceptible phenomena exactly those observations, which directly rise to interpretations and explanations on the intellectual level of models and concepts. Didactically concise experiments of this kind are the focus of the curricular innovative research at the didactics of chemistry at Wuppertal. In figure 1 there ten categories of phenomena are given, for which experiments dealing with photo processes have been developed and which are readily available. In different versions they are suitable for chemistry education at lower and higher secondary level as well as for education of future chemistry teachers. A comprehensive list of all these experiments together with literature citations and the necessary equipment can be found online at http://www.chemiedidaktik.uniwuppertal.de/english/index.html.

2. Researchers in science and science education alike consider the communication of chemical key concepts as being an efficient method for the teaching and learning of chemistry, because these concepts are able to subsume large classes of phenomena, reaction types and mechanisms. An easy key concept is the paradigm of the ground state and electronic excited state of molecules and other atomic systems, which is described by N. J. TURRO as "the heart of all photoprocesses". This key concept is sufficient to explain photoprocesses with and without "metamorphosis of matter" on a first, scientifically consistent level of abstraction. Within innovative chemistry courses at schools and universities this concept has to be assigned the same significance as other basic concepts such as matter and particles, structure and properties, donor and acceptor or energy and catalysis. Accordingly the concept of ground and electronic excited states has been integrated into the didactic material for teaching at schools and universities. It has been adapted to the respective photoprocesses. In most cases, in addition to print media (textbooks, worksheets), interactive Flash animations have been developed, which are illustrative and helpful for learners understanding the elementary processes at particle level. See http://www.chemiedidaktik.uni-wuppertal.de/flash/index.html.

3. Phenomena including the participation of light should be integrated into the chemistry syllabus as early as possible. In the sense of a cumulative learning process within a spiral curriculum photoprocesses should be applied and deepened for higher stages of the syllabus. It is an error to believe that photoprocesses only belong into the higher secondary or university level. Even at the beginners' stage at lower secondary schools e.g. fluorescence of luminous paints can become a topic within the teaching topic "properties of matter" or "light as a type of energy in chemical reactions". However, they should be taught at a phenomenological level. These phenomena are part of students' everyday experiences and can be integrated into the current curricula. Therefore, innovative curricula have to be re-adjusted, so that the communication of phenomenological, conceptual and technological basics of the interaction between light(quanta) and matter(particles) towards the young generation can be achieved. The contents which are linked to the teaching aims are both motivating and efficient for understanding of chemistry and other scientific disciplines.

The International Year of Light 2015 is a great opportunity to bring photochemistry in the centre of attention of researchers and teachers at schools and universities alike. To achieve this, the divisions of the German Chemical Society GDCh "Photochemistry" and "Chemistry Education" have initiated different activities, which are coordinated via their own website <u>http://www.iyl2015.uni-wuppertal.de/</u>. After clicking on "Videos" a list of contributions by leading researchers in the field of photochemistry can be found. Likewise by clicking "Events" a list containing information about planned lectures and

workshops as well as national and international conferences and symposia can be viewed.

References

1. Tausch, M. W.; Korn, S. J. Chem. Educ. 78 (9), 1238 (2001)

2. Tausch, M. W.; Bohrmann, C. J. Chem. Educ. 80 (12), 1471 (2003)

3. Tausch, M. W. Education Quimica 16 (4), 529 (2005)

4. Tausch, M. W.; Rohe, B.; Veeman, W. *Nanotechnology* **17**, 277-282 (2006)

5. Tausch, M. W. *Microscale Chemistry - Experimentation For All Ages* edited by M. Hugerat, P. Schwarz and M. Livneh, The Academic Arab College for Education, Haifa (2006)

6. Tausch, M. W.; Ibanez, J. G.; Fernandez-Gallardo, I.; Robles-Leyzaola, A.; Bohrmann-Linde, C.; Krees, S.; Meuter, N. *J. Chem. Educ.* **88**, 116 (2011)

7. Tausch, M. W.; Banerji, A.; Scherf, U. *Education Quimica* **24** (1), 17 (2013)

150

PILLS OF HISTORY

At the origin of photochemistry. The dimerization of cinnamic acid derivatives

Maurizio D'Auria

Dipartimento di Scienze, Università della Basilicata, Viale dell'Ateneo Lucano 10, 85100 Potenza, Italy

Several natural or biological active compounds are dimers of cinnamic acid derivatives. α - and β -Truxillines **1** and **2** are alkaloids found in *Erythroxylum coca* and *Erythroxylum novogranatense*,¹ and they are strong heart toxins (Figure 1).²

The compound **3** is active antidepolarizing curare-like agent able to induce tachycardia by blockade of muscarinic receptors of the heart (Figure 1).³ Dimers of *p*-coumaric and ferulic acid are in graminaceous cell walls and are involved in the resistance of this structure.^{4,5} Compound **4** has been isolated in *Verbesina caracasana* and showed hypotensive activity (Figure 1).⁶ Finally, compound **5** was identified in Caribbean sponges *Agelas sceptrum* and *Agelas conifera*, and showed antimicrobial and antibacterial acrivity.⁷⁻⁹

The study of the photochemical behavior of cinnamic acid started at the end of XIX century when Liberrmann found that a cinnamic acid derivative, the cinnamylidenemalonic acid 6 (Figure 2), was not stable under light. The colored solid became uncolored under gelbe irradiation.10 He "Die wrote: Farbe der Cinnamylidenmalonsäure wie auch der Cinnamenylcyanacrylsäure hält sich im Dunkeln (jetzt über ein Jahr) unverändert, dagegen sind beide Verbindungen, namentlich die am tiefsten gefärbte erstere, im festen Zustand gegen Sonnenlicht sehr empfindlich. Ihre Oberfläche entfärbt sich sehr bald; als grössere Mengen Cinnamylidenmalonsäure unter einer Glasglocke bei öfterem Umschaufeln dem directen starken Sonnenlicht ausgesetzt wurden, konnte die Säure im Sommer nach 14 Tagen bis 3 Wochen fast weiss erhalten werden."



Figure 1. Naturally occurring compounds dimers of cinnamic acid derivatives and of the corresponding heterocyclic derivatives.

152

June 2015



6 Figure 2. The cinnamyl derivative used by Lieberrmann.

He found also that a benzenic solution of furylacrylic acid under irradiation did not give a similar behavior showing only an isomerization reaction.¹¹ He found: "Es hat sich jetzt ergeben, dass die Umlagerung der in Benzol gelösten Allofurfurakrylsäure (Schmp. 103°) zu gewöhnlicher Furfurakrylsäure (Schmp. 141°) im directen Sonnenlicht thatsächlich erfolgt, aber doch so langsam, dass sie selbst nach 14 tägiger bis 4 wöchentlicher directer Belichtung im Frühjahr noch recht unvollständig ist."

In 1902, Riiber found the irradiation of **6** gave the corresponding dimer **7** (Scheme 3).¹² The product was identified converting it into the corresponding truxillic acid.



Scheme 3. The reaction of Riiber.

In the same year Kohler reported some results: "A solution of 20 grams of the acid, in the required amount of dilute sodium carbonate solution, is poured into an excess of dilute hydrochloric acid contained in a 3-liter balloon-flask and the liquid diluted to 2 liters.

The acid is thus obtained as an impalpable yellow powder which remains suspended in the liquid for a long time. The powder changes rapidly when the flask is exposed to the direct rays of the sun, and if the flask is shaken about once an hour the change is complete after exposure of twenty to thirty hours to bright summer sunlight. (...) The oxidation of the substance with potassium permanganate in alkaline solution gave essentially the same products as those obtained by Riiber. (...) The substance was identified as α -truxillic acid".¹³

In the same year Riiber reported that solid cinnamic acid, exposed to light, gave α-truxillic acid. He wrote: "Auf der Glasscheibe eines solchen Rahmens wurde die trockne, fein gepulverte Säure mittels eines feinen Siebes ganz gleichmässig vertheilt, und zwar in solcher Menge, dass ca. 1.5 g Säure auf jeden Quadratdecimeter kamen. Das Pulver wurde vorsichtig mit einem Bogen Glanzpapier bedeckt, die Glasscheibe in den Holzrahmen eingespannt und die Säure in die Sonne gestellt. Nach 3 1/2 Wochen Stehen, in welcher Zeit der Rahmen wegen wechselndem Wetter kaum mehr als 50 Stunden von der Sonne direct belichtet war, wurde die Säure untersucht."14 In the same year, Ciamician found that an alcoholic solution of cinnamic acid did not give any reaction.15 The same behavior was observed in ether and acetone.16 However, he found that cinnamic acid, suspended in paraldehyde gave the corresponding truxillic acid.¹⁵ He wrote:"4 g Zimmtsäure, in Paraldehyd suspendirt und theilweise auch darin gelöst, blieben vom 30. Mai 1901 bis October 1902 dem Sonnenlichte ausgesetzt. Nach der Belichtung enthielt das Rohr ein feines, weisses Pulver und darüber eine hellgelbe Lösung. Das von der Flüssigkeit getrennte weisse Pulver war reine α-Truxillsäure."

Some years later Ciamician proposed to perform the reaction on a suspension of cinnamic acid in water.^{17,18} He wrote: "Es wurden 40 g dieser Säure in 4 »5 Liter« haltenden Flaschen, deren jede 50 ccm Wasser enthielt und mit Saurestoff gefüllt war von Ende April bis Anfang November belichtet. Der Inhalt bestand nach dieser Zeit aus einer licht-gelb gefärbten Lösung, darin suspendiert Krystalle, hin und wieder bräunlich gefärbt. Durch Filtration getrennt, bestanden sie zum Teil aus der unverändert gebliebenen Säure, zum Teil aus α-Truxillsäure vom Schmp. 277-278°, deren Bildung sowohl wir als auch Riiber bei Belichtung von Zimtsäure schon beobachtet hatten." Cinnamic acid (8), irradiated in the solid state, gave the corresponding dimers depending on the crystal form of the starting material: the metastable β -form was reported to yield β -truxinic acid (9), while the stable α -form gave α -truxillic acid (10) (Scheme 4).¹⁹⁻²⁵ Recently, solid-state NMR analysis of this reaction has been performed.26

June 2015



Scheme 4. Photodimerization of cinnamic acid.

References

- 1. Novak, M.; Salemink, C. A.; Khan, I. Biological activity of the alkaloids of *Erythroxylum coca* and *Erythroxylum novogranatense*. J. *Ethnopharmacol.* **1984**, *10*, 261-274.
- 2. Liebermann, C. Ueber ein Nebenalkaloïn des Cocaïns, das Isatropylcocaïn. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1888, 21, 2342-2355.
- Kharkevich, D. A.; Skoldinov, A. P.; Samoilov, D. N.; Shorr, V. A. On the effects of anticholinergic agents on muscarinic receptors of different localization. *Adv. Behav. Biol.* 1981, 25, 351-365.
- Ford, C. W.; Hartley, R. D. GC/MS characterisation of cyclodimers from p-coumaric and ferulic acids by photodimerisation — a possible factor influencing cell wall biodegradability. J. Sci. Food Agric. 1989, 46, 301-310.
- Hartley, R. D.; Whatley, E. R.; Harris, P. J. 4,4'-Dihydroxytruxillic acid as a component of cell walls of *Lolium multiflorum*. *Phytochemistry* 1988, 27, 349-351.
- 6. Botta, M.; Corelli, F.; De Luca, C. Proceedings of Sino-Italian Symposium on Chemistry of Natural Products, Shanghai, **1991**, p. 114.
- 7. Walker, R. P.; Faulkner, D. J.; van Engen, D.; Clardy, J. Sceptrin, an antimicrobial agent from the sponge *Agelas sceptrum. J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1981**, *103*, 6772-6773.
- 8. Keifer, P. A.; Schwartz, R. E.; Koker, M. E. J.; Hughes, R. G.; Rittschof, D.; Rinehart, K. L. Bioactive bromopyrrole

metabolites from the Caribbean sponge Agelas conifera. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 2965-2975.

- 9. Rinehart, K. L. Biologically active marine natural products. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **1989**, *61*, 525-528.
- Liebermann, C. Ueber Cinnamylidenmalonsäure und die stereoisomeren Cinnamylidenessigsäuren (Phenylpentadiensäuren). Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1895, 28, 1438-1443.
- 11. Liebermann, C. Ueber die Umlagerung der Allofurfurakrylsäure und Allocinnamylidenessigsäure im Sonnenlicht. *Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges.* 1895, *28*, 1443-1448.
- Riiber, C. N. Die Synthese der α-Truxillsäure. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1902, 35, 2411-2415.
- 13. Kohler, E. P. The action of light on cinnamylidene malonic acid. *Am. Chem. J.* **1902**, *28*, 233-240.
- 14. Riiber, C. N. Das directe Ueberführen der Zimmtsäure in α-Truxillsäure. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1902, 35, 2908-2909.
- 15. Ciamician, G.; Silber, P. Chemische Lichtwirkungen. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1902, 35, 4128-4131.
- 16. Ciamician, G.; Silber, P. Chemische Lichtwirkungen. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1903, 36, 4266-4272.
- 17. Ciamician, G.; Silber, P. Chemische Lichtwirkungen. XXVI. Autooxydationen. IV. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1913, 46, 1558-1565.
- Ciamician, G.; Silber, P. Azioni chimiche della luce. R. Acc. Lincei, Rendiconti, Cl. Scienze Mat. e Fisiche, Serie 5, 1913, 22(I), 539-547.
- 19. Stobbe, H. Lichtreaktionen der Allo- und Isozimtsäuren. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1919, 52, 666–672.
- Stobbe, H.; Bremer, A. Zur Photochemie der Zimtsäuren, der Chalkone und ihrer Derivate. (II. Mitteilung Über Truxill- und Truxinketone). Mit 4 Figuren. J. Prakt. Chem. 1929, 123, 1–60.
- Cohen, M.D.; Schmidt, G.M. J.; Sonntag, F.I. Topochemistry. Part II. The photochemistry of trans-cinnamic acids. *J. Chem. Soc.* 1964, 2000–2013.
- 22. Schmidt, G.M.J. Topochemistry. Part III. The crystal chemistry of some trans-cinnamic acids. J. Chem. Soc. **1964**, 2014–2021.
- Bregman, J.; Osaki, K.; Schmidt, G.M.J.; Sonntag, F.I. Topochemistry. Part IV. The crystal chemistry of some ciscinnamic acids. J. Chem. Soc. 1964, 2021–2030.
- 24. Schmidt, G.M.J. Photodimerization in the solid state. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **1971**, *27*, 647–678.

- Nakanishi, F.; Nakanishi, H.; Tsuchiya, M.; Hasegawa, M. Water-Participation in the Crystalline-State Photodimerization of Cinnamic Acid Derivatives. A New Type of Organic Photoreaction. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1976**, *49*, 3096–3099.
- Khan, M.; Brunklaus, G.; Enkelmann, V.; Spiess, H.-W. Transient states in [2+2] photodimerization of cinnamic acid: Correlation of solid-state NMR and X-ray analysis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2008, *130*, 1741–1748.

EPA IS ON FACEBOOK

6/2/2014		(3) European Photochemistry Association	
		Silvia D'attria Mente	
	Carolan Photoch	2013	
	Association	CHINELY A MARKET CONTRACT CONTRACT	
Organizzazione European Photochemistry A	44 "Hi pace" " 4 ne panano	44	
Informazioni - Suggeris	uti una modifica	Foto Persone a cui place Video	
		In avidanta	
		an experiment	
Pubblica		Invita i tuoi amici a cificare su "Mi piace" su questa Mostra tutti Pagina	
		Digita il nome di un contatto	
European Photoch	emistry Association ha condiviso un link.	Gianmarco Donati	
		Alice Reccagni	
Jbe Optics and Nano Germany	spectroscopy	Jacopo Cerasani Invita	
		ann an	
1. Marian	Chat (disat	tivata) a vezvo: congress announcement:	
Home www.wonton2015.org The WONTON conference : understanding of photophy nanoscale system with emp	series focusses on advancing the vsical properties and the spectroscopy of shasis on carbon nanotubes and other	First amouncement of the 2015 International Workshop on Nanotube Optics and Nanospectroscopy (WORTON 15). The workshop will take place from 1 - 4, June 2015 at Barz Abbey, a former Benedictine Monastery in upper	
nanocarbon materials.		Franconia, Germany.	
Mi piace - Commenta - Condiv	nda	www.wonton2015.org.	
European Photoch 1 febbraio	remistry Association ha condiviso un Ink.	she Optics and Nanospectroscopy Germany	
Canadian Light Source synchrotron www.lightsource.ca The Canadian Light Source excellence in synchrotron s scientific community to pro	/ Centre Canadien de rayonnement is committed to being a world-leading centre of science and its applications by working with the mote the use of synchrotron light, promoting		
Mi piace - Commenta - Condiv	vidi	Home www.wonton2015.org	
European Photochemistr	y Association ha condiviso un Ink.	The WONTON conference series focusses on advancing the understanding of elocophysical properties and the spectroscopy of	
https://www.facebook.com/p	ages/European-Photochemistry-Assoc	ciation/568623339798749?fref=ts	1/2

join EPA on Facebook

158

BOOKS

Photochemistry and Photophysics - Concepts, Research, Applications

by V. Balzani, P. Ceroni, A. Juris

During the past two decades photochemistry has moved more and more from a fundamental discipline towards an applied science. Nowadays light is used as a tool in the most diverse fields, ranging from materials science to biologically motivated applications. These trends are often resumed in the term "photoscience". The authors of the herein reviewed book have shaped the field of photoscience in an influential manner. Therefore, and not only for their geographical situation (being based at the University of Bologna), they are rightful academic descendants of the famous Giacomo Luigi Ciamician, one of the founding fathers of organic photochemistry. This setting lifted my level of expectation when this book arrived on my desk, and I can already advance that I was not disappointed. But one after the other.

The book starts out with some informative chapters about elementary considerations of molecular orbital theory, how matter interacts with photons, thereby creating excited states and how these excited states can return to the ground state (photophysics) or perform chemically productive processes (photochemistry). Mathematical and quantum-chemical formalisms are kept to a necessary minimum, making these parts attractive for a wide and general readership. I teach in the Organic Chemistry curriculum at my University some brief introduction into photochemistry and found in the first chapters the required tools and language to address students that have a first contact with the field. In Chapter 3 "selected molecules" are presented and I was glad to encounter my all-time classics of photophysics and photochemistry among them, i.e., benzophenone, [Ru(bpy)3]2+, semiconductors. Personally I would also add C₆₀ fullerene to the list.

The book is very pleasant to read and the style is attractive to both the expert and the interested non-expert who plans on using light as a tool. Each chapter comes with its own bibliographic section offering a balanced mix of reviews and original research articles. Very helpful is the citation style which includes the article title and thereby allows the reader to see very fast if the reference is of general interest or likely to offer detailed primary data. The book is illustrated with informative figures which complete the text in a useful way.

During the last months I have inspected the book with a genuine curiosity. I went through the index and checked for the classics. For example: Kasha's rule. I found a hit and was informed correctly about the definition, implications, and the well-known example of azulene. The phenomenon was even nicely illustrated with photophysical data such as rate constants and quantum yields. On the chemical side I located easily the entry "Norrish photoreactions", but no Paternó-Büchi reaction or di- π -methane rearrangement, although both reactions are briefly discussed in Chapter 7. Maybe the index can be further completed in future editions. In general the Molecular Organic Photochemistry chapter (Chapter 7) is informative and provides a first overview which the interested reader can expand with other classical photochemistry textbooks.^[1] The "organic world" in Chapter 7 is complemented with Chapter 8 where the fundamental aspects of inorganic photochemistry and photophysics are treated. This underlines the universal utility of the book.

The unquestionable strength of the book is its orientation towards the application side of photochemistry. It gives a very competent introduction into diverse fields ranging from light-powered molecular devices and machines and artificial photosynthetic processes, to biorelevant implications of photochemical/photophysical process and technological applications (photochromism, solar cells, photopolymerization, etc.). The inclusion of a chapter on "Green (Photo)chemistry" is an interesting idea, especially nowadays where photocatalytic processes are in the focus of modern organic synthetic chemistry. All this is accompanied by a very useful and practical chapter on "Experimental Techniques". The last chapter of the book is entitled "Research Frontiers" and gives the reader a flavor of the current directions of photosciences. I think this is a nice inspiration and challenge for young scientists who wish to contribute to the future success of light-induced processes and phenomena. In some way it also connects again with G. Ciamician who predicted the future implications of photochemistry in his famous Science article " The Photochemistry of the Future" in 1912.^[1]

I recommend the Balzani-Ceroni-Juris book as a "must-have" textbook which really embodies the spirit of modern photoscience. From my own experience it is also a very appealing textbook for

teaching an introductory course on photochemistry, to be used by both lecturers and students. I hope it makes its way into many book shelves and libraries. It is not simply one more textbook on photochemistry but it complements usefully other books such as the "Turro" or better "Turro-Ramamurthy-Scaiano",^[1] the "Klán-Wirz",[3] the "Klessinger-Michl",[4] or the CRC Handbook on Photochemistry and Photobiology (edited by Griesbeck, Oelgemöller, and Ghetti)^[5] to name some prominent examples. Its style reminds me a lot of an older, now discontinued book by H. G. O. Becker which I fancy a lot and which unfortunately is only available in German ("Einführung in die Photochemie", 1991).^[6] I am glad to have now an up-to-date alternative that I can recommend to my students and colleagues.

> U. Pischel Center for Research in Sustainable Chemistry (ClQSO) Department of Chemical Engineering, Physical Chemistry, and Organic Chemistry University of Huelva Huelva Spain

[1] N. J. Turro, V. Ramamurthy, J. C. Scaiano, *Principles of Molecular Photochemistry*, University Science Books, Sausalito, **2009**.

[2] G. Ciamician, Science 1912, 36, 385-394.

[3] P. Klán, J. Wirz, *Photochemistry of Organic Compounds*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, **2009**.

[4] M. Klessinger, J. Michl, *Excited States and Photochemistry of Organic Molecules*, VCH, Weinheim, **1995**.

[5] A. Griesbeck, M. Oelgemöller, F. Ghetti (eds.), *CRC Handbook on Photochemistry and Photobiology*, CRC Press, Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, **2012**.

[6] H. G. O. Becker, *Einführung in die Photochemie*, Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, Berlin, **1991**.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

21st International Symposium on the Photochemistry and Photophysics of Coordination Compounds

Kraków, Poland July 5th-9th, 2015

We kindly invite you to the 21st International Symposium on the Photophysics and Photochemistry of Coordination Compounds. This is part of a biannual series of conferences which started in the 1970s. The last meetings of the series were held in Sapporo (Japan), Strasbourg (France) and Traverse City (USA). For the forthcoming symposium we will welcome you in Kraków – the Royal Capital of Poland.

The 21st ISPPCC will cover the following topics:

- photophysics
- light emitting molecular materials
- biosystems
- solar energy conversion and photocatalysis
- coordination photochemistry
- inorganic nanoparticles
- molecular-scale photonic devices

The conference will bring an opportunity of discussions and exchange of ideas for experienced researchers, graduate and undergraduate students.

Plenary lectures, oral communication and two poster sessions will present the cutting-edge problems of photochemistry and photophysics of inorganic systems.

Accessibility and accommodation

Kraków is easily accessible by plane. There is an international airport (www.krakowairport.pl) with several direct connections with

major European cities (Munich, Frankfurt, Paris, London, Berlin, Warsaw, Rome, Vienna and many others). The airport is localized 12 km from the city center. Kraków has also a good train connection with Warsaw (*ca.* 3 h) and bus connection with Katowice airport (*ca.* 1.5 h).

The city offers numerous hotels of various standards, giving a choice between luxurious and economic rooms. This flexibility of choice should enable participation of a broad society of photochemists and photophysicists (students, post-docs, professors). The list of hotels will be available at the conference's webpage. Furthermore, there will be a limited number of rooms in student dormitories accessible, at very affordable prices (*ca.* 15 \notin /night).

Early Registration until 31.03.2015 Abstract submission: 15.05.2015 Late Registration until 15.05.2015

e-mail: isppcc@chemia.uj.edu.pl homepage: isppcc2015.pl

163

Attention Early Career Photochemists

The Gordon Research Seminar on Photochemistry is approaching! The seminar is an opportunity for advanced graduate students and postdocs to give oral presentations, posters, and to network with their peers. The Seminar will take place July 18-19th 2015 at Stonehill College in Easton, Massachusetts, USA in conjunction with the Photochemistry Gordon Research Conference. The application deadline for oral presentations is April 30th, and for posters it is June 20th. For more information, and to apply, please visit the website: https://www.grc.org/programs.aspx?id=14809

Countdown to the XVI Congress of the European Society of Photobiology

September is approaching, and the Organising Committee is making the final arrangements for the XVI ESP Congress, which will commence on Monday evening 31st August and will end on Friday afternoon 4th September.

The exciting programme comprises 27 symposia distributed over four days of scientific schedule, which span the fields of photodermatology, molecular and cellular photobiology, phototechnology, environmental photobiology, photosensory biology, and photodynamic therapy. Each symposium features a minimum of 4 invited talks and a number of shorter communications selected amongst the submitted abstracts.

With the help of Doug Learn from Charles River Laboratories, a bespoke symposium on the theme Photobiology in Industry has been organised, to take place on the morning of the 1st September. This gives an overview of the manifold applications of photobiology in the industrial environment, and includes regulatory matters, research collaborations and insights to career pathways.

Alongside the traditional lecture delivered by the Young Investigator Awardee, the programme offers 7 Keynote lectures, which are scheduled independently to allow attendance from all delegates, as the first sessions of the morning or afternoon on 1st-4th September. A 2.5 hours poster session is scheduled for the 2nd September and includes a lunch-box to encourage conference delegates' attendance and lively discussions.

In keeping with past editions of the ESP congress, the Society offers travel fellowships to encourage attendance of PhD students and early career researchers. The closing date now having past, a record number of applications have been received, confirming our junior colleagues' eagerness to attend the meeting. The results of the applications will be announced shortly.

The Congress will be the opportunity to pay a tribute to our sorely missed friend and colleague Giulio Jori, who left us at the end of December 2014. The tribute will start with a Memorial presented

during the opening ceremony of the Congress, and will continue on Friday the 4th of September, with two sessions dedicated to Giulio: a morning Symposium on environmental PDT chaired by Amparo Faustino and Tim Maisch, and a series of short presentations in the afternoon by former students of Giulio's who pursued independent careers in photobiology, organised by Francesca Giuntini.

The OC does not forget that the ESP congresses are also a moment for members to enjoy each other's company on social as well as scientific fronts: our social programme features a welcome buffet post-registration on the 31st of August, and the gala dinner on the 3rd of September after the ESP General Assembly.

Abstract submission is open and will remain open until Wednesday the 20th of May. The OC is looking forward to receiving your contributions to make our XVI congress as successful as ever.

June 2015

TECHNICAL NOTE

The Future of Photochemistry

Vapourtec (Cambridge, UK) has recently launched the UV-150, a pioneering photochemical reactor that will lead to more efficient, precise, consistent, safe and scalable photochemical synthesis offering potential routes for novel compounds and building blocks together with possible new manufacturing processes.

166

Two years in development, the plug and play reactor offers a wide range of features that makes it an industry first. With no intensive set up required, it is unique within the field of flow chemistry and is designed to complement Vapourtec's existing R-Series and E-Series flow chemistry systems used in hundreds of laboratories around the world.

The UV-150 allows for safe access to photo chemistry processes that hasn't existed before due to the unique design of the 150 Watt lamp, filters and reactors that deliver enhanced power, analytics and temperature control. The reactor, around 10% of the volume of other reactors that offer similar throughput, operates between -5° and 80°C.

According to Vapourtec Managing Director Duncan Guthrie, the new reactor could have a dramatic impact on the potential of photochemistry within continuous flow processing: "The UV-150 is a truly unique innovation that gives chemists the opportunity to develop 'reagent less' and scalable manufacturing of new and existing compounds and is a far more efficient alternative to traditional batch chemistry approaches.

"Current green photochemistry processes can be hazardous due to the lack of control and scalability inherent within traditional batch systems. The plug and play nature of the continuous processing UV-150 makes it easy to use with a small dedicated power supply and a patented cooling system delivering additional advantages. "There is real physics behind the UV-150 with a compact high intensity 150 watt lamp, temperature control, wavelength filtering and reflective surfaces all designed to ensure that the photons emitted by the lamp are efficiently absorbed by the reagents. Provision has even been made for mounting an optional spectrometer, this feature allows the absorption by the reagents to be monitored in real time which is yet another unique feature.

"Artemisinin, currently the most effective treatment against malaria, is a perfect example of what can be achieved using photochemistry within a continuous flow synthesis.

"In late 2011 Professor Dr Seeberger and Dr Levesque of the Max Planck Institute reported on a continuous flow conversion of dihydroartemisinic acid, extracted from sweet wormwood (Artemisia annua), into artemisinin with a continuous photochemical transformation central to the reaction.

"There is currently nothing as efficient and easy-to-use as this reactor available in the field of flow chemistry and we are convinced that it will play a pivotal role in many chemical and pharmaceutical breakthroughs in the future.

"Despite still being an underutilised technique, there is growing interest in photochemistry and this is a perfect fit for industry requirements. This is the biggest innovation we have developed so far and there is genuine interest and application within many fields including academic research, pharma, environmental and industrial chemistry," added Duncan Guthrie of Vapourtec.

Vapourtec design and manufacture flow chemistry systems for a wide variety of sectors across the globe including education, pharmaceutical and industry and their technology has been cited as playing a pivotal part in recent major research breakthroughs.

Established in 2003, Vapourtec has developed a flourishing international market for its technology with sales across much of the developed world including USA, China, Japan, Singapore and India.

168

June 2015

For more details visit: www.vapourtec.co.uk/products/photochemicalreactor

Rob Wilkinson (Account Director)

PUBLIC RELATIONS CONSULTANCY : MEDIA RELATIONS TRAINING : EDITING & COPYWRITING SERVICES

TEL: 01842 827044 / 079099 16770

E-mail: rob@getpromotion.co.uk

Web: www.getpromotion.co.uk

Facebook: <u>www.facebook.com/pages/PRomotion</u> FOLLOW ON TWITTER @GETPROMOTIONPR

June 2015

PHOTOCHEMICAL AND PHOTOBIOLOGICAL SCIENCES



170

CONFERENCE REPORTS

Italian Photochemistry Meeting 2014

The *Italian Photochemistry Meeting*, traditionally jointly organized every year by the Italian Section of EPA in collaboration with the Interdivisional Photochemistry Group of the Italian Chemical Society (SCI), was held in Cascina Caremma, Abbiategrasso, close to Milano, from November 27th to November 29th, 2014. For the first time, the meeting was co-organized by the Interdivisional Catalysis Group of SCI, coordinated by Rinaldo Psaro (CNR, Milano). Aim of the organizing committee was to provide an opportunity for all Italian scientists working in the field to get in contact, exchange ideas and discuss about photochemistry, photophysics and photocatalysis.

This undoubtedly contributed to the success of the conference and led to a remarkable increase of the number of attendants with respect to previous Italian Photochemistry meetings. The active participants, mainly young scientists working in the field, were more than 100 and contributed with 34 oral communications and 32 poster presentations. The meeting was organized in four sessions focusing on specific topics and each session was preceded by an invited plenary lecture.

The conference was opened by Alberto Diaspro (Italian Institute of Technology, Genoa) who delivered a lecture on three-dimensional fluorescence optical microscopy, an applicative field which had a tremendous development in recent years, as testified also by the 2014 Nobel Prize in Chemistry awarded to E. Betzig, S.W. Hell e W.E. Moerner. In his lecture, entitled *3D Optical Nanoscopy: How the Photoproperties of Fluorescent Molecules Allow to Circumvent the Diffraction Barrier*, Alberto Diaspro presented a fascinating overview on the incredible recent advances in this hot topic, where confocal and multi-photon approaches pushed the optical sectioning ability of getting 3D information to 3D imaging of thick specimens, including organs and tissues, thanks to the understanding and exploiting of the photoproperties of the fluorescent labels being used.

Carlo Alberto Bignozzi (University of Ferrara) presented the opening lecture of the session devoted to homogeneous and

heterogeneous photocatalysis. In his lecture on *Molecular Assemblies* and Nanostructured Semiconductors for Photoinduced Water Splitting he outlined the unique advantages that nanostructured materials offer in terms of electroactive surfaces and short hole diffusion path for photoinduced water splitting applications. In particular, he focused on devices based on the coupling between low band gap semiconductors, such as CdS and CdSe, and wide band gap metal oxides, as well as on triple junction photovoltaic cells functionalized with oxygen evolving amorphous iron oxide catalysts.

Visual perception is one of the most fascinating processes devised by nature. In his plenary lecture entitled *Photoinduced Dynamics in Visual Rhodopsin: a Computational Insight* Marco Garavelli (University of Bologna) compared the photophysical and photochemical behavior of retinal chromophores in visual rhodopsins, providing a review of the latest achievements obtained in this field by computational approaches, also in modeling time-resolved bi-dimensional electronic spectroscopy of the primary event of vision.

The last session of the meeting, devoted to artificial antenna systems for solar energy harvesting and conversion, was opened by the plenary lecture of Andrea Sartorel (University of Padova) on *Light Driven Water Oxidation Catalysis for Artificial Photosynthesis.* The recent development of suitable catalysts for water oxidation to dioxygen, which is now recognized as the bottleneck for the construction of an efficient device for water splitting, has been outlined, with specific emphasis to transition metal-based molecular catalysts , in particular cobalt complexes, mimicking the natural machinery of the photosystem II enzyme.

The meeting was characterized by very lively discussions following all oral presentations, which have been mainly delivered by PhD students and post-docs. The prize for the best talk of a young scientist, consisting this year in a copy of the book *Photochemistry and Photophysics*, recently written by Vincenzo Balzani, Paola Ceroni and Alberto Juris, was won by Andrea Cantelli (University of Bologna).

To the success of the *Italian Photochemistry Meeting 2014* also contributed the warm and friendly atmosphere established among the participants thanks to the peculiar location of Cascina Caremma, a rural farm immersed in the rice fields of the *pianura padana* landscape, renowned for the excellent food, typical of this area. As organizers of the conference, we are confident of having provided a useful

172

June 2015

opportunity to demonstrate how advanced and lively is in Italy the research in photochemistry, photophysics and photocatalysis and to enlighten, once more, the potentialities that investigations in this extremely exciting field have toward a wide range of applications for a sustainable development of our society.

Elena Selli University of Milano President (2012-2014) of the Italian Photochemistry Group, Italian section of EPA



A photograph of the participants to the meeting.

June 2015



The (very crowded) conference room.



The meeting organizers.

June 2015



Marco Montalti and a local pig.

MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION FORM



EUROPEAN PHOTOCHEMISTRY ASSOCIATION 2015 MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL/APPLICATION FORM

Please complete the form and send it to the Treasurer by mail or fax (do not use e-mail for security reasons!): Dr. Alexandre Fürsthenberg Department of Human Protein Sciences, University of Geneva CMU, Rue Michel-Servet 1, 1211 Genève 4, Switzerland (Fax +1 22 379 55 02)

l wish to renew/apply for membership of the European Photochemistry Association (EPA)
Family name: First name: Middle initial(s):

Family name: First name: Date of birth (dd/mm/yyyy):

If you are applying for a new membership or if your contact details have changed, please fill in the following section: Address: (Please use your institutional address)

Tel: Fax: Email:

 Membership fees for 2015 in EUR
 (please check one box)

 The membership fee includes electronic subscription to the EPA official journal

 Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences, the EPA Newsletter and reduced conference fees.

	1 year	3 years	5 years
regular	□ 35 EUR	□ 100 EUR	□ 150 EUR
student*	15 EUR	30 EUR	

 * please supply attestation
 * please supply attestation

 For non-EU countries with economic difficulties, a reduced fee can exceptionally be applied on request (only upon written approval by the Treasurer).

<u>Alternative methods of Payment</u> (please fill in either 1. or 2.)

1.	Credit card. Please fill in the details below (<u>all details compulsory</u>). I, the undersigned, authorise the European Photochemistry Association to debit my credit card:					
	□ MasterCard	🗖 Visa				
	Card number Amount of EUR in words:	Expiry date:	For the sum of	f EUR		
	Name of card holder:	Signature of card holder:				
	Security code: $___$ (this code corresponds to the last three	ack of your credit c	ard)			
2.	Bank order to UBS AG, Roemerhofplatz 5, P.O. Box 38, CH-8030 Zürich, BIC (Swift): UBSWCHZH80A Account holder: European Photochemistry Association, c/o Dr. Alexandre Fürstenberg, 1211 Genève IBAN: CH27 0025 1251 8404 5260 C					
	I herewith certify that I effected a bank transfer on to cover the EPA membership fee for the year(s) 2015 -	(fill in date) for the s	sum of El	UR		
	Please ensure that you are clearly identified on the bank order.					